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For more than 18 years, MRV Communications has
been supplying leading edge network equipment to
telecommunications cariers, service providers and
enterprise customers worldwide. MRV has also been
providing data center management and control solutions
1o enterprise customers, as well as providing real time
data acquisition and control solutions for asrospace
and defense programs. MRV also provides additional
services such as netwark integration and distribution of

networking esquipment.

With a strong "optical heritage” in both components
and systems, MRV has been cradited with significant
technolegical innovations i networking  technology
and optical systems. These include, but are not limited
to: the first 10/100 auto-negotiating Ethemet switch,
the first Gigabit Ethemet optical link to span 75km
and the first Metro Eihernet network deployment.
Most recently, the first DWDM SFP transceivers

with transmission distances up 1o 200km, the first

10 GBps DWDM/CWDM XFPR transceivers to transmit
up 1o 120km and the industry's first High Definition

301 SFP transceivers,

MRV established Luminent as an independent,

whally-owned subsidiary, which designs,

mandfactures and sells high-end  metropalitan
and access transceivers and optical transmission
platforms for fiber-to-the-home (*FTTH") and fiber-to-
the-premises ("FTTP") applications. MRV's heritage of
building optical components and camier-class optical
systerns provides us a level of expertise unique in
the market place. Luminent is a world class leadar in
FTTH/ATTP components, with the number one market

share in North America.

MRV has a global presence with more than 1,400
empioyees in six research and development and
manufacturing centers, and more than 50 sales

offices in 23 countries.
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F!evenu_e {in m'i-lliOf‘IS of dollars) Gross-aProﬁt in ?nil!ions 0;3 dollars) Nel Loss (in mions of ciliars] Loss Per Share (n dollars)
(Dollars in millions, except per share amounts) Years ended December 31, 2006 2005 2004
Staternent of Operations Data:
Revenue $ 3565 § 2837 % 2n7
Non-GAAP Gross profit 1! 112.6 89.7 N8
Cost of goods sold: share-based compensation expense 0 0.3) - -
GAAP CGross profit 112.3 89.7 91.8
Non-GAAR Operating costs and expense ™ 112.6 98.3 98.8
Share-based compensation expense 31 0.2 0.2
Impaiment of goocwill and other intangibleg QA - -
GAAP Operating costs and expenses 115.8 98.5 99.0
Non-GAAP Net loss ™ 2.0) (16.1) {10.5)
Cost of goods soid 0.3 - -
QOperating costs and expensegs (3.2) 0.2) 0.2)
GAAP Net loss 5.5) (16.3) (10.7)
GAAP Net loss per share - basic and diuted $ 0o % 016 % 0.10)
Non-GAAP Net loss per share - basic and diuted @ $ 0.02) % 015 $ 010
(Dollars in millions) At December 31, 2006 20056 2004
Balance Shest Data:
Cash and cash equivalents $ 917 ¢ 680 $ 77.2
Working capital 172.6 99.5 114.0
Tota! assets 346.2 265.2 279.9
Total long-temm lakiliies 30.3 29.7 28.7
Stockholders’ equity 193.8 117.0 1433

{1} In agdition to reporting financial resdlts in agcordance with accounting principles generglly accepted in the Lnited States, or GAAR, MRY reports non-GAAP financial results. Non-GAAP ret foss
per shara excludes share-based compensation expenss (including amertzation of deferred stock compensatian) and imparments of goocwil and other intangitles MRV's managemsnt be aves
thase non-GAAP measures are useful 1o investors because they prowvide supplamental information that facilitates compansons to prior pericds. Managsment uses thase non-GAAP measues o
evoluate the Company's financial results, develop budgets, and manage expenditures The cgloulations MRY uses to produce non-GAAP results are not in accordance with GAAP, are lkely to
differ from the mathads used by other companies, and should not be regardad as a replacement for cormeeponding GAAP measures Investors are encouraged to review the reconciliabon of these
non-GAAP financial measures o the comparable GAAR results, which can be found in our earnings press relenses, Ivestor presentations. and on our websita at www. mrv com
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Responsibiiity for the intogrity and objectivity of the financial
information rests with MRV's management. Management
has always assumed full accountability for maimaining
compliance with our established financial accounting
patcies and far raporting our results with objectivity and the
highest degree of integrity. Itis critical for investors and other
users of the financial statements te have confidence that the
financial information we provids is imely, complets, relevant
and accurata. The accompanying financial staternants have
been prepared in accordance with accounting principles
generally accepted in the United States ("GAAP"), applying

certain estimates and judgmants as required.

Management, with oversight from MRV's Board of Directors,
has established and maintains a strong ethical climate so
that our affars are conducted to the highest standards
of personal and corporate conduct, Althcugh because
of inherent limitations, no system can provide absolute
assurarce of achieving financial reporting objectives, wea
belteve that management has establishaed an effective
systam of internal contrel that provides reasonable assurance
as to the integrity and accuracy of the financial statements.
MRV's policies and practices reflact corporate governance
iniiatives that are compliant with the kisting requirements of
NASDAQ and the corporate governance reguirements of

the Sarbanss-Oxley Act of 2002, including:

* Qur Board has adopted clear corporate govemance policies;

* A majority of cur Board members ara independent of MRY

and its managemant;

s Allmembers of our key Board comentiaes - the Audit
Committes, the Compensation Commities, and the

Nomination and Governance Committes -- are independent;

* The indepsendsnt members of cur Board meet regularly in

execulive sassion without the presence of managermant,

* We have a clear code of business conduct and corporate

governance,

* The charters of cur Board committees clearly establish their

respeciive roles and responsibiitios,

* We have a hotline available to all employees, and our Audit
Committee has procedures in place for the ancnymous
submission of employes complants on accounting, internal

controls or auditing matters;

* Wa have established a process by which stockholders and

other interested parties may communicate with members of

our Board of Directors;

* Wa have adopted a policy to try to ensure that equity-based
awards 1o cur employees and directors are made only at
times, and at prices, when all matenial inform.ation has been

disserninated to our stockholders; and

* Wo have adopted a coda of athics that apphies 1o our
principal executive officers and ali members of our nance

department, including the principal financial officer and

principal accounting officer

Emst & Young LLP, an independant ragistered public
accounting frm, reports directly to the Audit Committes
cf the Board of Diracters. Ernst & Young LLP is retained
o audit MRV's consolidated financial statements and
management's assessment of the effactiveness of MRV's
internal controls over financial reporting. Its reports
included in the accompanying Annual Report on Form
10-K filed with the Securites and Exchange Cormmission
2re based on audits conducted in accordance with the
glandards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight

Beard (United States).

We are committed to improving sharehalder value and
fully understand and embrace our fiduciary oversight
rasponsibilities. We are dedicated to ensuring that our high
standards of financial standards ¢f fnancial accounting
end reporting as well as our underlying system of internal
controls are maintained. Our culture demands integrity
and wa have the highast confidence in our processes, our
internal controls, and our people, who are objective in their
rasponsibiiities and who operate under the highest level of

ethical standards.

A

Noam Lotan

Frasident and Chief Executve Officer

Kevin Rubin

(Chief Financial Officer

Stiement of Rospersc




Technical
Innovations,
Outstanding
Products and a
Willingness to Go
nl the Extra Mile.
This is What
Customers and
Partners Have
Come to Expect
and Appreciate
From MRV.

-Noam Lotan,
Presdent and Ch:ef Executve Officer
MRV Communications. Inc




lamvery pleased to report 2006 was a very successiul
year for MRV as we grew our business significantly,
achieved profitability in the second half of the year
and continued to penetrate and gain share in the
growth markets that we address. Our company is well
positioned to take advantage of key emerging industry
trends such as increased adoption of Metro Ethernet
in North America and the need for carriers and MSOs
o upgrade their networks in order to deliver triple-
play services 10 businesses and consumers alike,
In 20086, our consolidated revenue increased 26%
versus the prior year and we achisved profitability
in the third and fourth quarters. Our three business
areas; Network Equipment, Network Integration and
Optical Components posted impressive results and
each business segment executed on the goals we

had set out for at the beginning of the year.

OPTICAL COMPONENTS

Luminent, our Optical Components division, was the
clear growth engine increasing full year revenues 85%
from the prior year. Prefitability trends also improved
significantly as t.uminent posted 19% gross margin
for the full year 2006, an 11% improvement from
the prior year. Growth at Luminent continued to be
driven by sales of our integrated BPON Triplexer being
used in Verizon's FIOS Fiberto-the-Home (FTTH?)
deployment. We recentty announced that we had
shipped our 1 millionth unit in this product line. Verizon
has indicated that it remains committed to passing
roughly 3 milion homes per year over the next four
years, which projects to 18 million homes by year-
end 2010, and at this point expects to reach 35%-
40% penetration levels, or between 6 million and 7

million customers. Clearly this continues to present

a significant fong-term opportunity for Luminent. In

addition to domastic build outs, FTTH deployments are
accelerating in Europe and the Middle East which are
primarily using next generation GPON technology. We
are already taking advantage of these depioyments,
shipping more than 100,000 of our next generation
GPON Integrated Triplexers, which establishes us as
{he clear volume leader in this category. Importantly,
GPCN is expected to be deployed more aggressively
in North America during the second half of 2007

which should also spur further growth,

Quiside of FTTH, Luminent saw good growth from
cales of its melro transceiver ling to leading OEMs
guch as Redback and Ciena. It also introducad a new
10 GBps XFP transceiver ideal for the fast growing
rnarket for 10 GBps Ethernat applications. In addition,
further enhancing Luminent's product portfolio is our
January 2007 announced definitive agreement
to acquire Fiberxon, Inc, an optical component
manufacturer with its product development and
manufacturing faciiities in Shenzhen and Chengdu,
China. When completed, this acguisition should
bolster our strong FTTH presance with EPON and
(GPON transceivers and also add an established
suite of products addressing the growing 10 GBps
ransceivers market. The combined company is
expected o address the objectives of our customers
ior a brcader range of advanced solutions at
compelitive prices. it is also expected to increase
cusiomer diversification by giving us exposure to large
Asian service providers. The acquisii on is expected
1o close in the second quarter of 2007, and we fee!
going forward Luminent will be even better positicned
‘or some of the fastest growing segmenis in the

‘ber-optic industry.

Fresderts i et



NETWORKING EQUIPMENT

During 2006 we executed on our goal to expand our
sales force in order to increase the presence of our
higher rargin internally developed Network Equipment
products in North America.  Qur results for the year
show that our strategy is working well as our Network
Equipment sates were up 17% year-over-year. Growth
continues to be driven by our products that address
the Metro Ethernet market, A recent study from
Infonetics research indicates it is growing from just
under $5 bhilien in 2005 to over $15 bilion in 2009,
which represents a 33% compounded growth rate -
clearly a huge opportunity for us.  We saw particular
strength in this area from shipments of our Lambda
Driver and Fiber Driver product lines which together
grew 60% year-over-year. Standout customers for the
year for these products included fast growing emerging
carriers such as Limelight Networks and Xspedius, a

Time Warner Telecorn subsidiary.

In addition to the large Metro Ethernet opportunity,
other growth drivers for MRV include data centers
and lab infrastructure, Including hosting, co-location
centers and ASPs which present a strong opportunity
for both optical netwerking and data  cenler
management and control product fines. We are also
making prograss with mobile operators around the
world with applications ranging from fiber-optic service
extension for traffic back-haul, 1o WDM appfications, to
fiber-optic network monitoring. We had muitiple wins in
this segment during 2008 highlighted by a large crder
from a Japanese operator in the third guarter. In terms
of geography, we see further growth opportunitias in
North America, Japan, Korea and in South Armerica.
Going forward, we will continue to drive for betier
market share in Network Equipment, especialy in
areas where we have besi-of-breed solutions, a

heatthy gross margin and an impressive track record,

NETWORK INTEGRATION

Cur Network Integration business in Zurops had
a solid year growing revenue 1% from the prior
year and importantly this business continues 10 be
profitable and produces good operating income for
MRV. The Neiwork [niegration operations feature
over 340 employees that offer both MRV and
third party products and services across Europe.
These operations give us good exposure to
Tier 1 operators in Europe and also enhance MRV's
brang recognition in the region. Operators such as
France Telecom, Telia Sonera and Portugal Telecom
are using MRV equipment to support bundreds of
thousands of customers and we are working hard to

increase our share as new networks are baeing built

out across the European continent.




FUTURE SUCCESS

While we are clearly focused on growth, our full
year 2006 results also demonstrate leverage in our
model. We were able to grow revenue and gross
profit at a faster rate than our operating expenses
and for the year we significantly improved our boitormn
fine. Going forward we want to continue to reduce
oparating expenses as a percent of revenue which
should further improve our profitability trends. During
the year we alsc strengthened our balance sheet with
a $70 million private placement offering. These net
proceeds will be instrumental in our future succass

as we plan to continue to invest in our growth.

Qur success in 2008 and the growth markets that
we address make us very optimistic about the future
of MRV. We will remain focused on our strategy and
look forward to capitalizing on these opporiunities.
I'd like to offer my sincere thanks to our customers,
employees, suppliers, directors, advisors, partners
and shareholders for their tremendous ongoing
support during the past year. We look forward to

updating you on our progress in the coming year,

Respectiully submitted,

A

Noam Lotan

President and Chief Executive Officer

N

esderty oo



. OTHER STOCKHOLDER INFORMATION

by VY




DIRECTORS AND OFFICERS

Directors
Shlomo Margalit, Ph.D. ®
Chairman of the Board, Chief Technical Officer

and Secretary, MRV Communications, Inc.

Noam Lotan®
President and Chief Executive Officer,

MRV Communications, Inc.

Igal Shidlovsky, Ph.D, 299
Managing Director, Global Technologies

Guenter Jaensch, Ph.D, @3@
Chairman of the Board, Biophan Technologies, Inc.
and Clearly Medical Cerp., Inc.

Daniel Tsui, Ph.D, @3#
Arthur Le Grand Dotty Professor of Electrical
Engineering, Princeton University

1998 Nobal Prize Laureate, Physics

Baruch Fischer, Ph.D. @
Max Knoll Professor of Electro Optics
and Electronics
Professor of Electrical Engineering, Technion,

Israel Institute of Technology

Harold Furchtgott-Roth, Ph.D.
President, Furchtgoit-Roth Economic Enterprises
Former Commissionar of the Federal

Communications Commission

(1) Lead indepeandant director

(2) Membar of the Compensation Gommittee

{3) Member of the Nemination and Governance Committee
{4} Member of the Audit Committee

{S) Member of iha Exscutive Commities

13

Executive Officers
Shlomo Margalit, Ph.D.
Chief Technical Officer and Secretary

Moam Lotan

Fresident and Chief Executive Cfficer

Kevin Rubin

Chief Financial Officer and Compliance Cfiicer

Mear Margalit, Ph.D.

Chief Executive Officer, Luminent, Inc.

Michael Blust

Vice President of Finance

der riormy!

W

LK

Chrer St




PERFORMANCE GRAPH

The chari below compares the five-year cumulative total return, assuming the reirvestment of dividends, on
MRAV's commeon stock with that of the Nasdag Stock Market - U.S. Companies Index and the S&P Small Cap
Information Technology Index. This graph asst:mes $100 was invested on December 31, 2001, in each of MRV
common stock, the U.S. companies in the Nasdaq Stock Market index and the companies in the S8P Small

Cap Information Technology Index.

Note: MRV management cautions that the stock price periormance shown in the graph below should not be

considered indicative of potential future stock price performance.

COMIPARISON OF 5-YEAR CUNMULATIVE TOTAL RETURN
Among MRV Communications, inc., the Nasdag Stock Market — U.S. Companies Index and the S8F Small
Cap Information Technology Index
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Cumulative Total Return
12/31/2001  12/31/2002  12/31/2003  12/31/2004 12/31/2005 12/31/2006
MRY Communications $100.00 $25.24 $88.68 $86.56 $48.35 $3349
Nasdaq Stock Markat (US Gompanies) $100.00 $60.13 $103.36 $112.49 $114.88 Fiz6.22
S&P Small Cap Information Technology $10000 $63.60 $G7.86 $104.39 10417 $114.00
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ast 90 days. Yes No O

ndicate by a check mark if disclosure of delinquent filers pursuant to ltem 405 of Regulation S-K is not contained herein, and will not be contained to the best
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orm 10-K.

ndicate by check mark whether the Registrant is a shell company (as defined in Rule |2b-2 of the Act). Yes O No
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Except where the context otherwise requires, for purposes of this
Report:

“we," "us” "our company,” “our,” the "Company' and "MRV" refer 1o
MRV Communications, In¢, and its consolidated subsidiaries.

“shares” or “common stock” refers to our Common Stock,
$00017 par value;

“China" or "PRC" refers to the People’s Republic of China, excluding
Taiwan, Hong Kong and Macao;

"Taiwan”" refers to the Republic of China;

"Fiberxon” refers to Fiberxon, Inc, a Delaware corporation, a
company with which we have signed a definitive agreement to
acquire and which acquisition is expected 1o close after this
Report is filed, and i#ts consolidated subsidiaries; and

all references to “Renminbi,” “RMB"” or "yuan" are to the legal
currency of China.

USE OF FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

This Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31,
2006, (the "Form 10K} contains certain ‘“forward-looking
statements” within the meaning of Section 27A of the Securities
Act of 1933, as amended (the “Securities Act”), and Section 2| E of
the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the “Exchange
Act”). Forward-looking statements are statements other than
historical information or staterments of current condition and celate
to future events or the future financial performance of the Company.
Some forward-looking statements may be identified by use of such
terms as “expects” “anticipates,” “intends,” “estimates,” “believes”
and words of similar import. These forward-looking statements relate
to plans, objectives and expectations for future operations or events.
In light of the risks and uncertainties inherent whenever matters or
events expected to occur or not occur in the future are discussed,
there can be no assurance that the forward-looking information
contained in this Form 10-K will in fact transpire or prove to be
accurate, All subsequent written and oral forward-looking staternents
attributable to us or persons acting on our behalf are expressly
qualified in their entirety by this introduction.

In light of the risks and uncertainties in all such projected operational
matters, the inclusion of forward-looking statements in this Form 10-K
should not be regarded as a representation by the Company or any
other person that the objectives or plans of the Company will be
achieved or that any of the Company's operating expectations will be
realized. Revenues and results of operations are difficult to forecast
and could differ materially from those projected in the forward-
tooking statements contained in this Form 10-K for the reasons
detailed in the “Risk Factors” section of this Form [0-K, beginning
on page |2 or elsewhere in this Form |10-K. Readers should not place
undue reliance on forward-looking statements, which reflect
management’s view only as of the date of this Form 10-K. The
Company undertakes no obligation to amend this Report or

Phe i M M e VYl AT I g SRRl T B A I e
pursuant to requirements imposed on registrants pursuant to
ltem | A under Part il of Form 10-Q}) to reflect subsequent events
or circumnstances. Readers should also carefully review the risk factors
described in other documents the Company files from time to time
with the Securities and Exchange Commission, particularly the
Company's Quarterly Reports on Form 10-Q, and the cauticnary
statements contzined in the press releases MRV makes from
time-to-time when it provides forward-looking information.

PART |
ITEM 1. BUSINESS

Overview

We design, manufacture, sell, distribute, integrate and support
communication equipment and services, and optical components.
We conduct our business along three principal segments: (1) the
networking group, (2) the optical components group and (3) the
development stage enterprise group. Our netwarking group provides
equipment used by commercial customers, governmerits and
telecommunications service providers, and includes switches,
routers, physical layer products and console management products
as well as specialized networking products for aerospace, defense and
other applications including voice and cellular communication. Cur
optical compenents group designs, manufactures and sells optical
communications components, primarily through our wholly-owned
subsidiary Luminent, Inc. These components include fiber optic
transceivers for metropolitan and access applications, and for
several different optical fiber architectures that can be grouped
under the category “fiber to the x." more commonly referred to
as FTTX. Qur development stage enterprise group seeks to develop
new products for the management of data center and enterprise
network: infrastructure.

We market and sell our products worldwide, through a variety of
channels, which include a dedicated direct sales force, manufacturers’
representatives, value-added-resellers, distributors and systems
integrators. We have operations in turope that provide network
system design, integration and distribution services that include
products manufactured by third-party vendors, as well as our
products. We believe such specialization enhances access to
customers and allows us to penetrate targeted vertical and
regional markets,

In January 2006, we entered into a definitive agreement to acquire
Fiberxon, a PRC-based supplier of transceivers for applications in
metropolitan networks, access networks and passive optical
networks, ar PONs, for approximately $13t million in cash and
stock. That acquisition is pending and is discussed further below:

We were organized in July 1988 as MRV Technologies, Inc., a
California corporation and reincorporated in Delaware in April
1992, at which time we changed our name to MRV
Communications, Inc.

MRV Communications, In.c Annual Report 2007
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Over the past decade, businesses, governments, educational
institutions and other organizations have become increasingly
refiant on communications networks and software apolications as
critical strategic assets. With the proliferation of Internet access to
consumer households, communications networks have been
expanded to deliver new services providing both internal and
external connectivity. Productivity gains obtained by investments in
network infrastructure have fueled the growth of the global economy.
increased demands for capacity in network infrastructure have
resuted in greater bandwidth requirements and increased
deployment of optical components and optical networks.

In the late 1990’ and through 2000, our customers deployed a large
volume of networking equipment in anticipation of high network
traffic growth. During this period, we experienced a pericd of rapid
revenue growth. Subsequent to 2000 the global economy entered a
recessionary pericd and the demand for infarmation technology
products declined as telecommunications carriers and service
providers, enterprise customers and governments reduced
spending on technology. In particular these enterprises cut their
IT budgets for netwarking equipment and optical components due
to overcapacity as the anticipated increase in network growth in
the years 2002 through 2003 did not materialize. We believe this
phenomenon adversely affected demand for our products and made
it more difficult to accurately forecast demand for network
equipment and optical components. In 2004, we began to see
evidence of strengthening demand for our products, indicating
that the trend of decreased technology spending in our market
segments may have bottorned. This trend of increased demand
continued into 2005 and 2006. In 2006, our revenues increased
each quarter over 2005 levels and total revenue in 2006 increased
26% compared to 2005.

Markats Served

" We primarily serve the following markets:

Telecommunications ~ Service  Providers. Our  telecommunications
service provider customer base includes regional, national and
international telecommurications carriers, both wire-line and
wireless, Telecommunications service providers are under increasing
competitive pressure, primarily from emerging competitors that offer
similar services at competitive prices. Our products and services enable
both established and emerging telecommunications service providers
1o transition their legacy or existing netwark infrastructures to deliver a
broader mix of higher bandwidth services to consumers and
enterprises. We provide products that enable telecommunications
service providers to support consumer demand for video delivery,
broadband data and video and wireless broadband services. VWe
also offer subsystem-level optical components that aliow
telecommunications service providers to provide fiber-to-the-home
and fiberto-the-premise services. Our optical ‘components enable
telecommunications providers, both domestic and international, to
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Internet access to their end customers.

Cable OperatorsiMultiservice Operators (“M30s”).  Our customers
include leading cable and multiservice operators in the U.5, and
internationally. These MSO customers rely upon us for carrier
grade, optical Ethermet transpart and switching equipment. Our
networking products allow our cable cperator customers to
integrate voice, video and data applications over a converged “IP”
infrastructure. This enables our customers to grow bandwidth
capacity and lower the operational expense of supporting
disparate networks. By enabling this network convergence, cable
operators can expand their end user offerings to include high-
value service bundles. Our products support key cable applications
including broadcast video, voice over IP video on demand, broadband
data services and services for enterprises.

Enterprise.  Qur enterprise customers inciude small to large
commercial organizations from every industry with computer
technology requirements, including end users in the healthcare,
financial, retail, industrial, and technology industries. We offer
equipment and services focused on key enterprise applications
including data center connectivity, wide area network
consolidation, and storage extension for business continuance and
disaster recovery. Qur products enable intersite connectivity
between data centers, sales offices, manufacturing plants, and
research using private fiber
infrastructure or over external service provider networks. We
also enable our enterprise customers to meet increasing dernand
for high availability. globalization, and the spread of Information
Technology (1T") to distrbuted branches, by preventing
unexpected downtime and ensuring the safety, security and
availability of their IT infrastructure. :

and development centers,

Government.  Our government customers include federal, state and
local agencies in the US. and abroad. Our customers also include
domestic and international defense agencies, public administrations
and municipalities. We also offer networking products specifically

designed for aerospace and defense networks, which enable these )
customers to apply real-time data acquisition and allow high-speed,
transaction processing for flight test vafidation and simulation systems.
These products also allow these customers to provide in-flight
parameter recording systems ir military and commercial aircrafts.

Products and Services

We provide integrated, secure network equiprent and services that
connect data, voice andfor video (both analog and digital}, within
single buildings, acress private networks located in multiple buildings
such as college or campus environments (campus area networks” or
“campus networks™ and in metropolitan areas (‘metra networks”).
Our products and services include:

» Optical netwarking products

+ Qut-of-band networking preducts

+ Fiber optic components and subsystems
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* Other networking products

Optical Networking Products. Our optical networking products
include metro Ethernet, optical transport and switching products,
induding wave-division multiplexing {"WDM™) products. These
optical networking products enable service providers to increase
the efficiency of their communication networks, allowing them to
provide services to mare customers, more cost effectively. Qur
products allow service providers to increase the capacity of their
existing fiber optic networks to support high-bandwidth applications
and traific. Our optical networking products enable our customers to
converge their existing network infrastructure and deploy mutti-
service networks that can support emerging data and video
services, such as transmitting high-definition video. Included in the
optical networking products we offer are those we brand under our:

* Fiber Driver Product Family
* Lambda Driver Product Family
* Opti-Switch/Opti-Switch Master Product Family

Qut-ofond Networking Products. Our out-of-band  networking
products indude NEBS ("Network Equipment Building Systerms™)-
compliant and certified consolefterminal  servers, power control
devices, programmable digital patch panels, sensor networking, Federal
Information Processing Standard 140-2 ('FIPS 140-2""} security, features
to address heightened requirements for physical security and safety and
graphical user interface (“GUI") to simplify management of the
out-of-biand network equipment and ¢onnected devices. FIPS 140-2 is
a standard that describes US. Federal government requirements that T
products shoutd meet for Sensitive, but Unclassified ("SBU™) use.

Out-of-band networks enable “lights-out-management” (the ability
for a system administrator to monitor and manage servers by remote
control regardless of whether the machine is powered on) of data
centers and telecornmunications facilities and can reduce the need to
dispatch service personnel to remote locations to resclve equipment
dawntime problems. Power management czpabilities enable secure
access, automated control and energy cost reductions, Digital patch
panels simplify test setup and network reconfiguration by allowing
easy configuration changes and autemation. These products are cost-
efficient, improve asset and perscnnel productivity, increase uptime,
improve security and lower risks in our customers’ communications
and IT infrastructures. Additional features include enhanced
diagnostic capabilities, and data logging and acquisition for
compliance  with government regulations. Included in  our
out-of-band netwarking products are those that we brand under our:

* X Series Console Server Series
+ 5250 Series Power Control Series
*+ Media Cross Connect Product Family

Fiber Optic Components and Subsystems.  Primarily through our
wholly-owned  subsidiary, Luminent, we manufacture optical
transceivers for fiber-to-the-home, metropolitan and  access’
network applications. We make both the laser and receiver chips

diRd ine Opitdl SUldsSEMUDIES FEQUNed 1O DLRIA TFANSCTIVETS, YVE Have
successfully established our position as a leading supplier of optical
components  for fiberto-the-premise  and  fiberto-the-home
deptoyments, where the optical transceiver is a key component
enabling high-bandwidth triple-play services for voice, video, and
high-speed Internet services, Our Access and Metro transceiver
product line covers a wide range of applications for
telecommunications networks and feature products with wave
divisian mukiptexing ("WDM") technology, indluding coarse WDM
("CWDM™) and dense WDM ("DWDM") applications. WDM is a
technology that puts data from different sources together on an
optical fiber: with each signal carried at the same time on its own
separate light wavelength. Our pluggable DWDM components,
includirg our recently introduced 10Gb/s XFP transceivers, provide
system manufacturers and carriers system-level advantages with
respect to time-to-market, inventory management, flexibility and
configurability in deployments.

Network Integration and Services. Qur products perform critical
networking tasks and are often used in conjunction with network
equipment manufactured by other vendors. We believe that pre and
post-sa'es services help ensure high-availability, reduce cost of
ownership, support business goals and promote customer loyalty.
Accordingly, we provide a broad range of service offerings including
pre-sale network design, consultation, and site-surveys. We also
provide network integration and on-site installation. Post-sales
support includes in-warranty as well as out-of-warranty repair and
on-site maintenance. Our services incude a choice of technical
suppors services including around-the-clock response.

Other Networking Products.  'We provide networking products for
aerospace, defense and cther applications such as voice and celtular
communication. Our aerospace and defense network products apply
real-time data acquisition technology aliowing high-speed, transaction
processing for flight test validation and simulation systemns, These
products provide in-flight parameter recording systems in military and
commercial aircraft. In addition, we provide: '

» ground test systemns as well as protocol analyzers and network
performance-testing equipment;

* networking data test equipment and a multi-service computing
platform for wireless cellular telephony; and

* a network management system with comprehensive management
and control for our products as well as third-party products we sell
through our network integration and distribution offices.

Our network management system combines complete end-to-end
network viewing and performance monitoring with network
configuration and fault management including automatic detection
and monitoring of devices from other vendors.

Worldwide Sales and Marketing

We employ various methods, such as public relations, advertising, and
trade shows in an effort to build awareness of our products as well as
establishing our brand name, MRV, We conduct our public relations
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agencies. We focus on major public relations activities focused
around new product introductions, corporate partnerships and
other events of interest to the market. We supplement our public
relations through media advertising programs, including electronic
media, and attendance at various trade shows throughout the year,
both in the United States and internationally.

QOur worldwide sales and marketing organization, at December 31,
2006, consisted of approximately 320 employees, including sales
representatives, technical support and management. Ve have field
sales offices in more than 20 countries and sell cur products and
services both directly and through channel partners with support
from their sales forces. Our channel partners include distributors,
value-added resellers and systern  integrators. We conduct
international operations in branch offices located in Argentina,
Belgum, Brazil China, Dermark, Finland, France, Germany,
Hungary, Israel, ftaly, Mexico, the Netherlands, Norway, Russia,
Singapore, Spain, Sweden, Switzerland, Taiwan and the United
Kingdom. If our acquisition of Fiberxon is completed, we will begin
operating in the PRC through Fiberxon's facilities in Chengdu and
Shenzhen and its representative offices in Beijing and Shanghai.

Qur international field offices are involved in the sales and distribution
of our products and provide system installation, technical support,
and follow-up services to end users of our products.

Additionally, our offices in Denmark. Finland, France, Italy, Norway,
Sweden and Switzerland sell and market our products along with
other products manufactured by third-party vendors, supplied as part
of our network integration and distribution services, These
operations provide system design, network integration and post-
sales support. These services enhance our ability to penetrate
targeted vertical and regional markets. We believe that
collaborating with successful third-party vendors in certain argas
helps to provide growih oppartunities beyond the limitations of
our product lines.

For the year ended December 31, 2006, we had one customer,
Verizon Communications Inc. through its original equipment
manufacturers, which accounted for 13% of revenues, For the
years ended December 31, 2005 and 2004, we had no single
customer that accounted for (0% or more of revenues. As of
December 3(, 2006 and 2005, we had no single customer that
accounted for 10% or more of accounts receivable.

Competition

The communications equipment and optical component industries
are intensely competitive. We compete directly with a number of
established and emerging netwarking and optical components
companies.

QOur direct competitors in networking products, switches and routers
generally include AOVA Optical Networks, Alcatel and its wholly-
owned subsidiary Lucent Technologies, Allied Telesyn, Avocent,
Ciena, Cisco Systems, Extreme Networks, Foundry Netwaorks,
Nortel Networks and Raritan. Our competitors in fiber optic
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Technology, Finisar, Fujitsu, |DS Uniohase, Neophotonics, Opnext,
Optical Communication Products, Optium,: Sumitomo, TriQuint
Semiconductor and Tyco International. Many of our competitors
have significantly greater financial, technical, marketing, distribution
and other resources and larger installed custormer bases than we do.
Several of these competitors have recently intreduced or announced
their intentions to introduce new competitive products. Many of our
larger competitors offer customers a broader product line, which
provides a more comprehensive networking solution than we
provide. Accordingly, in cerlain regional markets we have
collaborated with other vendors in an effort to enhance our
overall capability in providing products and services.

We believe the principal competitive factors in the markets in which
we compete include:

» Product performance, features, quality and price;

« A comprehensive range of complementary products and services;
+ Customer service and technical support;

* Lead and delivery times,

+ Timeliness of new products introductions;

» Global presence, including distribution network:

+ Conformance to standards; and

« Brand name recognition.

Recent consofidation is likely to permit several of our competitors to
devote significantly greater resources to the development and
marketing of new competitive products and the marketing of
existing competitive products to their larger installed customer
bases. We expect that competition will increase substantially
because of these and other industry consolidations and aliiances,
as well as the emergence of new competitors.

Product Development and Engineering

We believe that in order to maintain our technological
competitiveness and to serve our customers befter, we must
enhance our existing products and continue to develop new
products. Accordingly, we focus a significant amount of resources
on preduct development and engineering.

The following table sets forth, for the periods indicated, our product
development and engineering expenses by our principal segmenis
and in total {dollars in thousands):

For the Year Ended Decemnber 31: 2006 2005 2004
Networking group(1) $ 18733 § 17754 3 16116
Optical components group(2) 8233 7,040 7,191
Development stage enterprise group 1221 1,257 1,532
Total $ 28187 $ 26051 $ 24949




armortization of deferred stock compensation of $79,000 in 2004. No share-
based compensation expense was recognized in 2005.

{(2) Includes share-based compensation expense of $307,000 in 2006. No
share-based compensation expense was recognized in 2005 or 2004.

Manufacturing

We outsource our board-level assembly and on some occasions,
complete turnkey production to independent contract manufacturers
for our networking products, which include switches and routers,
remote device management products and networking physical
infrastructure equipment. Outsourcing, we believe, allows us to
react more quickly to market demand, avoid the significant capital
investment regquired to establish automated manufacturing and
assernbly facilities and concentrate resources on product design
and development Qur in-house manufacturing  operations
primarily perform the functions of materials management, and, in
an effort to ensure quality and reliability, quality assurance, equipment
burn-in (testing new equipment by turning the power on), as well as
inspection and final testing Our manufacturing processes and
procedures are generally ISO 9001 certified and so are those of
our electronic manufacturing service providers,

Luminent designs and manufactures its optical compeonents at its
manufacturing and production facilities in California and Taiwan. We
befieve that Luminent remains one of only a handful of component
suppliers in the fiber optics industry with in-house epitaxial crystal
growth and device fabrication capabilities, enabling a broad portfolic
of products from discrete components to managed integrated
transceivers. Luminent utilizes an advanced metal organic chemical
vapor deposition ("MOCVD™) laser growth process to produce
higher-caliber distnbuted feedback (“DFB") and fabry perot {"FP")
laser dicdes. Vertical integration enables Luminent to deliver high
quality, advanced fiber optic components at a more competitive cost.
Luminent has developed and acquired sophisticated equipment
required for evaluating and characterizing products to seek to
ensure maintenance of quality levels. Luminent implements
comprehensive in-line  quality contrel throughout the mass
production process. All devices produced at Luminent are
designed to comply with Telcordia GR-468-CORE standards. Since
the earty days of fiber optic communications, Telcordia Technologies
{formerly Bellcore Labs) has engaged in setting standards that ensure
the reliability of devices going into optical networks. Telcordia is now
the predominant standards body for optical components used in
telecommunications equipment, with its genenc requirement ("GR")
documents employed worldwide by all the major optical component
and equipment vendars.

Luminent’s design and manufacturing facilities in both California and
Taiwan have been certified as 15O 9001 by the International Standards
Organization. The 150 9000 family of certffications (ISO 9001 being
the most comprehensive) is primarily concerned with “quality
management,’ ie., what an organization does to fulfil the
customer’s quality and applicable regulatory requirements, while
aiming to enhance customer satisfaction and achieve continual
improvernent of its performance in pursuit of these objectives.

ISO14001, TLI000, TUV and CSA. The ISO 14000 family of
certifications (IS0 14001 being the most comprehensive) is
primarily concerned with “environmental management,” ie., what
the crganization does to minimize harmiul effects on the environment
caused by its activities and achieve continual improvement of its
environmental performance. TL 9000 is a sector-specific quality
management system standard based on the ISC 9000 generic
management systern standard. TUV (short for Technischer
Uberwachungs-Verein, Technical Manitoring Association in English)
is a German organization that provides industry-specific certification
quality standards for companies operating primanily in the European
Union and Germany. CSA certification of a product means that its
manufacturer meets the industry and product specific quality
standards of the Canadian Standards Association.

Components

We utilize a wide variety of components, supplies and products froma
substaniial number of vendors around the world, Certain of our
products rely on a single or limited number of suppliers, although we
seek to locate altermative sources if the need arises. The faifure of
delivery by our vendors in a timely marner of critical components
could adversely affect our business. For a discussion of the risks
associated with suppliers, please see the portion of this Form (0-K
entitled “Risk Factors,” including but not limited to the risk factor
entitted, "We May Lose Sales if Suppliers of Other Critical
Components Fail to Meet Qur Needs.” '

Intellectual Property

To date, we have relied principally on a combination of patents,
copyrights and trade secrets to protect proprietary technology.
Generally, we enter into confidentiality agreements with our
employees and key suppliers and otherwise seek to limit access to
and distribution of the source code to software and other proprietary
information. These steps may not be adequate to prevent
misappropriation of our technologies or a third party may
indeperdently develop technologies simitar or superior to any that
we pOossess.

Employees

As of December 31, 2006 ang 2005, we employed approximately
1,450 and 1,330 full-time employees, respectively. Of these 1,450
employees, approximately 730 are in manufacturing, 220 in product
development and engineering and 500 in sales, marketing and general
administration. Approximately 1,050 employees are in locations
outside the United States. None of our employees are
represented by a union or governed by a collective bargaining
agreement, and we believe our employee relationships are
satisfactory. We also believe that our long-term success depends
in part on our continued ability to recruit and retain qualified
personnel. The risks associated with dependence on qualified
personnel are more fully discussed in the “Risk Factors” section
contained in ftem | A of this Form 10-K,
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You should carefully consider and evaluate all of the
information in this Form 10-K, including the risk factors
listed below. The risks described below are not the only
ones facing our company. Additional risks not now
known to us or that we currently deem immaterial may
also impair our business operations.

if any circumnstances discussed in these risks actually eccur or occur again,
our business could be materially harmed. If our business is harmed, the
trading price of our common stock could decfine.

This Form | 0-K also contains forward-fooking statements that involve risks
and uncertainties. Qur actual resuits could differ materially from those
onticipated in these forward looking statements as g result of certain
factors, including the risks faced by us described below and elsewhere in
this Form 10-K We undertake no duty to update any of the forward-
looking statements after the date of this Form 10-K

Our Opaerating Results Could Fluctuate Significantly
from Quarter to Quarter.

Qur operating results for a particular quarter are extremely difficult to
predict. Our revenue and operating resulis could fluctuate
substantially from quarter to quarter and from year to year This
could result from any one or a combination of factors such as:

+ the cancellation or postponement of orders;

the timing and amount of significant orders;

« our success in developing, introducing and shipping product
enhancements and new products;

* the mix of products we sell;

* software, hardware or other errors in the products we sell
requiring replacements or increased warranty reserves;

*+ our annual reviews of goodwill and other intangibles that lead to
impairment charges;

* new product introductions by our competitors;

+ the timing of delivery and availability of components from suppliers;
+ readiness of customer sites for installation;

« political stability in the areas of the world in which we operate in;
* changes in material costs;

+ currency fluctuations;

* changes in accounting rules; and

+ general economic conditions as well as changes in such conditions
specific to our market segments.

Moreover, the volume and timing of arders we receive during a
quarter are difficult to forecast. From time to time, our customers
encounter uncertain and changing demand for their products.
Customers generally order based on their forecasts. If demand falls
below these forecasts or if customers do not control inventories
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ordered from us. Our expense levels during any particular period
are based, in part, on expectations of future sales. If sales in a
particular quarter do not meet expectations, our operating results
could be materially adversely affected.

Qur success is dependent, in part, on the overall growth rate of the
fiber optic components and networking industry. The Intermet, or the
industries that serve it, may not continue to grow, and even if it does
or they do, we may not achieve increased growth. Our business,
operating results or financial condition may be adversely affected
by any decreases in industry growth rates. In addition, we can give
no assurance that our resufts in any particular period will fall
within the ranges for growth forecast by market researchers or
securities analysts.

Because of these and cther factors, you should not rely on
quarter-ta-quarter comparisons of our results of operations as an
indication of our future perforrance. It is possible that, in future
periods, our results of operations will be below the expectations of
public market analysts and investors. This failure to meet expectations
could cause the trading price of our common stock to decline.
Similarly, the failure by our comgpetitors or customers to meet or
exceed the results expected by their analysts or investors could have
a ripple effect on us and cause our stock price to decline.

Our Gross Margin May Fluctuate from Period to Period
and Our Gross Margins for Optical Components and/or
Networking Equipment May Be Adversely Affected by a
Number Of Factors.

The following table sets forth, for the perieds indicated, our gross
margins from our two principal operating segments and for our
company as & whole:

For the Year Ended Cecember 31: 2006 2005 2004
Networking group 35%  36%  38%
Optical components group 19% 1% 4%

Total 3% 32% 4%

Qur gross margins also fluctuate from quarter to quarter within a year

and from year-to-year. These yearly and quarterly fluctuations in our

margins have been aflected, often adversely, and may continue to be

affected, by numerous factors, including:

* increased price competition, including competition from low-cost
producers in Asia;

+ price reductions that we make, such as marketing decisions that we
have made in the past to reduce the price for our optical
components to certain customers in an effort o secure long-
term leadership in the market for FTTP components;




* decreases In average seling prices o our products wnich, In
addition to competitive factors and pressures from, or
accommodations made to, significant customers, result from
factors such as overcapacity and the introduction of new and
more technologically advanced products in the case of optical
components and excess inventories, increased sales discounts and
new product introductions in the case of networking equipment;

» the mix in any period or year of higher and fower margin producis
and services;

+ sales volume during a particular period or year;
» charges for excess or obsolete inventory,

» changes in the prices or the availability of components needed to
manufacture our products;

+ the relative success of our efforts to reduce product manufacturing
costs, such as the transiion of our optical component
manufacturing 10 our Taiwan facility or to low-cost third party
manufacturers in China;

+ our introduction of new products, with initial sales at relatively small
volumes with resulting higher production costs; and

* increased warranty or repair costs.

We expect gross margins generally and for specific products to
continue to fluctuate from quarter tc quarter and year to year.

One Customer Accounted for over 10 percent of Qur
Sales During the Three and Twelve Months Ended
December 31, 2006, Increasing Both Our Dependence on
a Single Revenue Source and the Risk that Our
Operations Will Suffer Materially If the Customer
Stopped Ordering from Us or Substantially Reduced Its
Business With Us.

For the last several years and for the interim pericds within those
years, no customer has accounted for 10 percent or more of our
revenues and accordingly we were not dependent on any single
customner. For the year ended December 31, 2006, however, we had
one customer, Verizon Communications Inc, which, through its
original equipment manufacturers, accounted for 3% of our total
revenues. While our financial performance during this year benefited
from the increased sales to that customer, because of the magnitude
of our sales to that customer, our results would suffer if we lost that
customer or it made a substantia! reduction in orders unless we were
able to replace the customer or orders with one or more of
comparable size. in addition, our sales are made on credit and our
results of operations would be adversely affected if this cusiomer
were to experience unexpected financial reversals resulting in it being
unable to pay for our products.
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and to Compete Effectively, We Must Continually
Introduce New Products That Achieve Market
Acceptance.

The markets for our products are characterized by rapid
technological change, frequent new product introductions, changes
in customer requirements and evolving industry standards. We
expect that new technologies will emerge as competition and the
need for higher and more cost effective transmission capacity, or
bandwidth, increases. Our future performance will depend on the
successful development, introduction and market acceptance of new
and enhanced products that address these changes as well as current
and potential customer requirements. The introduction of new and
enhanced products may cause our custorners to defer or cancel
orders for existing products. We have in the past experienced delays
in product development and these delays may occur in the future.
Therefore, to the extent that customers defer or cancel orders in the
expectation of a new product release or there is any delay in
development or introduction of our new products or
enhancements of our products, our operating resutts would suifer.
We also may not be able to develop the underlying core technologies
necessary 1o create new products and enhancements, or to hicense
these technologies from third parties. Product development delays
may result from numerous factors, including:

» changing product specifications and customer requirements;
» difficulties in hiring and retaining necessary technical personnel;

» difficulties in realiocating engineering resources and overcoming
resource limitations;

= difficulties with contract manufacturers;
* changing market or competitive product requirements; and
+ unanticipated engineering complexities.

The development of new, technologically advanced products is a
complex and uncertain process requiring high levels of innovation and
highly skilled engineering and development personnel, as well as the
accurate anticipation of technological and market trends. In order to
compete, we must be able to deliver to customers products that are
highly reliable, operate with its existing equipment, lower the
customer's costs of acquisition, installation and maintenance and
provide an overall cost-effective solution. We may not be able to
identify. develop, manufacture, market or support new or enhanced
products successfully, if at all, or on a timely basis. Further, our new
products may not gain market acceptance or we may not be able to
respond eflectively to product announcements by competitors,
technological changes or emerging industry standards. Our failure
to respond eflectively to technological changes would significantly
harm our business.
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Complexity Or Otherwise Could Hurt Our Financial
Performance.

Comnplex products, such as those we offer, may contain undetected
software or hardware errors when we first introduce them or when
we release new versions. The occurrence of these errors in the
future, and our inabitity t¢ correct these errors quickly or at all, could
resuit in the delay or loss of market acceptance of our products. It
could afso result in material warranty expense, diversion of
engineering and other resources from our product development
efforts and the loss of credibility with, and legal actions by, our
customers, system integrators and end users. Any of these or
other eventualities resulting from defects in our products could
cause our sales to decline and have a material adverse effect on
our business, operating results and financial condition.

The Long Sales Cycles for Our Products May Cause
Revenues and Operating Results to Vary from Quarter
to Quarter, Which Could Cause Volatility In Our Stock
Price,

The timing of our revenue is difficult to predict because of the length
and variability of the sales and implementation cycles for our products.
We do not recognize revenue until a product has been shipped to a
customer, all significant vendor cbligations have been performed and
collection is considered probable. Customers often view the
purchase of our products as a significant and strategic decision. As
a result, customers typically expend significant effort in evaluating,
testing and qualifying our products and our manufacturing process.
This customer evaluation and qualification process frequently results
in a lengthy initial sales cycle of, depending on the products, many
months or more. In addition, some of our customers require that our
producis be subjected to lifetime and reliability testing, which also can
take months or more. While our custormers are evaluating our
products and before they place an order with us, we may incur
substantial sales and marketing and research and development
expenses {0 customize our products to the customer's needs. We
may also expend significant management efforts, increase
manufacturing capacity and order long lead-time components or
materials prior to receiving an order Even after this evaluation
process, & potential customer may not purchase our products.
Even after acceptance of orders, our customers often change the
scheduled delivery dates of their orders. Because of the evolving
nature of the optical networking and network infrastructure markets,
we cannot predict the length of these sales, development or delivery
cycles. As a resuft, these long sales cycles may cause our net sales and
operating results to vary significantly and unexpectedly from
quarterto-guarter, which could cause volatiity in our stock price.

Our Business Has Been Adversely Impacted By the
Worldwide Economic Slowdown and Related
Uncertainties.

Weaker economic conditions worldwide, particularly in the US. and
Europe, have contributed to the current technology industry
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business resulting in:

» reduced demand for our products, particularly fiber optic
components;

* increased nisk of excess and cbsolete inventories;
+ Increased price competition for our products;
market

» axcess  manufacturing current

conditions; and

capacity  under

» higher overhead costs, as a percentage of revenues,

We reported losses for the years ended Decernber 31, 2006, 2005
and 2004 and have not achieved profitability for a full year since 1997,
We anticipate continuing to incur significant sales and marketing,
product development and general and administrative expenses and,
as a result, we will continue to need to contain expense levels and
increase revenue levels to continue to achieve profitability in future
fiscal quarters.

Cost Containment Is Critical to Achieving Positive Cash
Flow from Operations and Profitability Consistently,

We are continuing efforts at strict cost containment and believe that
such efforts are essential to achieving positive cash flow from
operations in future quarters and maintaining profitability on a
consistent basis, especially since the outlook for future quarters is
subject to numerous challenges. Additional measures to contain
costs and reduce expenses may be undertaken if revenues do not
continue to improve. A number of factors could preclude us from
consistently bringing costs and expenses in line with our revenues,
such as our inability to forecast business activities and the
deterigration of our revenues accurately. If we are not able to
maintain an expense structure commensurate with our business
activities and revenues, we may have inadequate levels of cash for
operatiors or for capital requirernents, which coutd significaritly harm
our ability to operate the business.

Our Business and Future Operating Results Are Subject
to a Wide Range of Uncertainties Arising Out of the
Continuing Threat of Terrorist Attacks and Ongoing
Military Action In the Middle East.

Like other US. companies, our business and operating results are
subject to uncertainties arising out of the continuing threat of terrorist
attacks on the United States and ongoing mifitary action in the Middle
East, including the potential worsening or extension of the current
global economic slowdown, the economic consequences of the war
in Iraq or additional terrorist activities and associated political
instability, and the impact of heightened security concerns on
domestic and international travel and commerce. In particular, due
to these uncertainties, we are subject to:

* increased risks related to the operations of our manufacturing
facilities in China;

« greater risks of disruption in the operations of our Asian contract
manufacturers and more frequent instances of shipping delays; and




adversely affect the residence status of non-US, engineers and
other key technical and other employees in our U.S. facilities or cur
ability to hire new non-US. employees in such facilities.

We Face Risks in Reselling the Products of Other
Companies.

We distribute products manufactured by other companies. To the
extent we succeed in reselling the products of these companies, or
products of other vendors with which we may enter into similar
arrangernents, we may be required by customers to assume warraniy
and service obligations. While these suppliers have agreed to support
us with respect to those obligations, if they should be unable, for any
reason, to provide the required support, we may have to expend our
own resources on doing so. This risk is exacerbated by the fact that
the equipment has been designed and manufactured by others, and is
thus subject to warranty claims, the magnitude of which we are
currently unable to evaluate fully.

Our 2003 Notes Provide for Various Events of Default
That Would Entitle the Holder to Require Us to Repay
Upon its Demand the Outstanding Principal Amount,
Plus Accrued and Unpaid Interest. If We Complete the
Acquisition of Fiberxon Without Waivers from the
Holder We Will be in Default.

On June 4, 2003, we completed the sale of $23 million principal
amount of 2003 Notes to Deutsche Bank AG, London Branch in a
private placement pursuant to Regulation I under the Securities
Act of 1933, The 2003 Notes mature in June 2008. We will be
considered in default of the 2003 Notes if any of the following events,
among others. occur:

* our default in payment of any principal amount of, interest on or
other amount due under the 2003 Notes when and as dug;

+ the effectiveness of the registration statement, which registered for
resale the shares of our common stock issuable upon conversion of
the 2003 Notes, lapses for any reason or is unavailable to the
holder of the 2003 Notes for resale of all of the shares issuable
upon conversion, other than during allowable grace periods, for a
period of five consecutive trading days or for more than an
aggregate of ten trading days in any 365-day period;

* the suspension from trading or failure of our common stock to be
listed on the Nasdaq Stock Market for a period of five consecutive
trading days or for more than an aggregate of ten trading days in
any 365-day period;

* we or our transfer agent notify any holder of our intention not to
issue shares of our comman stack to the holder upoen receipt of
any conversion notice delivered in respect of a Note by the holder;

we fail to deliver shares of our common stock to the holder within
twelve business days of the conversion date specified in any
conversion notice delivered in respect of a Note by the holder;

* we breach any material representation, warranty, covenant or
other term or condition of the 2003 Notes or the Securities

relating to 2003 Notes and the breach, if curable, is not cured
by us within ten days;

* failure by us for ten days after notice to comply with any other
provision of the 2003 Notes in all matenial respects, which include
abiding by our covenants not to:

— incur any form of unsecured indebtedness in excess of
$17.0 million, plus obligations arising from accounts receivable
financing transactions with recourse through our foreign
offices, in the ordinary course of business and consistent with
past practices;

— repurchase our common siock for an aggregate amount in
excess of $5.0 million; pursuant to a stock purchase program
that was approved by our Board of Directors and publicly
announced on June 13, 2002; or

— declare or pay any dividend on any of our capital stock,
other than dividends of common stock with respect to our ”
common stock:

« we breach provisions of the 2003 Notes prohibiting us from
either issuing:

— our common stock or securities that are convertible into or
exchangeable or exercisable for shares of our common at a per
share price less than the conversion price per share of the 2003
Naotes then in effect, except in certain limited cases; or

— securities that are convertible into or exchangeable or
exercisable for shares of our commen stock at a price that
varies or may vary with the market price of our common stock;

+ we breach any of our obligations under any other debt or credit
agreements involving an amount exceeding $3,000,000; or

* we become bankrupt or insolvent.

If an event of default occurs, any holder of the 2003 Notes can elect to
require us to pay the outstanding principal amount, together with all
accrued and unpaid interest.

Some of the events of default include matters over which we may
have some, little or no control. If a default occurs and we do not pay
the amounts payable under the 2003 Notes in cash (including any
interest on such amounts and any applicable default interest under
the 2003 Notes), the holders of the 2003 Notes may protect and
enforce their rights or remedies either by suit in equity or by action at
law, or both, whether for the specific performance of any covenant,
agreemant or other provision contained in the 2003 Notes, Any
default under the 2003 Notes could have a material adverse effect on
our business, operating results and financial condition or on the
market price of our commoen stock

As a recult of obligations we have agreed to undertake in connection
with our acquisition of Fiberxon, we must obtain waivers from the
holder of our 2003 Notes of various covenants, including the
covenant restricting our ability to incur any indebtedness in excess
of $17.0 million plus obligations arising from accounts receivable
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ordinary course of business and consistent with past practices.
Although we have discussed with the holder our need for waivers
in order to consummate the acquisition without causing a default to
occur, such discussions have been preliminary and informal and we
have not yet received the necessary waivers. There can be no
assurance that the holder will actually provide the waivers on
terms acceptable to us, or at all, and cur inability or failure to
cbiain them\will result in a default in the 2003 Notes, entitling the
Helder to demand payment of principal and interest due on the
MNotes immediately following consummation of the acquisition.

In the Event of a Change of Control, Holders of the 2003
Notes Have the Option to Require Immediate
Rapayment of the 2003 Notes At a Premium and This
Right Could Prevent a Takeover Otherwise Favored By
Stockholders.

In the event of our "Change of Coentrol,” which essentially means
someone acquiring or merging with us, each holder of 2003 Notes
has the right to require us to redeem the 2003 Notes in whole or in
. part at a redemption price of 105% of the principal amount of the
2003 Notes, plus accrued and unpaid interest or if the amount is
greater; an amount egual to the number of shares issuable upon
conversion of the 2003 Notes based on the conversion price at the
date the holder gives us notice of redemption, multiplied by the
average of the weighted average prices of our commaon stock during
the five days immediately proceeding that date. If a Change of Control
were to occur, we might not have the financial resources or be able to
arrange financing on acceptable terms to pay the redemption price for
all the 2003 Notes as to which the purchase right is exercised. Further,
the existence of this right in favar of the holders may discourage or
prevent someone from acquiring or merging with us.

Sales Of Substantial Amounts Of Our Shares By Selling
Stockholdars Could Cause The Market Price Of Our
Shares To Dedine.

Under a registration statement that the Securities and Exchange
Commission, or SEC, declared effective in 2003, seliing
stackholders are offering for resale up to 9913914 shares of our
common stack issuable upon conversion of our 2003 Notes. This
représents approximately 7.9% of the outstanding shares of our
commeon stock on February 15, 2007 (or 7.3% of the outstanding
shares of our common stock on that date if pro forma effect were
given to the full conversion of the 2003 Notes).

Under a registration statement that the SEC declared effective in April
2006, seling stockholders are offering and have been selling an
additionat 19,858,156 shares of our commoen stock. That
represents approximately 15.8% of the outstanding shares of our
common stock on February 15, 2007, (or 14.6% of the outstanding
shares of our common stock on that date if pro forma effect were
given 1o the full conversion of the 2003 Notes) and, when added to
the shares being offered by the selling stockholders under our 2003
registration statement, approximately 23.7% of the outstanding
shares of our common stock on February 15, 2007 {or 21.9% of
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eflect were gi\;en to the full conversion of our 2003 Notes).

if our pending acquisition of Fiberxon is consummated as anticipated
during the first half of 2007, we have agreed to issue to Fiberxon's
stockholders and employees an aggregate of up to 21,188,630 shares
of cur common stock, inclucing shares underlying Fiberxon's
employee options that we have agreed to assume for options to
purchase shares of our common stock. This represents approximately
1 6.8% of the outstanding shares of our common stock on February |5,
2007 (or 15.6% of the outstanding shares of cur common stock on
that date if pro forma effect were given on that date to the full
conversicn of our 2003 Notes). The exemption from the registration
provisions of the Securities Act of 1933 upon which we are planning
to rely for the offer and sales of our shares to consurmmate the
acquisition of Fiberxon s Section 3(2)(10) of the Securities Act, which
will require the California Department of Corporations te determine
that the acquisition is fair pursuant to a hearing before that agency
which we are scheduling. If the California Department of
Corporations does make a positive determination of faimess, the
shares we issue to Fiberxon's stockholders upon completion of the

transaction will generally be eligible for sale in the open market.

The shares issuable to Fiberxon's stockholders if we successiully
complete that acquisttion, when added to the shares being offered
by the sefling stockholders under our 2003 and 2006 registration
statements, amount to an aggregate of approximately 40.5% of the
outstanding shares of our common stock on February 15, 2007 {or
37.6% of the outstanding shares of cur common stock on that date if
pro forma effect were given to the full conversion of the 2003 Notes).

Sales of substantial amounts of these shares at any one time or from
time to time, or even the availability of these shares for sale, could
adversely affect the market price of our shares.

The information presented in this risk factor has been calculated
assuming that none of the shares covered by our 2006 registration
staternent have yet been sold {(which may not be the case) and that all
shares issuable upon consummation of the Fiberxon acquisition are
issued at the closing of that transaction. In fact, shares issuable upon
exercise of Fiberxon's options that are outstanding at the closing will
be subtracted from.-the shares we are otherwise required to issue to
Fiberxan's stockholders at the closing,

Our Ability to Utilize Our NOLs and Certain Other Tax
Attributes May Be Limited.,

_ As of December 31, 2006, we had net operating lcsses, or NOLs, of

approximately $171.8 million for federal income tax purposes and
approximately $214.4 million for state income tax purposes. We also
had capital loss carryforwards totaling $2620 million as of
December 31, 2006, which begin to expire in 2007, Under
Section 382 of the Internal Revenue Code, if a corporation
undergoes an “ownership change” the corporation’s ability to use
its pre-change NOLs, capital loss carryforwards and other pre-change
tax aitributes 1o offset its post-change income may be limited. An
ownership change is generally defined as a greater than 50% change in
its equity ownership by value over a three-year period. We may




subsequent shifts in our stock ownership, including as a result of
our contemplated issuance of shares pursuant to the Fiberxon
transaction. If we were to trigger an ownership change in the
future, our ability to use any NOLs and capital Joss carryforwards
existing at that time could be limited.

The Price of Our Shares May Continue to Be Highly
Volatile.

Historically, the market price of our shares has been extremely
volatile. The market price of our common stock is likely to
continue to be highly volatile and could be significantly affected by
factors such as:

+ actual or anticipated fluctuations in our operating results;

+ announcements of technological innovations or new product
introductions by us or our competitors;

« the progress or lack thereof of our closing of the acquisition of
Fiberxon;

* changes of estimates of our future operating results by securities

analysts;

+ developments with respect to patents, copyrights or proprietary
nrights;

» sales of substantial numbers of our shares by stockholders covered
by our existing shelf registration statements or by stockholders
receiving our shares if our acquisition of Fiberxon is successfully
consummated; or

« general market conditions and cther factors,

In addition, the stock market has experienced extreme price and
volume fluctuations that have particularly affected the market prices
for shares of the common stocks of technelogy companies in
particufar, and that have been unrelated to the operating
performance of these companies. These factors, as well as
general economic and political conditions, may materially adversely
affect the market price of our commeon stock in the future. Similarty,
the failure by our competitors or customers to meet or exceed the
results expected by their analysts or investors could have a ripple
effect on us and cause our stock price to decline. Additionally, volatility
or a lack of positive performance in our stack price may adversely
affect our ability to retain key employees, all of whom have been
granted stock options.

We Face Risks from Our International Operations.

International sales have become an increasingly important part of our
operations. The following table sets forth the percentage of our total

identified:
Year Endad December 31, 2006 2005 2004
Percentage of total revenue from foreign

sales 74% 7T7%

&7%

We have offices in, and conduct a significant portion of our operations
in and from lsrael. Similarly, some of our development stage
enterprises are located in Israel. We are, therefore, influenced by
the political and economic conditions afecting Israel. Any major
hostilities involving lsrael, the interruption or curtailment of trade
between lsrael and its trading partners or a substantial downturn in
the economic or financial condition of Israel could have a material
adverse effect on our operations. Risks we face due to international
sales and the use of overseas manufacturing include:

« greater difficufty in accounts receivable collection and longer
collection periods;

» the impact of recessions in economies outside the United States;
* unexpected changes in regulatory requirements;

« seascnal reductions in business activities in some parts of the
world, such as during the summer months in Europe or in the
winter months in Asia when the Chinese New Year is celebrated,

dificulties in managing operations across disparate geographic
areas;

difficulties associated with enforcing agreements through foreign
legal systems;

« the payment of operating expenses in local currencies, which
exposes L to risks of currency fluctuations;

higher credit risks requiring cash in advance or letters of credit:

-

potentially adverse tax consequences;

unanticipated cost increases;
+ unavailability or late delivery of equipment;
* trade restrictions;

+ limited protection of intellectual property rights;

unforeseen environmental or engineering problems; and
« personnel recruitment delays.

The majority of our sales are currently denominated in U.S. dollars. As
we conduct business in several different countries, we have recenily
benefited from sales made in currencies other than the U5, dollar
because of the weakness of the US. dollar in relation to the
currencies in which these sales have been made. However, if this
trend ceases or reverses, {luctuations in currency exchange rates
could cause our products to become relatively more expensive in
particular countries, leading to a reduction in sales in that country. In
addition, inflation or fluctuations in currency exchange rates in these
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our operating results.

Through one of our foreign subsidiaries, we have entered into foreign
exchange and interest rate swap contracts to protect against currency
exchange risks refated to purchase commitments denominated in
foreign currencies other than their functional currency, primarily the
LS. dollar and to hedge exposure to interest rate fluctuations. Net
unrealized gains from these activities during the year ended
December 31, 2006 amounted to $161.000 and net unrealized
losses from these activities during the year ended December 31,
2005 amounted to $926,000 and we could incur losses from these or
other hedging activities in the future.

We Have Been Transitioning Volume Manufacturing of

Our Optical Components to Taiwan and China and We

Expect This to Increase, Especially If Our Acquisition of
Fiberxon is Successfully Consummated, Which Exposes
Us, and Will Expose Us Even More, to Risks Inherent in
Doing Business in China.

In order to seek to improve our gross margins in our optical
components business, over the past few years we have been
transitioning volume manufacturing of optical compenents to our
facility in Taiwan and to third-party contract manufacturers in China.
Luminent has a minority interest in a large manufacturing facility in the
PRC in which it manufactures passive fiber optic components and
both Luminent and we make sales of our products in the PRC.

i we successfully consummate the acquisition of Fiberxon, which has
all of its principal manufacturing facilities in China, our operations in
China will increase substantially. We may determine to transfer some
or all of the component manufacturing that we have been outsourcing
to third-party electronic manufacturing service providers to
Fiberxon's manufacturing facilities in China. If we do, we may
experience delays, disruption or quality problems in the
manufacturing operations of Fiberxon, especially during the initial
startup of manufacturing with it. As a result, we could incur additional
costs that would adversely affect gross margins, and product
shipments to our customers could be delayed beyond requested
shipment schedules, which could adversely affect our revenues,
competitive position and reputation.

The political tension between Taiwan and the PRC that continues to
exist, could eventually lead to hostilities or there may be regulatory
issues with either the PRC or Taiwan as a resutt of our having
operations or business interests in both countries. As our
operations in China assume a larger and more important role in
our business, the risks inherent in doing business in China will become
more acute. Many of these risks are beyond our control, including:

» difficulties in obtaining domestic and foreign export, import and
other governmental approvals, permits and licenses;

+ compliance with PRC laws, including employment laws;

difficulties in staffing and managing foreign operations, including
cultural differences in the conduct of business, labor and other
workforce requirements and inadequate local infrastructure;
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reporting system used by us in the United States, including the need
to implernent and maintain financial controls that comply with the
Sarbanes-Oxley Act;

« trade restrictions or higher tariffs;

transportation delays and difficulties of managing international
distribution channels;

longer payment cycles for, and greater difficulty collecting, accounts
receivable;

difficulties in collecting payments from PRC customers to whom
we or Fiberxan have extended significant amounts of credit if those
customers do not pay on the payment terms extended to them;

+ currency exchange rate fluctuations of the RMB, which has been
appreciating in relation to the US. dollar since July 2005 when
the People’s Bank of China announced that the yuan would no
longer be pegged to the US. dollar; that may increase our
manufacturing and labor costs in the PRC when translated to
US. dollars and render prices on our products manufactured in
China uncompetitive, adversely affecting our sales or gross
margins, or both, and

= unexpected changes in regulatory requirements, royalties and
withholding taxes that restrict or make more costly the
repatriation of earnings generated by Fiberxon's operations in
the PRC or influence the effective income tax rate attributable
to profits generated or lost in the PRC.

Any of these factors could harm our future sales and operations

_ significantly.

Our Manufacturing Capacity May be Interrupted,
Limited or Delayed If We Cannot Maintain Sufficient
Sources of Electricity in China, or If There is a Natural
Disaster or Other Catastrophic Event in China.

The manufacturing process for optical component manufacturing
requires a substantial and stable source of electricity. As our
production capabilities increase in China, our requirements for
electricity in China will grow substantially Many companies with
operations in China have experienced a lack of sufficient electricity
supply and we cannot be assured that electric power generators
that we or Fiberxon may have available will produce sufficient
electricity supply in the event of a disruption in power. Power
interruptions, electricity shortages, the cost of fuel 1o run power
generators or government intervention, particularly in the form of
rationing, are factors that could restrict access to electricity to
Fiberxon's PRC manufacturing facilities, and adversely affect
manufacturing costs. If we successfully acquire Fiberxon, any such
power shortages could result in delays in shipments to Fiberxon's or
our customers and, potentially, the loss of customer orders and
penalties from such customers for the delay.

Natural disasters or other catastrophic events, including wildfires and
other fires, earthquakes, excessive rain, terrorist attacks and wars,
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operations and financial results.

China’s Legal System Embaodies Uncertainties That Could
Harm Our Business Operations.

Since 1979, many new laws and regulations and government policies
covering general economic matters have been implemented in China,
Despite the development of the legal system, China’s system of laws is
not yet complete. Even where adequate law exists in China,
enforcement of contracts based on existing law may be uncertain
and sporadic, and it may be difficult to obtain swift and equitable
enforcement or to obtain enforcement of a judgment by a court of
another jurisdiction. The relative inexperience of China’s judiciary in
many cases creates additional uncertainty as to the outcome of any
Iitigation. In addition, interpretation of statutes and regulations may be
subject to government policies reflecting domestic political changes.

As our activities in China increase, we will be subject 1o administrative
review and approval by various national and local agencies of China's
government. Given the changes occurring in China's legal and
regulatory structure, we may not be able to secure the requisite
governmental approval for our activities. Failure to obtain the
requisite governmental approval for any of our activities could
impede our ability to operate our business or increase our expenses.

We May Not Address Successfully Problems Encountered
in Connection With Our Acquisition of Fiberxon, If
Successtully Consummated, or Any Other Acquisition on
Which We May Embark.

As we have in connection with our pending acquisition of Fiberxon,
we expect to continue 1o consider opportunities to acquire or make
investments in other technologies, products and businesses that coutd
enhance our capabilities, complement or augment our current
products or expand the breadth and geography of our markets or
customer base. We have limited experience in acquiring other
businesses and technologies. The acquisition of Fiberxon, if
successfully completed, and other potential acquisitions we may
make, involve numerous risks, including:

« problems assimilating the purchased technologies, products or
business aperations, including the timely integration of financial
reporting systems particularly if, like in the case of Fiberxon if
our acquisition is successfully completed, we acquire companies in
countries where English is not widely spoken, the culture and
political, economic, financial or monetary systems, principles or
controls are different from those of the US, Taiwan, lIsrael or
countries in Europe where we currently have offices or
significant operations;

» problems maintaining uniform standards, procedures, controls and
poticies;

+ unanticipated costs associated with the acquisition;

* start-up costs associated with any new business or product line we
may acquire;
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restructuring;

incurrence of amortization expenses and impairment charges
related to goodwill and other intangible assets and deferred
stock expense;

« incurrence of debt and contingent liabilities;

» problems, and adverse effects on our existing businesses of,
providing funds or financing to support the operations of the
acquired business;

» adverse effects on existing business relationships with suppliers and
customers or on relations with our existing employees,

« risks associated with entering new markets, such as those in China,
in which we have no or fimited prior experience;

.

potential loss of key employees of acquired businesses and
difficulties recruiting adequate replacements;

* the need to hire additional employees to operate the acquired
business effectively, including employees with specialized
knowledge or language skills; and

* potential Itigation risks associated with acquisitions, whether
completed or not;

= dilutive issuances of our equity securities; and

increased legal and accounting costs as a result of the Sarbanes-
Oxley Act.

f we fail to evaluate and execute acquisitions properly, our
management team may be distracted or their attention diverted
from our core businesses and their day-to-day operations, disrupting
our business and adversely affecting our operating results, We can
give no assurance as to whether we can successfully integrate
Fiberxon if that acquisition is successfully completed or integrate
other companies, products, technologies or persennel of any business
that we might acquire in the future. Moreover, there are significant
conditions that need to be satisfied to complete the acquisition of
Fiberxon, the failure of which could result in termination of the
transaction prior to closing. Our efforts to acquire Fiberxon has
resulted and will result, and our efforts to pursue other acquisitions
could result, in substantial expenses and could adversely affect our
operating results if our acquisition of Fiberxon is not, or other
acquisitions that we may pursue are not, successfully consummated.

We Currently Depend On Third-Party Contract
Manufacturers and Therefore Could Face Delays
Harming Our Sales.

We outsource the board-level asserhbly. test and quality control of
matertal, components, subassemblies and systems relating to our
networking products to third-party contract manufacturers.
Though there are a large number of coniract manufacturers that
we can use for outsourcing, we have elected to use a limited number
of vendors for a significant portion of our board assembly
requirements in order to foster consistency in quality of the
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third-party manufacturers also-provide the same services to other
companies. Risks associated with the use of independent
manufacturers include unavailability of or delays in obtaining
adequate supplies of products and reduced control of
manufacturing quality and production costs. f our contract
‘manufacturers failed to deliver needed components timely, we
could face difficulty in obtaining adequate supplies of products
from other sources in the near term. Our third party
manufacturers may not provide us with adequate supplies of
quality products on a timely basis, or at all. While we could
outsource with other vendors, a change in vendors may require
significant lead-time and may result in shipment delays and expenses.
Qur inability to obtain thesa products on a timely basis, the loss of a
vendor or a change in the terms and conditions of the outsourcing
would have a material adverse effect on our business, operating
results and financial condition.

B I

We May Lose Sales If Suppliers of Other Critical
Components Fail to Meet Our Needs.

Our companies currently purchase several key components used in
the manufacture of our products from single or limited sources. We
depend on these sources to meet our needs. Moreover, we depend
on the guality of the products supplied o us over which we have
limited control. We have encountered shortages and delays in
obtaining components in the past and expect to encounter
shortages and delays in the future. If we cannot supply products
due to a lack of components, or are unable to redesign products with
other components in a timely manner, our business will be significantly
harmed, We have no long-term or short-term contracts for any of
our components. As a result, a supplier can discontinue supplying
components to us without penalty. If a supplier discontinued supplying
a component, our business may be harmed by the resulting product
manufacturing and delivery delays.

We May Suffer Losses as a Result of Entering into Fixed
Price Contracts.

From time to time we enter into contracts with certain customers
where the price we charge for particular products is fixed. Althcugh
our estimated production costs for these products is used to compute
the fixed price for sale, if our actual production cost exceeds the
estimated production cost due to our inability to obtain needed
componénts timely or at all or for other reasons, we may incur a loss
on the sale. Sales of material amounts of products on a fixed price
basis where we have not accurately predicted the production costs
could have a material adverse affect on our results of operations.

Our Inability to Achieve Adequate Production Yields for
Certain Components We Manufacture Internally Could
Result in a Loss of Sales and Customers.

We rely heavily on our own production capability for critical
semiconductor lasers and light emitting diodes used in our
producis. Because we manufacture these and other key
components at our own facilities and these components are not
readily available from other sources, any interruption of our
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our operations. Furthermore, we have a lmited number of
employees dedicated to the operation and maintenance of our
wafer fabrication equipment, the 1oss of any of whom could result
in our inability to effectively operate and service this equipment.
Wafer fabrication is sensitive to many factors. including variations and
impurities in the raw materials, the fabrication process, performance
of the manufacturing equipment. defects in the masks used to print
circuits on the wafer and the level of contaminants in the
manufacturing environment. We may not be zble to maintain
acceptable production yields or avoid product shipment delays. In
the event adequate production vields are not achieved, resulting in
product shipment delays, cur business, operating results and financial
condition could be materially adversely affected,

If We Fail to Protect Our intellectual Property, We May
Not Be Able to Compete.

We rely on a combination of trade secret laws and restrictions on
disclosure and patents, copyrights and trademarks to protect our
intellectual property rights. We cannot assure you that our pending
patent applications will be approved, that any patents that may be
issued will protect our intelleciuel property or that third parties will
not challenge any issued patents. Other parties may independently
develop similar or competing technology or design around any
patents that may be issued to us. We cannot be certain that the
steps we have taken will prevent the misappropriation of our
intelfectual property, particularly in foreign countries where the
laws may not protect our proprietary rights as fully as in the
United States. Any of this kind of litigation, regardless of outcome,
could be expensive and time consuming, and adverse determinations
in any of this kind of litigation could sericusly harm our business.

We Could In the Future Become Subject to Litigation
Regarding Intellectual Property Rights, Which Could Be
Costly and Subject Us to Significant Liability,

From time to time, third parties, including our competitors, may
assert patent, copyright and other intellectual properiy rights to
technologies that are important to us. Over the years, we have
received notices from third parties alleging possible infringement of
patents with respect to certain features of our products or our
manufacturing processes and in connection with these notices
have been involved in discussions with the claimants, including IBM,
Lucent, Ortel. Nortel, Rockwell, the Lemelson Foundation, Finisar
and Apcon. To date, our aggregate revenues potentially subject to the
foregoing claims have not been material. However, these or other
companies may pursue litigation with respect to these or other ¢laims.
The results of any litigation are inherently uncertain. In the event of an
adverse result in any litigation with respect to intellectual property
rights relevant to our products that could arise in the future, we could
be required to obtain licenses to the infringing technology, to pay
substantial damages under applicable law, to cease the manufacture,
use and sale of infringing products or to expend significant rescurces
to develop non-iniringing technology. Licenses may not be available
from third parties either on commercially reasonable terms or at all. In
addition, litigation frequently involves substantial expenditures and
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prevail. Accordingly, any infringement claim or litigation against us
could significantly harm our business, operating results and
* financial condition.

In the Future, We May Initiate Claims Or Litigation
Against Third Parties for Infringement of Qur
Proprietary Rights to Protect These Rights Or to
Determine the Scope and Validity of Our Proprietary
Rights Or the Proprietary Rights Of Competitors. These
Claims Could Result In Costly Litigation and the
Diversion of Our Technical and Management Personnel,

Necessary licenses of third-party technology may not be available to
us or may be very expensive, which could adversely affect our ability
to manufacture and sell our products. From time to time we may be
required to license technology from third parties to develop new
products or product enhancements. We cannot assure you that third-
party licenses will be available to us on commercially reasonable
terms, if at all. The inability to obtain any third-party license required
to develop new products and product enhancements could require
us to obtain substitute technology of lower quality or performance
standards or at greater cost, either of which could seriously harm our
ability to manufacture and sell our products. .

We Are Dependent On Certain Members of Our Senior
Management.

We are substantially dependent upon Dr. Shlomo Margalit, our
Chairman of the Board of Directors, Chief Technical Officer and
Secretary, and Mr. Noam Lotan, our President and Chief Executive
Officer. The loss of the services of either of these officers coutd have a
material adverse effect on us. We have entered into employment
agreements with Dr. Margalit and Mr. Lotan and are the beneficiary of
a key man life insurance policy in the amount of $1.0 million on
Mr. Lotan’s life. However, we can give no assurance that the proceeds
from this policy will be sufficient to compensate us in the event of the
death of Mr: Lotan, and the policy is not applicable in the event that he
becomes disabled or is otherwise unable to render services to us. We
no longer maintain a key man life insurance policy on Dr. Margalit

Our Business Requires Us to Attract and Retain
Qualified Personnel,

Our ability to develop, manufacture and market our products, run our
operations and our abifty to compete with our current and future
competitors depends, and will depend, in large part, on our ability
1o atiract and retain qualified personnel. Competition for executives
and qualified personnel in the networking and fiber optics industries
is intense, and we will be required to compete for those personnel
with companies having substantially greater financial and other
resources than we do. To attract executives, we have had to
enter into compensation arrangements, which have resulted in
substantial deferred stock expense and adversely affected our
results of operations. We may enter into similar arrangements in
the future to attract qualified executives. If we should be unable
to attract and retain qualified personnel, our business could be
materially adversely affected.

REHYITUDIHTICIW G nuyuiativin Applitauie v wuar
Manufacturing Operations Could Limit Qur Ability to
Expand Or Subject Us to Substantial Costs.

We are subject to a variety of environmental regulations relating to
the use, storage, discharge and disposal of hazardous chemicals used
during our manufacturing processes. Further, we are subject to cther
safety. labeling and training regulations as required by local, state and
federal law. Any failure by us to comply with present and future
regulations could subject us to future liabilities or the suspension of
production. I addition, these kinds of regulations could restrict our
ability to expand our facilities or could require us to acquire costly
equipment or to incur other significant expenses to comply with
environmental regulations. We cannot assure you that these legal
requirements will not impose on us the need for additional capital
expenditures or ather requirements. If we fail to obtain required
permits or otherwise fail 1o operate within these or future legal
requirements, we may be required to pay substantial penalties,
suspend our operations or make costly changes to our
manufacturing processes or facilities,

Our Headquarters Are Located In Southern California,
and Certain of Our Manufacturing Facilities Are Located
In Southern California and Taiwan, Where Disasters May
Occur That Could Disrupt Our Operations and Harm Our
Business.

Our corporate headquarters are located in the San Fernando Valley
of Southern California and some of our manufacturing facilities are
located in Southern California and Taiwan, Historically, these regions
have been vulnerable to natural disasters and other risks, such as
earthquakes, fires and floods, which at times have disrupted the focal
economies and posed physical risks to our property and personnel.

In addition, terrorist acts or acts of war targeted at the United States,
and specifically Southern California, has caused damage and
disruption to us and could again cause damage or disruption to us,
our employees, facilities, partners, suppliers, distributors and resellers,
and customers, which could have a material adverse effect on our
operations and financial results.

If We Fail to Forecast Component and Material
Requirements for Qur Manufacturing Facilities
Accurately, We Could Incur Additional Costs or
Experience Manufacturing Delays.

We use rolling forecasts based on anticipated product orders to
determine our component requirements. It is very important that we
accurately predict both the demand for our products and the lead
times required to obtain the necessary components and materials.
Lead times for components and rnaterials that we order vary
significantly and depend on factors such as specific supplier
requirements, the size of the order; contract terms and .current
market demand for the components. For substantial increases in
production levels, some suppliers may need nine months or more
lead-time. If we overestimate our component and material
requirements, we may have excess inventory, which would
increase our costs. If we underestimate our component and
material requirements, we may have inadequate inventory, which
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to our customers. Any of these occurrences would negatively impact
our net sales.

Legislative Actions, Higher Insurance Costs and
Potential New Accounting Pronouncements Are Likely to
Impact Our Future Financial Position and Results of
Operations and In the Case of FASB’s New
Pronouncement Regarding the Expensing of Stock
Options Will Adversely Impact Our Financial Results.

There have been regulatory changes, including the Sarbanes-Oxley
Act of 2002, new SEC regulations and Nasdaq Stock Market rutes and
there may be potential new accounting pronouncements or
regulatory rulings. which will have an impact on our future financial
position and results of operations. These regulatory changes and
other legislative initiatives have increased general and administrative
costs. In addition, insurers are likely to increase rates as a result of high
claims rates recently and our rates for our various insurance policies
are likely to increase. The Financial Accounting-Standards Board's
recent change to mandate the expensing of stock compensation
will require us to record charges to earnings for stock option
grants to employees and directors and will adversely affect our
financtal results for periods after we implement the new
pronouncement. As required, we implemented this new
pronouncemeni on January |, 2006. For a discussion of the
impact on our historical financial results if we had implemented
this pronouncement in prior periods, see ltem 7 Management's
Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of
Operations — Recently Issued Accounting Pronouncements” on
page 50.

We Are At Risk of Securities Class Action Or Other
Litigation That Could Result In Substantial Costs and
Divert Management’s Attention and Resources.

In the past, securities class action litigation has been brought against a
company following pericds of volatifity in the market price of its
securities. Due to the volatility and potential volatility of our stock
price, we may be the target of securities litigation in the future.
Securities or other litigation could result in substantial costs and divert
management's attention and resources,

If Our Cash Flow Significantly Deteriorates In the
Future, Qur Liquidity and Ability to Operate Our
Business Could Be Adversely Affected.

We incurred net losses in 2006, 2005 and 2004, and our combined
cash and short-term investments declined in 2005 and 2004
Excluding the private placement of approximately 19.9 million
shares of our common stock issued to & group of institutional
investors in March 2006, which resutted in proceeds of
$69.9 million, our combined cash, cash equivalents, time deposits
and short-term and tong-term marketable securities would have
declined at December 31, 2006 by approximately $20.9 million, or
approximately 30%, since December 31, 2005. Although we generate
cash from operations, we may continue to experience negative
overall cash flow in future quarters. If our cash flow significantly
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business could be adversely affected. For example, our ability to raise
financial capital may be hindered due to our net losses and the
possibility of future negative cash flow.

The Prevailing Market Price of Our Common Stock May
Limit Our Ability to Raise Equity Capital.

Covenants in our Notes preclude us from issuing our commaon stock
or securities that are convertible into or exchangeable or exercisable
for shares of our common stock at a per share price less than the
conversion price per share of the 2003 Notes then in effect, exceptin
certain limited cases. The conversion price of our Notes currently in
effect is $2.32 per share and the recent market prices of our commoan
stock have at times been below the conversion price. During periods
when the market price of our common stock is below $21.32 per
share, we are limited in our ability to conduct an equity financing
without triggering a default of our Notes or the need to seek a waiver
from the holder, which may not be obtainable. A continuing inability
to raise financial capital would limit our operating flexibility.

It Is an Event of Default Under Our Notes If Our
Common Stock Were Delisted from the Nasdaq Stock
Market.

We would be in default under our Notes, if our common stock is
delisted from the Nasdaq Stock Market. In that case, each holder of
Netes has the right to require us to repay the outstanding principal
amount of the Notes, plus accrued and unpaid interest.

Delaware Law and Our Ability to Issue Preferred Stock
May Have Anti-Takeover Effects That Could Prevent a
Change In Control, Which May Cause Our Stock Price to
Decline.

We are autharized to issue up to 1,000,000 shares of preferred stock.
This preferred stock may be issued in one or more series, the terms of
which may be determined at the time of issuance by our board of
directors without further action by stockholders. The terms of any
series of preferred stock may include vating rights (including the right
to vote as a series on particular matters), preferences as to dividend,
liquidation, conversion and redemption rights and sinking fund
provisions, No preferred stock is currently outstanding. The
issuance of any preferred stock could materially adversely affect
the rights of the holders of our commoen stock, and therefore,
reduce the value of cur common stock. In particular, specific rights
granted to future holders of preferred stock could be used to restrict
our ability to merge with, or sell our assets 1o, a third party and
thereby preserve contrel by the present management. We are also
subject to the anti-takeover provisions of Section 203 of the
Delaware Genera! Corporation Law, which prohibit us from
engaging in a business combination with an interested stockholder
for a period of three years after the date of the transaction in which
the person became an interested stockholder unless the business
combination is approved in the manner prescribed under Section 203,
These provisions of Delaware law also may discourage, delay or
prevent someone from acquiring or merging with us, which may cause
the market price of our common stock to decline.




Not applicable.

ITEM 2. PROPERTIES

Qur principal administrative, sales and marketing, product development and engineering and manufacturing facility is located in Chatsworth,
California. The table befow lists the locations. square footage and expiration dates of our principal owned and leased facilities used for our major

operations.
Lease
Location Square Feet  Expiration Purpose
Chatsworth, CA UsA 13300 313112017 Administration
Chatsworth, CA USA 22200 12/31/2015 Manufacturing and product development
Chatsworth, CA USA 49,920 771372014 Administration, product development, manufacturing and sales
Littleton, MA, USA 54411 22812015  Administration, product development, manufacturing and sales
Hsinchu Taiwan 81,861 12/31/2007 Administration, praduct development, manufacturing and sales
Geneva Switzeriand 29428 12/31/2010 Administration, product development, manufacturing and sales
Zurich Switzerland 4510 313142013 Administration and sales
Stockholm Sweden 48,825 3/30/200%  Adrninistration and sales
Cslo Norway 6986 &/30/2010  Administration and distribution
Milan ' ftaly 7535 Owned Administration and distribution
Milan Itaty 9,688 Owned Administration and distrioution
Milan Italy 9,688 12/1272011  Administration and distribution
Milan Jtaly 5,382 Owned Administration and distribution
Milan ftaly 8611 Owned Administration and distribution
Rome ftaly 6510 H31/2009 Administration and distribution
Yoknearn Israel 19,526 1273172007 Administration, product development, manufacturing and sales
Yokneam lsrael 12917 12/31/2007 Administration, product development, manufacturing and sales
Frankfurt Germany 6,358 7312011 Administration and sales
Gif Sur Yvette France 17,222 Owned Administration and distribution
We believe that our existing leased and owned space is more than We have been named as a defendant in lawsuits involving matters that
adequate for our current operations, and that suitable replacement we consider routine to the nature of our business. We are of the
and additional space will be available in the future on commercially opinion that the ultimate resofution of all such matters will not have a
reasonable terms, material adverse effect on our business, operating results and financial
condition.
ITEM 3. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

We have received notices from third parties alleging possible
infingement of patents with respect to product features or
manufacturing processes. We believe such notices are common in
the communications industry because of the large number of patents
that have been filed on these subjects. Our policy is to discuss these
notices with the senders in an effort to demonstrate that our
products and/or processes do not violate any patents. From time
to time we have been involved in such discussions with IBM, Lucent,
Ortel, Nortel, Rockwell, the Lemelson Foundation, Finisar and
Apcon. We do not believe that any of our products or processes
violates any of the patents asserted by these parties and we further
believe that we have meritorious defenses if any legal action is taken
by any of these parties. However, if one or more of these parties was
to assert a claim and gain a conclusion unfavorable to us, such claims
_could materially and adversely affect our business, operating results
and financial condition.

ITEM 4. SUBMISSION OF MATTERS TO A
VOTE OF SECURITY HOLDERS

Submission of Matters to a Vote of Security
Holders

Not applicable.

Executive Officers of The Registrant

Set forth below is information relating to the Company’s executive
officers as of February 15, 2007,
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Director of the Company since May 1990 and served as Chief
Financial Officer of the Company from Cciober 1993 until June
1995, Prior to joining the Company, Mr. Lotan served from 1987 to
{990 as Managing Director of Fibronics (UK) Lid a subsidiary of
Fibronics Intermational Inc, a manufacturer of fiber optic
communication networks. Mr. Lotan was also the Director of
European Cperations for Fibronics. The Company acquired the
Fibronics business in September [996. Prior to such time.
Mr. Lotan held a variety of sales and marketing positions with
Fibronics and Hewlett-Packard. Since June 2005, Mr. Lotan has also
served on the board of directors of Capstone Turbine Corperation
(Nasdaq symbol: CPST). Mr. Lotan holds a Bachelor of Science degree
in Electrical Engineering from the Technion, the lsrael institute of
Technology, and a Masters degree in Business Administration from
INSEAD (the European Institute of Business Administration,
Fontainebleau, France).

Dr. Shlomo Moargalit, 65, a founder of the Company, has been
Chairman of the Board of Directors and Chief Technical Officer
since the Company's inception in July 1988, From May 1985 to July
(988, Dr. Margalit served as a founder and Vice President of Research
and Developmens for LaserCom, Inc. {"LaserCom"), a manufacturer
of semiconductor lasers. From 1982 1o 1985, Dr. Margalit served as a
Senior Research Associate at the California Institute of Technology
(“Cakech™), and from 1976 to {982, a Visiting Associate at Caltech.
From 1972 to 1982, Dr. Margalit served as a faculty member and
Agsociate Professor” at the Technion. During his tenure at the
Technion, Or. Margalit was awarded the “lsrael Defense” prize for
his work in developing infrared detectors for heat guided missiles and
the David Ben Aharon Award for Novel Applied Research.
Dr. Margalit holds a Bachelor of Science degree, a Masters degree
and a Ph.D. in Electrical Engineering from the Technion.

Kevin Rubin, 32, became Chief Financiat Offiicer in Decernber 2005.
Since April 2002, Mr. Rubin has served as Vice President of Finance
and Corporate Compliance Officer of MRV, From 1995 through
Mareh 2002, Mr. Rubin was employed by Arthur Andersen LLP
providing services to a broad array of high-tech companies ranging
from small private companies to public companies with market
capitalizations in excess of $! billion. Mr. Rubin holds a Bachelor of
Science degree in business economics from the University of
California, Santa Barbara, and is a certified public accountant.

Near Margdlit, 34, Ph.D. re-joined MRY in May 2002 as Vice President
of Marketing and Business Development. From 1998 until re-joining
MRV, Dr. Margalit was founder; Chairman and Chief Technology
Officer for Zaffire, Inc, a DWDM Metro Platform company, which
was acquired by Centerpoint in October 2001. At Zaffire, Dr. Margalit
was respansible for product visicn and architecture of integrating
DWDM and SONET technology. Prior to founding Zaffire,
Dr. Margalit was employed by MRV, both in the optical component
and networking divisions. Dr. Margalit holds a B.S. in applied physics
from Caltech and a Ph.D. in optoelectronics from the University of
California, Santa Barbara. In February 2003, Dr Margalit was
appointed Chief Executive Officer of Luminent, Inc.
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ITEM 5. MARKET FOR THE REGISTRANT'S
COMMON EQUITY AND RELATED
STOCKHOLDER MATTERS

Market Information and Holders

COwur common stock, $0.0017 par value, is traded on the Nasdaq
Global Market under the symbal "MRVC!" The following table sets
forth, for the periods indicated, the high and low bid prices of our
common stock, as reported on the Nasdaq Global Market.

High Low

Fiscal Year Ended December 31, 2006
First Quarter $4.71 3200
Second Quarter $4.23 5258
Third Quarter $3.10  $200
Fourth Quarter $377 3259

Fiscal Year Ended December 31, 2005
first Quarter $4.10 %283
Second Quarter. . $345 %160
Third Quarter $244 3193
Fourth Quarter $223  $i8]

As of February 15, 2007, we had approximately 2,794 common
stockholders of record, although there were a larger number of
beneficial owners.

Dividends

The payment of dividends on our common stock is within the
discretion of our board of directors. Currently, if we return to
profitability, we intend to retain earnings to finance the growth of
our business. We have not paid cash dividends on our common stock
and the board of directors does not expect to declare cash dividends
on the common stock in the foreseeable future.
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The table below sets forth information with respect to shares of commen stock that may be issued under our stock option and warrant plans as of

December 31, 2006.

Number of Securities to
be Issued Upon
Exercise of Outstanding

Number of Securities Remaining
Available for Future lssuance Under
Equity Compensation Plans

Weighted Average Exercise
(excluding Securities Reflected in

Price of Outstanding

Plan Category Options and Warrants Options and Warrants column {a)}
{a) (b} ©
Stock option and warrant plans approved by security
holders{|} 1936600 $3.04 417983
Stock option and warrant plans not approved by security
holders(2) 8.779,830 $3.11 1.517.073
Total 11,716,430 $3.09 1,935,056

(1) Includes shares undertying options granted under the 1997 Incentive and
Nonstatutory Stack Option Plan,

(2) Includes shares undertying options or awards granted or reserved for
future grant under the Non-Director and MNon-Executive Officer
Consolidated Long-Term Stock Incentive Plan (the “Consolidated Plan™)
and shares underlying options or warrants granted under the following
plans prior to the adoption in January 2003 of the Consolidated Plan:

.

1998 Nonstatutory Stock Option Plan;

200! MRV Communications, Inc. Stock Option Plan for Employees of
Appointech, Inc;

2000 MRV Communications, Inc. Stock Option Plan for Employees of
AstroTerra Corporation;

MRV Communications, Inc. 2002 International Stock Option Plar;

Warrants provided to Mathan Shilo as trustee for employees and
designated consultants of MBase Communications, Ltd. exercisable on
July 19, 1996, July 13, 1997, july 13, 1998, January 2, 1998 and January 4,
1999,

-

ftalian Employees Warrant Program;

Stock options issued and outstanding on the effective date of the merger of
Luminent under the Luminent Amended and Restated 2000 Stock Option
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Plan that were assumed by MRV and are exercisable for 0.43 shares of
Commeon Stock for each share of Luminent held under the relevant option;

+ MRV Communications, Inc. 2002 Nonstatutory Stock Option Plan for
Employees of Luminent, Inc.; and

+ 2000 MRV Communications, Inc. Stock Opticn Plan for Employees of
Optronics Internationat Corp.

As a result of the adoption, in January 2003, of the Consolidated Plan,
the plans set forth in the bulleted paragraphs immediately above in
this footnote were terminated and shares available for future grants of
options or warrants under these plans, including shares that became
and become available as a consequence of the lapse, expiration or
forfeiture of outstanding options or warrants granted under such
terminated plans, were rolled into, and became available for; future
grants of options and other awards under the Censolidated Plan. No
net increase in the total number of shares available for the grant of
options or awards under the Consolidated Plan from the total
number of shares covered by outstanding options, warrants or
awards granted, avaifable or reserved in the Consolidated Plan at
the time the Consolidated Plan was adopted in January 2003 resulted
from this action.
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The following selected Statements of Operations data for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2006 and the Balance Sheets
data as of December 31, 2006 and 2005 are derived from our audited financial statements included elsewhere in this Form 10-K. The selected
Statements of Operations data for each of the two years in the period ended December 31, 2003 and the Balance Sheets data as of December 31,
2004, 2003 and 2002 were derived from our audited financia) staternents, which are not included in this Form 0K, The following data should be
read in canjunction with “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations' and the financial statements of
the Company, including the notes thereto, included elsewhere in this Form 10-K (in thousands, except per share data).

For the Year Ended December 31: 2006 2005 2004 2003 2002
Statements of Operations Data:
Revenue ) $ 356489 § 283698 $ 271658 $ 238983 § 252532
Cost of goods sold 244207 193979 179,852 164,893 169566
Gross profit - 112,282 89,719 91806 74,090 82,966
Operating costs and expenses:
Product development and engineering 28,187 26051 24949 30972 49,358
Seliing, general and administrative 87539 72,402 74,045 62901 90,187
Impairment of goodwill and other intangibles 52 - 356 72697
Impairment of long-lived assets - - - 17038
Total operating costs and expenses 115,778 98,453 58,994 94,229 229,280
Operating loss (3/496) (8734 (7.188) (20,139) (146314)
Other income (expense), net 1,846 (1.7en (456) (6.438) (23,695)
Loss before provisior: for income taxes, extraordinary gain and cumulative effect of an
accounting change {1,650) (10.525) (7,644) (26577) (170,009)
Provision far income taxes 3885 5774 3036 2364 13,395
Loss before extraordinary goin and curmulative effect of an accounting charige (5515) (16,299) {10,680 (28,938) (183,404)
Extraordinary gain, net of income tax - - 1,350 -
Cumutative effect of an accounting change - - - {296.355)
Net loss $  (5515) 3 (06299) $ (106B0) % (26988) ${479.759)
Basic and diluted loss per share $ 005 % (0.16) % 010 % (026 % (525
Basic and diluted weighted average shares outstanding 120902 104,350 104,793 102022 91421
At December 31: 2006 2005 2004 2003 2002
Balorice Sheets Data:
Cash and cash equivalents § 91712 % 67984 § 77226 $ B7602 0§ 99445
Working capital 172587 99514 113,995 108,051 94,188
Total assets 346222 265177 279,860 278,050 304,866
Total long-term liabilities 30,295 29,694 28,663 27415 4056
Stockholders’ equity 193,752 117,004 143,341 145,494 156,362
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IEM 7. MANAGEMENT > DISCUSSIUN
AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION
AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

The following discussion and analysis of our financial condition and results
of operations should be read in conjunction with Consolidated Financial
Statements and Notes thereto included elsewhere in this Form 10-K In
addition to historicat information, the discussion in this Form 1 0-K contains
certain forwarg-ooking statements that involve risks and uncertainties.
Our actual results could differ materially from those onticipated by these
forward-looking statements due to factors, including but not limited to,
those set forth in the following and elsewhere in this Form 10-K We
assume no obligation to update any of the forward-looking statements
after the date of this Form 10-K

Overview

We design, manufacture, sell, distribute, integrate and support
communication equipment and services, and aptical components.
We conduct our business along three principal segments: the
networking group, the optical components group and the
development stage enterprise group. Our networking group
provides equipment used by commercial customers, governments
and telecommunications service providers, and includes swiiches,
routers, physical fayer products and console management products as
well as specialized networking products for aerospace, defense and
other applications including voice and cellular communication. Qur
optical components group designs, manufactures and sells optical
communications components, primarily through our wholly-owned
subsidiary Luminent, Inc. These components include fiber optic
transceivers for metropolitan, access and Fiber-to-the-Premises, or
FTTP applications. Our development stage enterprise group seeks to
develop new optical components, subsystems and networks and
other products for the infrastructure of the Intemet,

We market and sell our products worldwide, through a variety of
channels, which include a dedicated direct sales force, manufacturers’
representatives, value-added-resellers, distributors and  systems
integrators. We have operations in Europe that provide network
systern design, integration and distribution services that include
products manufactured by third-party vendors, as well as our
products. We believe such specialization enhances access to
customers and allows us to penetrate targeted vertical and
regional markets.

We generally recognize product revenue, net of sales discounts and
allowances, when persuasive evidence of an arrangement exists,
delivery has occurred and all significant contractual obligations have
been satisfied, the fee is fixed or determinable and collection is
considered probable. Products are generally shipped “FOB
shipping point” with no right of retumn, except on rare occasions
in which our accounting is as described below. Sales of services and
system support are deferred and recognized ratably over the contract
period. Sales with contingencies, such as right of return, rotation
nghts, conditional acceptance provisions and price protection are rare
and have historically been insignificant. We do not recognize such
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sdles unul the contingencies have been satisiied or the contingent
period has lapsed. We generally warrant our products against defects
in materials and workmanship for one to two year periods. The
estimated costs of warranty obligations and sales returns and other
allowances are recognized at the time of revenue recognition based
on contract terms and prior claims experience. Gross profitis equal to
our revenues less our cost of goods sold. Our cost of goods sold
includes materials, direct labor and overhead. Cost of inventory is
determined by the first-in, first-out method. Our operating costs and
expenses generally consist of product devetopment and engineering
costs, or R&D, selling, general and administrative costs, or SG&A, and
other operating refated costs and expenses.

We evaluate segment performance based on the revenues and the
operating expenses of each segment. We do not track segment data
or evaluate segment performance on additional financial information.
As such, there are no separately identifiable segment assets nor are
there any separately identifiable Statements of Operations data below
operating income (loss). The networking and optical components
groups account for virtually all of our overall revenue.

Qur business involves reliance on foreign-based offices. Several of our
divisions, outside subcontractors and suppliers are located in foreign
countries, incfluding Argentina, China, Denmark, Finland, France,
Germany, lsrael, Mtaly, Japan, Korea, the Netherlands, Norway,
Russia, Singapore, South Africa, Switzerland, Sweden, Taiwan and
the United Kingdom. For the years ended December 31, 2006, 2005
and 2004, foreign revenues constituted 67%, 74% and 77%,
respectively, of our revenues. The vast majority of our foreign sales
are to customers located in the European region. The remaining
foreign sales are primarily to customers in the Asia Pacific region.

Critical Accounting Policies

Our discussion and analysis of our financial condition and resuits of
cperations are based upon our financial statements, which have been
prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted
in the United States. The preparation of these financial statements
requires us to make estimates and judgments that affect the reported
amounts of assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses, and related
disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities.

We believe that the estimates, assurmptions and judgments involved in
the accounting policies described below have the greatest potential
impact on our financial statements, so we consider these to be our
critical accounting policies. Because of the uncertainty inherent in
these matters, actual resutts could differ from the estimates we use in
applying the critical accounting policies. Certain of these critical
accounting policies affect working capital account balances,
including the policies for revenue recognition, allowance for
doubtful accounts, inventory reserves and income taxes. These
policies require that we make estimates in the preparation of our
financial statements as of a given date. However, since our business
cycle is relatively short, actual results related to these estimates are
generally known within the six-month period following the financial
statement date. Thus, these policies generally affect only the timing of
reported amounts across two to three quarters.
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Within the context oi these critical accounting policies, we are not
currently aware of any reasonably likely events or circumstances that
wauld result in materially different amounts being reported.

Revenue Recognition. 'We generally recognize product revenue, net
of sales discounts and allowances, when persuasive evidence of an
arrangement exists, delivery has occurred and all significant
contractual obligations have been satisfied, the fee is fixed or
determinable and collection is considered probable. Products are
generally shipped “FOB shipping point” with no right of return. Sales
of services and system support are deferred and recognized ratably
over the contract period. Sales with contingencies, such as right of
return, rotation rights, conditional acceptance previsions and price
protection are rare and insignificant and are deferred until the
contingencies have been satisfied or the contingent period has
lapsed. We generally warrant our products against defects in
materials and workmanship for one to two year periods. The
estimated costs of warranty obligations and sales retumns and other
allowances are recognized at the time of revenue recognition based
on contract terms and prior claims experience. Qur major revenue-
generating products consist of fiber optic components, switches and
routers, console management products, and physical layer products.

Allowance for Doubtful Accounts. We make ongoing estimates
relating to the collectability of our accounts receivable and
maintain a reserve far estimated losses resufting from the inability
of our customers to meet their financial cbligations 1o us. I
determining the amount of the reserve, we consider our historical
leve! of credit losses and make judgments about the creditworthiness
of significant customers based on ongoing credit evaluations. Since we
cannot predict future changes in the financial stability of our
customers, actual future losses from uncollectible accounts may
differ from our estimates. If the financial condition of our
cusiomers were to deteriorate, resulting in their inability to make
payments, a farger reserve may be required. In the event we
determined that a smaller or larger reserve was appropriate, we
would record a credit or a charge to selling, general and administrative
expense in the period in which we made such a determination.

Inventory Reserves. We alsc make ongoing estimates relating to the
market value of inventories, based upon our assumptions about future
demand and market conditions. If we estimate that the net realizable
value of our inventory is less than the cost of the inventory recorded on
our books, we record a reserve equal to the difference between the cost
of the inventory and the estimated net reafizable market value. This
reserve is recorded as a charge to cost of goods sold. If changes in market
conditions resutt in reductions in the estmated market value of our
inventory below our previous estimate, we would increase our reserve in
the period in which we made such a determination and record a charge
to cost of goods sold.

Goodwill and Other Intangibles.  In accordance with Statements of
Financial Accounting Standards ("S$FAS™) No. 142, "Goodwill and
Other Intangible Assets,” we do not amortize goodwill and imtangible
assets with indefinite lives. but instead measure these assets for
impairment at least annually, or when events indicate that
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lives over their useful lives.

Income Taxes. As part of the process of preparing our financial
statemnents, we are required to estimate our income taxes in each of
the jurisdictions in which we operate. This process involves us
estimating our aciual current income tax exposure together with
assessing temporary differences resulting from differing treatment of
items, such as deferred revenue, for income tax and accounting
purposes. These differences result in deferred income tax assets
and liabilities, which are included in our Balance Sheets. We must then
assess the likelihood that our deferred income tax assets will be
recovered from future taxable inzome and, to the extent we believe
that recovery is nat likely, we must establish a vaiuation allowance. To
the extent we establish a valuation allowance or increase this
allowance in a period, we must include an expense within the
income tax provision in the Statements of Operations.

Significant management judgment is required in determining our
provisicn for income taxes, deferred income tax assets and
liabilities and any valuation allowance recorded against our net
deferred income tax assets. Management continually evaluates our
deferred income tax asset as to whether it is likely that the deferred
income tax assets will be realized. If management ever determined
that our deferred income tax asset was not likely to be realized, a
write-down of that asset would be required and would be reflected in
the provision for income taxes in the accompanying period.

Share-Based Compensation.  As discussed in Note |3, “Share-Based
Compensation” of Notes to Financial Statements included elsewhere
in this report, the fair value of stock options and warrants are
determined using the Black-Scholes valuation model The
assumptions used in calculating the fair value of share-based
payment awards represent our best estimates. Our estimates may
be impacted by certain variables including, but not limited to. stock
price volatility. employee stock option exercise behaviors, additional
stock option grants, estimates of forfeitures, and related income tax
impacts. See Note |13 for a further discussicn on stock-based
compensation and assumptions used.

Currency Rate Fluctuations

Changes in the relative values of non-U.S. currencies to the U.S. dollar
affect our results. We conduct a significant portion of our business in
foreign currencies, including the euro, the Swedish krona, the Swiss
franc and the Taiwan dollar. At December 31, 2006, currency changes
resuted in assets and fiabilities denominated in local currencies being
translated intc more dollars than at year-end 2005. We incurred
approximately 43% of our operating expenses in currencies other
than the US. dollar for the year ended December 31, 2006, In
general, these currencies were weaker against the US. doilar for the
year ended December 31, 2006 compared to the year ended
December 31, 2005, so revenues and expenses in these countries
translatad into fewer dollars than they would have in the prior period.
Additional discussion of foreign currency risk and other market risks is
included in “item 7a. — Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures
About Market Risk” appearing elsewhere in this Report




The following table sets forth, for the periods indicated. certain Statements of Operations data {dollars in thousands):

) 2006 2005 2004
For the Year Ended December 31, 3 % 5 % $ %
Revenue(l) $ 355489 100% $ 283698 100% $ 271658 100%
Networking group 268074 75 236,782 83 227,192 84
Optical components group 93381 26 50444 18 46431 17
Gross margin(2) 112,282 ° 3l 89.719 32 91,806 34
Networking group 94,602 35 84,122 36 85333 38
Optical components group 17,797 19 5597 I 6473 14
Operating costs and expenses(2) . ) 115778 32 58,453 35 98,994 36
Networking group 95,718 3% 81,822 35 80,587 35
Optical components group 18,502 20 14510 30 16313 35
Developrment stage enterprise group 1,558 NM 1721 NM 2094 HNM
Operating income (loss)(2) (3496 (1) B730) (3 7188y (3)
Networking group (1.116) - 2,300 ! 4,746 2
Optical components group 705y () @313 (I18) (2.840)  (21H)
Develcpment stage enterprise group (1558) NM (1.721) NM (20949) NM

NM — not meaningfut

(1) Revenue information by segment includes intersegment revenue, primarily reflecting sales of fiber optic components to the networking group. No revenues were
generated by the development stage enterprise group for the periods presented.

(2) Statements of Operations data express percentages as a percentage of revenue. Statements of Operations data by segment express percentages as a percentage

of applicable segment revenue. No revenues or corresponding gross profit were generated by the development stage enterprise group for the periods presented.

The following management discussion and analysis refers 1o and analyzes our resuits of operations among three segmerits as defined by our
management. These three segments are cur networking group, optical components group and development stage enterprise group, which
includes all start-up activities. )

Year Ended December 31, 2006 (“2006”) Compared to Year Ended December 31, 2005 (“2005")

Revenue

The following table sets forth, for the periods indicated, certain revenue data from our Statements of Cperations {dellars in thousands):

% Change
$ % Constant
For the Year Ended December 31: 2006 2005 Change Change  Currency(2)
Networking group $ 268074 % 236782 % 31292 13% 15%
Optical components group 93.381 50,446 42,935 85 88
Development stage enterprise group - - - - -
361,455 287.228 74227 26 23
Adjustments(1) ) (4.966) (3.530) (1436) NM NM
Total $ 356489 § 283698 § 72751 6% 27%

NM — not meaningful
(1} Adjustments represent the elimination of intersegment revenue in order to reconcile to consolidated revenues.

(2) Percentage information in constant currencies in the table above and in the text below excludes the effect of foreign currency translation an reported results. Constant
currency results were calkulated by transiating the current year results at prior year avergge exchange rates,
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Far the Year Ended December 31: 2006 2005 $ Charge % Change
MNetwork equipment(|):
Americas $ 42677 3 38499 % 4178 I1%
Eurcpe 47428 43,146 4,282 10
Asia Pacific 10,369 4,151 6218 150
Other regions 199 295 (96) (33
Total network equipment 100673 86,091 14,582 17
Network integration(2):
Europe 167,394 150,687 16,707 I
Total network integration 167,394 ' 150,687 16,707 I
Fiber optic components(3):
Arnericas 73889 34,824 39,065 112
Europe 4,288 4296 (8) -
Asia Pacific 10,202 7518 2,684 36
Other regions 43 282 (239) (85}
Total fiber optic components 88,422 46920 41,502 88
Total '$ 356489 . F 283498 § 72791 2%

{1) Network eguipment revenue primarily consists of MRV's internally
developed products, such as Metro Ethernet equipment, optical transport
equipment, out-of-band network equipment, defense and aerospace network
applications, the related service revenue and fiber optic components sold as
part of the system solution.

(2) Network integration revenue primarily consists of value-added integration
and support service revenue, related third-party product sales (including third-
party product sales through distributicn} and fiber optic components sold as
part of the system solution.

(3) Fiber optic components revenue primarily consists of fiber optic
components, such as components for FTTP applications, fiber optic
transceivers, discrete lasers and LEDs, that are not sold as part of MRV's
network equipment or network integration solutions.

Revenues for 2006 increased $72.8 million, or 26%, to $356.5 million
from $283.7 milion for 2005. Geographically, revenues in the
Americas increased $43.2 million, or 59%, to $116.6 million for
2006 from $73.3 milion for 2005, which was largely due to
shipments of our fiber optic components for FTTP deployments.
Revenues in Europe increased $2 .0 million, or 11%, to $219.1 million
for 2006 from $198.1 million in 2005, which was primarily a result of
increased revenue from our network integration and distribution
activities throughout Europe. Revenues in Asia Pacific increased
$8.9 million, or 76%, to $20.6 million for 2006 from $11.7 millien
for 2005, primarily because of a large order shipped to a tier-one
customer in Japan for MRV's optical transport products. Revenue
would have been $4.9 million higher in 2006 had foreign currency
exchange rates remained the same as they were in 2005.

Networking Group. Our networking group includes two distinct
groups of similar products and services: netwark equipment and
network integration, which are described in the table above.
Revenues, including intersegment revenues, generated from our
networking group increased $31.3 milion, or 3% to
$268.1 million for 2006 as compared to $236.8 million for 2005.
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External network equipment revenues increased $14.6 million, or
[ 7%, to $100.7 million for 2006 from $86.1 million for 2005, which
was primarily the result of a large order shipped to a tier-one
customer in Japan for MRV's optical transport products. External
netwark integration revenues increased $16.7 million, or 1%, to
$167.4 million far 2006 from ${50.7 million for 2005, which was due
primarily to increased revenue from our network integration and
distribution activities throughout Europe. Revenue would have been
$3.4 million higher in 2006 had foreign currency exchange rates
remained the same as they were in 2005,

Optical Combonents Group.  Our optical components group designs,
manufactures and sells fiber optic components, which are described in
the table above and primarily consist of products manufactured by our
wholly-owned  subsidiary, Luminent, Inc. Revenues, including
intersegment revenue, generated from ocur optical components
group increased $42.9 million, or 85%, to $93.4 milion for 2006 as
compared to $50.4 million for 2005. Approximately 69% of optical
components’ revenue related to shipments of optical components used
by those customers in the early stages of deploying FTTP networks.
FTTP networks use fiber optic cables, rather than copper cables, to
deliver voice, video and high-speed data to customer premises. These
networks can transmit voice, data and video signals at speeds and
capacities far exceeding the traditional broadband services offered by
telecommunication  providers. FTTP  deployment  wilt  aflow
communication providers to offer superior services at very
competitive prices. Shipments of FTTP products for 2006 totaled
approximately $64.2 million, compared to $29.6 million for 2005.
Recent announcements suggest that FTTP deployments in North
America made services available to approximately six million homes
through 2006 and that continuing deployments are expected to make
FTTP services available to an additional three million residences each
year through the end of 261 0; however, the number of actual residential
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to 40% of the tctal deployments We expect sales of FTTP products to
continue to grow for 2007 and beyond. However, this forward-looking
statement may not come to pass if the actual deployments do not meet
the expectations of industry announcements, if the orders we expect
1o receive do not materialize, are delayed or cancelled or if we are
unable to ship the products as required. Additionally, revenue from
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Gross Profit
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$|25 milliort in 2005. Revenue would have been $1.5 mwlhon h\gher
in 2006 hac foreign currency exchange rates remained the same as they
were in 2005.
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Development Stage Enterprise Group. No revenues were generated
by this group for 2006 and 2005,

The following table sets forth, for the periods indicated, certain gross profit data from our Statements of Operaticns (dallars in thousands):

% Change
3 % Constant
For the Year Ended December 31: 2006 2005 Change Change  Currency(2)
Networking group % 94602 % 84122 % 10480 12% 14%
Optical components group 17,797 5.597 12,200 28 223
Development stage enterprise group - - - - -
112399 8%.719 22,680 25 27
Adjustments( ) {117 (7 NM NM
Total $ 112282 $ 89719 $ 22563 25% 27%

NM — not meaningful

(1) Adjustments represent the elimination of intersegment revenue in order
to reconcile to consolidated gross profit.

(2) Percentage information in constant currencies in the table above and in the
text below exdudes the effect of foreign currency translation on reported
results, Constant currency results were calculated by translating the current
year results at prior year average exchange rates.

Gross profit increased $22.6 million, or 25%, to $112.3 milion for
2006 from $89.7 million for 2005. Our gross margin decreased to
31% for 2006, as compared to 32% for 2005. The decrease in gross
margin was primarily the impact of the adoption of SFAS Ne. 123(R)
on January 1, 2006, which reduced gross profit by $31 1,000 for the
recognition of share-based compensation expense in 2006. Gross
profit would have been $14 million higher in 2006 had foreign
currency exchange rates remained the same as they were in 2005,

Networking Group. Gross profit for our networking group was
$94.6 million for 2006 compared to $84.1 milion for 2005, an
increase of $10.5 million. Gross margins decreased to 35%, as
compared to 36% for 2005. The slight decrease in gross margins
in 2006 was the result of differences in the composition of the
products we sold in each period. Gross profit would have been
$1.2 million higher in 2006 had foreign currency exchange rates
remained the same as they were in 2005, Gross profit was negatively
impacted by the adoption of SFAS Ne. [23(R) on January |, 2006,
which reduced gross profit by $96,000 for the recognition of share-
based compensation expense in 2006.
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Optical Components Group.  Gross profit for 2006 was $17.8 million,
compared to $5.6 million for 2005, an increase of $12.2 million, Our
optical compenents group gross margin increased to 9% for 2006, as
compared 10 gross margin of |1% for 2005. The increase in gross
margin in 2006 was primarily the resuft of increased revenue coupled
with our transition of volume manufacturing o our optical
components faclity in Taiwan and to third-party contract
manufacturers in China, which we expect to continue to result in
savings in direct labor costs in connection with manufacturing. We will
continue o assess the optimal cost structure within our operations,
and attempt to adjust the cost structure as necessary. This increase in
gross profit was partially offset by the $927.000 write-down of
material associated with end-of-life and discontinued products
produced in the United States related to legacy fiber-to-the-curb
and fiberto-the-home modules that was recorded in the fourth
quarter of 2006. The effect of currency fluctuations did not have a
significant impact on the year-over-year change in our gross profit
Gross profit was negatively impacted by the adoption of
SFAS Na. 123(R) on January |, 2006, which reduced gross profit
by $215000 for the recognition of share-based compensation
expense in 2006.

Development Stage Enterprise Group. As we had no sales by

this group, no gross margins were generated by this group for
2006 and 2005.
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The following table sets forth, for the periods indicated, certain operating costs and expenses data from our Statements of Operations (dollars in
thousands):

% Change
$ % Constant
For the Year Ended December 3% 2006 2005 Change Change  Currency(l)
Networking group $ 95718 % 81822 % 138% 7% 1 8%
Optical components group 18,502 14910 3592 24 25
Development stage enterprise group 1,558 1,721 (163) 9 %
Total $ 115778 % 98453 % 17325 18% 19%
(1) Percentage information in constant currencies in the table above and in the remained the same as they were in 2005, Operating costs and
text below excludes the effect of foreign currency tn-lnsiatio.n on reported expenses were negatively impacted by the adoption of
results. Constant currency results were calculated by translating the current SFAS No. 123(R) on January |, 2006, which increased product

ear results at prior year average exchange rates. . ) )
7 prory & B development and engineering expenses by $468,000 and selling,

Cperating costs and expenses were $115.8 million, or 32% of general and administrative expenses by $1.9 million for the
revenues, for 2006, compared to $98.5 milion, or 35% of recognition of share-based compensation expense in 2006.
revenues, for 2005 Operating cosis and expenses increased

$17.3 million in 2006 compared to 2005, Our operating costs and Optical Components Group.  Operating costs and expenses for 2006

were $18.5 million, or 20% of revenues, compared to $14.9 million, or
30% of revenues, for 2005, Operating costs and expenses increased
%3.6 million, or 24%, in 2006 compared to 2005. Operating costs and
expenses increased across all expense categories, but decreased.
sigrificantly as a percentage of revenue, which benefited from the
increased sales volume, particulariy from FTTP products. The effect of

expenses increase was largely the result of increases in sales and
marketing expenses from the additional investment in our North
American sales organization in the networking group. Operating Costs
and expenses would have been $1.0 milion higher in 2006 had
foreign currency exchange rates remained the same as they were in
2005. Operating costs and expenses were negatively impacted by the
adoption of SFAS No. 123(R) on January |, 2006, which increased currency fluctuations did not have a significant impact on the
product development and engineering expenses by $775,000 and year-overyear change in our operating costs and expenses.
selling, general and administrative expenses by $2.4 million for the Operating costs and expenses were negatively impacted by the

recognition of share-based compensation expense in 2006. adoption of SFAS No. 123(R} on January I, 2006, which increased
product development and engineering expenses by $307.000 and

Networking Group. Operating costs and expenses for 2006 were selling, general and administrative expenses by $452,000 for the
$95.7 million, or 36% of revenues, compared to $81.8 million, or 35% recognition of share-based compensation expense in 2006.

of revenues, for 2005. Operating costs and expenses increased

$13.9 milion, or 17%, in 2006 compared to 2005. The increase in Development Stage Enterprise Group.  Operating costs and expenses
operating costs and expenses was primarily the result of increased for 2006 were $1.6 milion compared to $1.7 million for 2005,
sales and marketing expenses, particularly relating to the expansion of Operating costs and expenses decreased $163,000, or 9%, in
our MNorth American sales organization, and share-based 2006 compared to 2005. We attribute the decrease in operating
compensation expense. Operating costs and expenses would have costs and expenses to our cost saving efforts to align these costs with
been $884,000 higher in 2006 had {foreign currency exchange rates current development activities.

Operating Income (Loss)

The following table sets forth, for the periods indicated. certain operating income {foss) data from our Statements of Operations (dollars in
thousands):

% Change

3 % Constant

For the Year Ended Cecember 31; 2006 2005 Change Change  Currency{2)

Networking group $ (1M1 $ 2300 % (3416 (149% {137)%
Optical components group (705) (9.313) 8,608 (92) 94)
Development stage enterprise group (1,558) (4.721) 163 &) )]
(3379 {8734} 5.353 (61) (66)
Adjustments{ ) (147 - {117y NM NM

Total ' $ (3496) $ (8734) % 5238 (60)% (65)%
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{1} Adjustments represent the elimination of intersegment revenue in order
1o reconcile to consolidated operating income {loss).

(2) Percentage information in constant currencies in the table above and in the text
below excludes the effect of foreign currency translation on reported results.
Constant currency results were calculated by vanslating the current year results
at prior yeor gverage exchange rates.

We reported an operating loss of $3.5 million, or 1% of revenues, for
2006 compared to an operating loss of $8.7 million, or 3% of
revenues. for 2005, an improvement in our results of $5.2 million
in 2006 compared to 2005, This improvernent in our results was
primarily the result of the increase in our gross profit and the decrease
of operating expenses as a percentage of revenue. Operating loss
would have been $417,000 less in 2006 had foreign currency
exchange rates remained the same as they were in 2005. In 2006,
our operating income was negatively impacted by the adoption of
SFAS No. 123(R) on January |, 2006, which decreased our operating
income by $34 milion for the recognition of share-based
compensation expense.

Networking Group. QOur networking group reported an operating
loss totaling $1.1 million for 2006, compared to operating income of
$2.3 million for 2005, a decrease of $3.4 million. This decrease was
primarily the result of increased sales and marketing expenses,
particularly relating to the expansion of our North American sales
organization, and share-based compensation expense of $2.5 million.
which we incurred as a consequence of the adoption of
SFAS No. 123(R)on January |, 2006. Operating foss would have
been $275.000 less in 2006 had foreign currency exchange rates
rermained the same as they were in 2005.

Optical Components Group. Qur  optical components  group
reported an operating loss of $705,000, or 1% of revenues, for
2006, compared to an operating loss of $2.3 milion, or 8% of
revenues, for 2005. Our operating loss improved $8.6 million, or $2%,
in 2006 compared to 2005. The improvement in our operating loss
was the result of the increased gross profit. partially offset by the
increase In operating costs and expenses. Our operating loss was
negatively impacted by the adoption of SFAS No. [23(R) on
January 1, 2006, which decreased our operating income by
$! milion for the recognition of share-based compensation
expense in 2006. Operating loss would have been $141,000 less
in 2006 had foreign currency exchange rates remained the same as
they were in 2005.

Development Stage Enterprise Group. Qur development stage
enterprise group reported an operating loss of $1.6 million for

2006 as compared to $1.7 milion for 2005. Our operating loss.

improved $163,000, or 9%, in 2006 compared to 2005. The
improvement was the result of a reduction in spending for
operating costs and expenses. '
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Interest expense was $3.5 million and $4.2 mitlion for 2006 and 2005,
respectively. Other income, net principally includes interest income
on cash, cash equivalents and invesiments and gains (losses) on
foreign currency transactions. Interest income was $5.0 million and
$20 million for 2006 and 2005, respectively, an increase of
$2.9 million, or 146%. The increase in interest income was a result
of higher yields on investments in 2006 compared o 2005 and
incremental interest on the $69.9 milion net proceeds from the
private placement of approximately 19.9 million shares of our
common stock issued to a group of institutional investars, which
was completed in March 2006, Gains on the disposition of assets
were $467,000 and $37,000 in 2006 and 2005, respectively, an
increase of $430,000.

Provision for Income Taxes

The provision for income taxes for 2006 was $39 milion as
compared to $5.8 million for 2005. During 2006, we reduced the
valuation allowance relating to $1.6 miltion of deferred income tax
assets of a foreign subsidiary that previously had a full valuation
allowance recorded against those deferred income tax assets, since
the foreign subsidiary’s recent income and expected future taxable
income, had caused us to conclude that the subsidiary’s deferred
income tax assets will be realized. During 2005, we recorded an
additional valuation allowance against certain deferred income tax
assets associated with foreign jurisdictions. Our income tax expense
fluctuates based on the amount of income generated in the various
jurisdictions where we conduct operations and pay income tax.

Tax Loss Carryforwards

As of December 31, 2006, we had NQLs of approximately
$171.8 million for federal income tax purposes and approximately
$214.4 million for state income tax purposes. We also had capital loss
carryforwards totaling $262.0 million as of December 31, 2006, which
begin to expire in 2007. Under Section 382 of the Internal Revenue
Code, if a corporation undergoes an 'ownership change.” the
corporation’s ability to use its pre-change NOLs, capital loss
carryforwards and other pre-change tax attributes to offset its
post-change income may be limited. An ownership change is
generally defined as a greater than 50% change in its equity
ownership by value over a three-year pericd. We may experience
an ownership change in the future as a result of subsequent shiits in
our stock ownership, including as a result of our contemplated
issuance of shares pursuant to the Fiberxon transaction. if we

. were to trigger an ownership change in the {uture, our ability to

use any NOLs and capital loss carryforwards existing at that time
could be limited.
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Revenue

The following table sets forth, for the pericds indicated, certain revenue data from our Statements of Operations (dollars in thousands):

% Change
3 % Constant
For the Year Ended December 31: 2005 2004 Change Change  Currency(2)
Networking group $ 236782 $ 227192 % 9590 1% 4%
Optical components group 50,446 46,431 4015 9 6
Development stage enterprise group - - - - -
287,228 273,623 13,605 5 5
Adjustrents(1) (3.530) {1.965) (1.565) NM NM
Total $ 283698 § 271638 3 12040 4% 4%

NM — not meaningful

(1} Adjustments represent the elimination of intersegment revenue in order to recencile to consolidated revenues.

(2) Percentage information in constant currencies in the 1able above and in the text below excludes the effect of foreign currency transiation on reported results.
Constant currency results were calculated by transfating the current year results at prior year average exchange rates.

The following table sets forth, for the periods indicated, revenues by groups of similar products by geographical region (dollars in thousands):

For the Year Ended December 3i: 2005 2004 $ Change % Change
Network equipment(): .
Americas $ 38499 $ 34547 § 3952 HI%
Europe 43,146 43,608 (462) {h
Asia Pacific 4151 3901 250 6
Other regions 295 2,589 (2.239) (89
Total network equipment 86,091 84,645 1,446 2
Network integration(2):
Europe 150,687 142,541 8,146 6
Total network integration 150.687 142,541 8,146 6
Fiber optic components(3):
Americas 34824 29,189 5.635 19
Europe 4,296 5872 {1,576) (27
Asia Pacific 7518 %271 (1.753) (19)
Other regions 282 140 142 101
Total fiber optic components 46,920 44472 2,448 6
Total ($283698  $271.658  $12040 4%

(1) Network equipment revenue primarily consists of MRV's internally
developed products, such as Metro Ethernet equipment, optical transport
equipment, out-cf-band netwark equipment, defense and aerospace network
applications, the related service revenue and fiber optic components sold as
part of the system solution,

(2) Network integration revenue primarity consisis of value-added integration
and support service revenue, related third-party product sales (including third-
party product sales through distribution} and fiber optic components sold as
part of the system solution.

(3) Fiber optic components revenue primarily consists of fiber optic
components, such as componerts for FTTP applications, fiber optic
transceivers, discrete lasers and LEDs, that are not sold as part of MRV's
network equipment or network integration solutions.
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Revenues for 2005 increased $12.0 million, or 4%, to $283.7 million
from $271.7 million for 2004. Geographically, revenues in the
Americas increased $3.6 million, or 15%, to $73.3 million for 2005
from $63.7 million for 2004, which was largely due to shipments of
our fiber optic components for FTTP deployments and our
MRV network equipment. Revenues in Europe increased
$6.1 million, or 3%, to $198.1 million for 2005 from $192.0 million
in 2004, which was primarily a result of increased revenue from our
network integration and distribution activities in ltaly. The impact of

. foreign currency did not have a significant impact on the

year-over-year increase in revenues.




generated from our networking group increased $9.6 million, or
4%, to $236.8 million for 2005 as compared to $227.2 million for
2004. External network equipment revenues increased $1.4 mitlion,
or 2%, 1o $86.1 million for 2005 frorm $84.6 million for 2004, External
network integration revenues increased $8.1 million, or 6%, to
$150.7 million for 2005 from $142.5 million for 2004, which was
due primarily to increased revenue from our network integration and
distribution activities in ftaly. The impact of foreign currency did not
have a significant impact on the year-over-year increase in revenues.

Opticat  Components Group, Revenues, including  intersegment
revenue, generated from our optical components group increased

Gross Profit

$46.4 million for 2004. Approximately 59% of optical components’
revenue related to shipmenits of optical components used by those
customers in the early stages of deploying FTTP networks, Shipments
of FTTP products for 2005 totaled approximately $29.6 million,
compared to $24.0 milign for 2004. The impact of foreign
currency did not have a significant impact on the year-overyear
increase in revenues.

Development Stage Enterprise Group.  No revenues were generated
by this group for 2005 and 2004

The following table sets forth, for the periods indicated, certain gross profit data from our Statements of Operations (dollars in thousands):

% Change
% % Constant
For the Year Ended December 31: 2005 2004 Change  Change  Currency(l)
Networking group $84,122  $85333 (1211 (% (%
Optical components group 5597 6473 (876) (14) {7
Development stage enterprise group - - - -
Totall  $89719 391806  $(2087) (2)% (2%

{1} Percentage information in constant currencies in the table above and in the
text below excludes the effect of foreign currency translation on reported
resuits. Constant currency results were calculated by translating the current
year results at prior year average exchange rates.

Gross profit decreased $2.] million. or 2%, to $8%.7 million for 2005
from $9 1.8 million for 2004. Qur gross margin decreased to 32% for
2005, as compared to 34% for 2004. The decrease in gross margin
was primarily from the increase in sales of fiber optic components that
yield in gross margins that are lower than the company wide average.
The effect of currency fluctuations did not have a significant impact on
the year-overyear change in our gross profit

Networking Group. Gross profit for our networking group was
$84.1 million for 2005 compared to $85.3 milion for 2004, a
decrease of $1.2 million. Gross margins decreased to 36% in 2005
compared 1o 38% in 2004. The decrease in gross margins was due
to the composition of products sold. The effect of currency
fluctuations did not have a significant impact on the yearover-year
change in our gross profit.

Optical Components Group.  Gross profit for 2005 was $5.6 million,
compared to $6.5 million for 2004, a decrease of $876,000. Our
optical components group gross margin decreased to | 1% for 2005,

as compared to gross margin of |4% for 2004. The decrease in gross
margin in 2005 was partially the result of our agreement with certain
customers, primarily purchasing FTTP components, to reduce prices,
which for the short-term meant we realized lower gross profit, with
the expectation that this decision to reduce the prices of our
FTTP components in the short-term would help in our effort to
secure a leadership position in this market for the long term. In an
effort to improve gross marging, we continued our transition of
volume manufacturing to our optical compenents facility in Taiwan
and to third-party contract manufacturers in China which we
expected to continue to resuft in savings in direct labor costs in
manufacturing, In the fourth guarter of 2005, we achieved gross
margins of 20% in our optical components group, which we believe
is a resuit of these operational changes. YWe will continue to assess the
optimal cost structure within our operations, and attempt to adjust
the cost structure as necessary. The effect of currency fluctuations
did not have a significant impact on the year-overyear change in
our gross profit.

Development Stage Enterprise Group. As we had no sales by

this group, no gross margins were generated by this group for
2005 and 2004.
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The following table sets forth, for the periods indicated, certain operating costs and expenses data from our Statements of QOperaticns (doflars in

thousands):
% Change
$ % Constant
For the Year Ended December 31: 2005 2004 Change  Change  Currency(l)
Netwarking group $81.822 $B0S587 & 1235 2% %
Optical components group 14910 16313 {1,403} [E)] {10}
Development stage enterprise group 1,721 2,094 (373) (18) {18)
Totat $98453  $98994 $ (541) (N% (1%

(1} Percentage information in constant currendies in the table above and in the
text below excludes the effect of foreign currency translation on reported
results. Constant currency results were calculated by translating the current
year results at prior year average exchange rates.

Operating costs and expenses were $98.5 milion, or 35% of
revenues, for 2005, compared to $990 milion, or 36% of
revenues, for 2004, Operating costs and experses decreased by
$541,000 in 2005 compared to 2004, despite increasing revenue
year-over-year. The effect of currency fluctuations did not have a
significant impact on the year-over-year change in our operating costs
and expenses.

Networking Group. Operating costs and expenses for 2005 were
$81.8 million, or 35% of revenues, compared to $80.6 million, or 35%
of revenues, for 2004, Operating costs and expenses increased
$1.2 million, or 2%, in 2005 compared to 2004, The increase in
operating costs and expenses is the result of an increase in the
investment in product development and engineering expenses,
primarily for defense-related development, and increased sales and

Operating Income (Loss)

marketing expenses. The effect of currency fluctuations did aot have a
significant impact on the year-over-year change in our operating costs
and expenses.

Optical Compornients Group.  Operating costs and expenses for 2005
were $14.9 million, or 30% of revenues, compared to $16.3 million, or
35% of revenues, for 2004. Operating costs and expenses decreased
$1.4 million, or 9%, in 2005 compared to 2004. Operating costs and
expenses decreased across all expense categories. The effect of
currency fluctuations did not have a significant impact on the
year-over-year change in our operating costs and expenses.

Development Stage Enterprise Group.  Operating costs and expenses
for 2005 were $1.7 million, compared to $2.1 million for 2004.
Operating costs and expenses decreased $373000, or 18%, in
2005 compared to 2004. We attribute the decrease in operating
costs and expenses to our cost saving efforts, which mainly consisted
of significant headcount reductions to align these costs with current
development activities. '

The following table sets forth, for the periods indicated, certain operating income (loss) data from our Statements of Operations (dollars in

thousands):
% Change

3 % Constant
For the Year Ended December 31: 2005 2004 Change  Change  Currency(l)
Networking group $2300 $4746  $(2/446) (5% (5%
Optical components group (8313). (9.840) 527 > O]
Development stage enterprise group (1.721)  (2094) 373 (18} (18)

Total $(8.734) $(7.188) 3(1546) 2% 22%

(1) Percentage information in constant currencies in the table above and in the
text below excludes the effect of foreign currency translation on reported
results. Constant currency results were calculated by translating the current
year results at prior year average exchange rates.

We reported an operating loss of $8.7 million, or 3% of revenues, for
2005 compared to an operating loss of $7.2 milfion, or 3% of
revenues, for 2004, a decrease in our resulis of $1.5 million in
2005 compared to 2004, The decrease was the result of the
decrease in our gross profit. The effect of currency fluctuations did
not have a significant impact on the year-over-year change in our
operating income {loss).
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Networking Group. Qur networking group reported operating
income totaling $2.3 million for 2005, compared to $4.7 million for
2004, a decrease of $2.4 million. This decrease was the result of the
decrease in our gross profit and an increase in operating costs and
expenses The effect of currency fluctuations did not have a significant
impact on the year-over-year change in our operating income.

Optical Components Group. Qur optical components group
reported an operating loss of $9.3 million, or 8% of revenues, for
2005, compared to an operating loss of $9.8 million, or 21% of
revenues, for 2004. Qur operating loss improved $527,000, or 5%, in




the result of the decrease in operating costs and expense, partially
offset by a reduction in gross profit. The effect of currency fluctuations
did not have a significant impact on the year-over-year change in our
operating income (loss).

Development Stage Enterprise Group. Our development stage
enterprise group reported an operating loss of $1.7 milion for
2005 as compared to $2.1 million for 2004. Our operating loss
improved $373000, or 8%, in 2005 compared to 2004. The
improvement was the result of a reduction in spending for
operating costs and expenses,

Interest Expense and Other Income, Net

Interest expense was $4.2 million andt $3.1 million for 2005 and 2004,
respectively. The increase in interest expense was primarily due to
additional interest expense recognized of $326.000 in 2005 for
fluctuations in the fair value of certain interest rate swaps utilized
by one of our foreign offices along with a higher average interest rate
on variable interest debt compared tc 2004, Other income, net
principally includes interest income on cash and investments and gains
(losses} on foreign currency transactions totaling $2.4 millien and
$2.7 million for 2005 and 2004, respectively.

Provision for Income Taxes

The provision for income taxes for 2005 was $5.8 million, compared
1o $3.0 million for 2004. The increase in provision for income tax in
2005 versus 2004 was primarily due to increases in income in various
jurisdictions where we pay income tax. During 2005, we recorded an
additional valuation allowance against certain deferred income tax
assets associated with foreign jurisdictions. Qur income tax expense
fluctuates based on the amount of income generated in the various
jurisdictions where we conduct operations and pay income tax.

Recently Issued Accounting Standards

For a discussion of recently issued accounting standards relevant to
our financial performance, see Note 2 of Notes to Financial
Statementts inciudeg elsewhere in this report.

Liquidity and Capital Resources

We had cash and cash equivalents of $91.7 million as of December 31,
2006, 2n increase of $23.7 million from the cash and cash equivalents
of $68.0 million we had as of December 31, 2005. The increase in
cash and cash equivalents was primarily the result of the net proceeds
we received from the issuance and sale of our common stock in a
private placement to institutional investors that we completed in
March 2006, partially offset by investments in marketable securities
and cash used in operations. The increase in cash and cash equivalents
was partially offset by our purchase of marketable securities, cash we
used in our operations, the timing of cash collections from customers,
cash we used to procure necessary raw materials and components to
build our inventories for products we expect to ship in the future,

i3

term and long-term obligations. The following table illustrates our
cash position, which we define as cash, cash equivalents, time depasits
and short-term and long-term marketable securities, as it relates to
our debt position, which we define as all short-term and long-term
obligattons including our 2003 Notes (dollars in thousands):

: Decernber 31,  December 31,
At 2006 2005
Cosh
Cash and cash equivalents $ 9172 $ 67984
Short-term marketable securities 25,864 -
Time deposits 82t 1,475

118,407 69,459
Debt
5% convertible notes due 2008 23,000 23,000
Short-term cbligations{|) 26,289 30,378
Long-term debt 88 284

49377 53,662
Excess cash versus debt $  69.030 $ 15797
Ratio of cash versus debi(2) 241 .31

{1} Includes current maturities of kong-term debt.

(2} Determined by dividing total “cash” by total “debt.” in each case as
reflected in the table.

Working Capital

Working capital means the difference between current assets and
current liabilities at particular points in time. The following table
illustrates our working capital position (dollars in thousands):

December 31, December 31,
At 2006 2005
Current assets $ 289514 $ 202,842
Current liabilities 116927 113,328
Working capital $ 172587 $ 99514
Current ratio{{} 251 1.9:1

(1) Determined by dividing total “current assets” by total “current liabilities” in
each case as reflected in the table,

Current assets increased $76.7 million primarily as a resuft of
increases in cash and cash equivalents, short-term marketzble
securities and inventories. The increase in cash and cash
equivalents and shart-tarm marketable securities was primarily the
result of the net proceeds from our March 2006 private placement of
our common stock. Fluctuations in current assets typically result from
the timing of. shipments of our products to customers, receipts of
inventories from and payments to our vendors, cash used for capital
expenditures and the effects of changes in foreign currency.
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increases in accounts payable, deferred revenue and other current
liabilities, partially offset by the decrease in short-term obiigations.
Fluctuations in current liabilities typically resutt from the timing of.
payments 1o our vendors for raw materials. timing of payments for
accrued liabilities, such as payroll related expenses and interest on our
short-term and long-term obligations, changes in deferred revenue,
income tax liabilities and the effects of changes in foreign currencies.

Cash Flow

The following table sets forth, for the periods indicated, certain cash
flow data from our Statements of Cash Flows (dallars in thousands):

For the Year Ended December 31: 2006 2005

Net cash provided by (used in):
Operating activities $(11.722)  $(20.307)
(30,695) 1,712

65,484 10933

Investing activities
Financing activities
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and cash

equivalents 671" (1580)

MNet change in cash and cash equivalents $23738 $ (9.242)

Cash Flows Related to Operating Activities. Cash used in operating
activities was $1 1.7 million for the year ended December 31, 2006,
compared to cash used in operating activities of $20.3 milion for
same period last year. Cash used in operating activities was a result of
our net loss of $5.5 million, adjusted for non-cash items such as
depreciation and amortization, additional allowances for doubtful
accounts, share-based compensation expense, deferred income
taxes and gains on the disposition of fixed assets. In 2006,
decreases in accounts receivable and increases in other current
liabilities positively affected cash used in operating activities. In the
sarne period, cash used in operating activities was negatively affected
by increases in inventories and other assets. The decrease in accounts
receivable resutted from the timing of customer payments and
collection efforts. The increase in inventories was primarily the
result of our purchase of raw materials and components for
products we expect to ship in the future. Cash used in operating
activities for the prior period was the result of our net loss adjusted
for nan-cash items and changes in working capital.

Contractual Cash Obligations

activities was »3U./ milion tor ine year ended Llecempber 2.
2006, compared to cash provided by investing activities totaling
$1.7 million for the same period last year. Cash used in investing
activities for 2006 was primarily the result of capital expenditures and
the purchase of short-term marketable securities. As of December 31,
2006, we had no plans for major capital expenditures. Cash flows
provided by investing activities for the prior period resufted from the
maturity of marketable securities, partially offset by cash used for
capital expenditures.

Cash Flows Related to Financing Activiies. Cash fiows provided by
financing activities were $655 milion for the year ended
Decermber 31, 2006, as compared to cash flows provided by
financing activities of $10.9 million for the same period last year.
Cash provided by financing activities was primarily the result of net
proceeds from our issuance of common stock, the exercise of
employee stock options, and changes in other long-term liabilities,
partially offset by net payments on shortterm and long-term
obtigations. Cash flows provided by financing activities for the prior
period represent the net proceeds from the exercise of employee
stock options, changes in other long-term liabilities, and net cash
received on short-term borrowings.

In March 2006, we completed a private placement of approximately
19.9 million shares of our common stock at $3.75 per share for gross
proceeds of approximately $74.5 million with a group of institutional
investors. The net proceeds to us were approximately $69.9 million.
The net proceeds will be used for working capital, general corporate
purposes and in efforts to support our recent growth in revenues.
We may also use a portion of the net proceeds, currently intended for
general corporate purposes, to acquire or invest in technologies,
products or services that complement our business.

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements

We do not have transactions, arrangements and other relationships
with unconsolidated entities that are reasonably likely to affect our
liquidity or capital resources. We have no special purpose or limited
purpose entities that provided off-balance sheet financing, liquidity or
market or credit risk support, engaged in leasing, hedging, research
and development services, or other relationships that expose us to
liabifity that is not reflected on the face of the financials,

The following table illustrates our total contractual cash obligations as of December 31, 2006 (in thousands):

tess than Alfter
Cash Obligations Total | Year | -3Years 3-5Years 5 Years
Short-term obligations $26090  $26,090 $ - $ - $
Long-term debt 287 199 88 - -
5% convertible notes due June 2008 23,000 - 23,000 - -
Unconditional purchase obligations 177 9,155 - - 22
Operating leases 25977 6076 8,559 5318 6,024
Total contractuat cash obligations $84531  $41.520 $31.647 $5318 $6,046
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$84.5 million, of which, $41.5 million are due by December 31, 2007,
These total contractual cash abligations primarily consist of short-
term and long-term obligations, including our 5% convertible notes
due in June 2008, operating leases for our equipment and facilities and
unconditional purchase obligations for necessary raw materials.
Historically, these obligations have been satisfied through cash
generated from our operations or other avenues and we expect
that this will continue to be the case.

The table above does not reflect approximately $17 million of
purchase consideration that will be paid to the shareholders of
Fiberxon upon closing of the Fiberxon acquisition as well as the
deferred consideration payment of approximately $31.5 million to be
paid in cash and/or shares, or a combination thereof, that will be
paid to the shareholders of Fiberxon within 18 months of the
closing of the Fiberxon acquisition, or sooner upon the occurrence
of certain acceleration events. For further details on the announced
Fiberxon acquisition, please see Note |7, “Subsequent Events”
included in the “MNotes to Financial Statements” appearing
elsewhere in this Form 10-K

We believe that our cash on hand and cash flows from operations will
be sufficient to satisfy our current operations, capital expenditures
and product development and engineering requirements for at least
the next 12 months. Additionally, we also believe that our cash on
hand and cash flows from operations will be sufficient to satisfy aur
cash obligations to the Fiberxon shareholders upon the closing of
the announced Fiberxon acquisition and to, thereafter, support the
Fiberxon operations for at least the next 12 months. However,
we may choose to obtain additional debt or equity financing if we
believe it appropriate.

We are limited in the amaount of debt financing we may obtain and the
price per share of our common stock at which we may conduct equity
financings without triggering an acceleration of, or obtaining a waiver
from holders of, our 5% convertible notes due June 2008. For
additional information on these limitations and other restrictions of
our 5% convertible notes due June 2008, including our ability to incur
indebtedness, see the Risk Factors under ltem A of Part | of this
Report under the captions entitled “Our 2003 Notes Provide for
Various Events of Default That Would Entitle the Holder to Require
Us to Repay Upon its Demand the Outstanding Principal Amount,
Plus Accrued and Unpaid Interest. If We Complete the Acquisition of
Fiberxon Without Waivers from the Holder We Will be in Default.”
and “If Our Cash Flow Significantly Deteriorates In the Future, Qur
Liguidity and Ability to Operate Our Business Could Be Adversely
Affected.” Even if not restri¢ted under our 2003 Convertible Notes, if
we seek financing through issuance(s) of additional equity securties,
we may limit our ability to use available net operating loss and capital
loss carryforwards if, by doing so, such issuances separately, or
considered with other stock issuances we have made or make
within a three-year period (including issuances of our shares that
we make in connection our acquisition of Fiberxon if that transaction
is successfully consummated) results in an “ownership change” within
the meaning of Internal Revenue Code section 382. For additional
information on the potential limitations on our use of net operating
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2006, see the Risk Factor under Item | A of Part | of this Report under
the caption "Our Ability to Utitize Our NOLs and Certain Other Tax
Attributes May Be Limited.” Our future capital requirements will
depend on many factors, including cur rate of revenue growth, the
timing and extent of spending to support development of new
products and the expansion of sales and marketing efforts, the
timing of new product introductions and enhancements to existing
products and the market acceptance of our products.

Internet Access to Our Financial Documents

We maintain a website at www.mrv.com, We make available, free of
charge, either by direct access or a link to the SEC website, our annual
report on Form 10-K, quarterly reports on Form 10-Q, current
reports on Form 8-K and amendments to those reports filed or
furnished pursuant to Section 13(a) cor 15(d) of the Securities
Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, as soon as reasonably
practicable after such reports are electronically filed with, or
furnished to, the SEC. Qur reports filed with, or fumished to, the
SEC are also available directly at the SEC's website at wwwisec.gov.

ITEM 7A. QUANTITATIVE AND
QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT
MARKET RISKS

Market Risks

Market risk represents the risk of loss that may impact our
Consolidated Financial Statements through adverse changes in
financial market prices and rates and inflation. Our market risk
exposure results primarily from fluctuations in foreign exchange
and interest rates. We manage our exposure to these market risks
through aur regular operating and financing activities and, in certain
instances, through the use of derivative financial instruments. These
derivative instruments are used to manage risks of volatility in interest
and foreign exchange rate movements on ¢ertain assets, liabilities or
anticipated transactions and creates a relationship in which gains or
losses on derivative instruments are expected to counter-balance the
losses or gains on the assets, liabilities or anticipated transactions
exposed to such market risks.

Interest Rates. We are exposed to interest rate fluctuations on our
investments, short-term borrowings and long-term obligations. Qur
cash and short-term investments are subject to limited interest rate
risk, and are primanly maintained in money market funds and bank
deposits. Our variable-rate short-term borrowings are also subject to
limited interest rate risk because of their short-term maturities. Our
long-term obligations were entered into with fixed interest rates. As
of December 31, 2006, through a foreign office, we had two interest
rate swap contracts outstanding. The economic purpose of these
interest rate swap contracts is to protect our variable interest
debt from significant interest rate fluctuations. Unrealized gains on
these interest swap contracts for the year ended December 31, 2006
were approximately $161,000 and unrealized losses for the year
ended Decermber 31, 2005 were approximately $926,000, and
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Foreign Exchange Rates.  We operate on an international basis with a
portion of our revenues and expenses being incurred in currencies
other than the U.S. dollar. Fluctuation in the value of these foreign
currencies in which we conduct our business relative to the US. doflar
affect our results and will cause US, dollar translation of such
currencies to vary from one period to another. We cannot predict
the effect of exchange rate fluctuations upen future operating resutts,
However; because we have revenues and expenses in each of these
foreign currencies, the effect on our resulis of operations from
currency fluctuations is reduced.

Through certain foreign offices, and from time-to-time, we enter into
foreign exchange contracts in an effort to protect economically
currency  exchange risk related to purchase commitments
denominated in foreign currencies other than their functional
currency, primarily the US. dollar. These contracts cover periods
commensurate with known or expected exposures, generally less
than |12 months, As of December 31, 2006, we did not have any
foreign exchange contracts outstanding.

Certain assets, including certain bank accounts and accounts
receivables, exist in non-U.S, dollar-denominated currencies, which
are sensitive 1o foreign currency exchange rate fluctuations. The
non-US. denominated currencies are principally in the euro, the
Swedish krona, the Swiss franc and the Taiwan dollar. Additionally,
certain of our current and Iong-terrn' liabiities are denominaied in
these foreign currencies. At December 31, 2006, currency changes
resulted in assets and liabilities denominated in local currencies being
transtated into more dollars than at year-end 2005,

We incurred approximately 43% of our operating expenses in
currencies other than the US. dollar during the year ended
December 3, 2006, In general, these currencies were weaker
against the WS, dollar for the year ended December 31, 2006
compared to the same period last year, so revenues and expenses
in these countries translated into fewer dollars than they would have
in 2005. For 2006, we had approximately:

+ $24.9 million of operating expenses that were settled in the euro;

+ §1 1.4 milion of operating expenses that were settled in Swiss
francs;

* $7.3 million of operating expenses that were settled in Swedish
krona; and
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Had rates of these variaus {oreign currencies been | 0% higher relative
to the US. dollar during 2006, our costs would have increased

" approximately:

» $2.5 million related to expenses settled in euros;

* $1.1 million related to expenses settled in Swiss francs;

$729,000 in expenses settled in Swedish kronas; and

$567,000 in expenses settled in the Taiwan dollar.

The following table indicates, for the periods indicated, the U.S. dollar
equivalent of matertal amounts of currencies included in cash and cash
equivalents (in thousands):

For the Year Ended December 31: 2006 2005.
US. dollars $77.442  $57900
Euros 4,304 3,894
Swiss francs 5787 2987
Swedish kronas 2,172 2511
Taiwan dollars 2007 692
Total cash and cash equivalents $91,722 $67.984

Fluctuations in currency exchange rates of the above or other foreign
currencies we hold to the US. dollar would have a correspending
impact on the U.S. doliar equivalent of such currencies included in the
cash and cash equivalents reported our financial statements from
period to peried. Additionally, after the closing of the announced
acquisition of Fiberxon, we will be further exposed to fluctuations in
the RMB compared to the US. dollar as Fiberxon's principle
operations are conducted in China.

Inflation.  We believe that the relatively moderate rate of inflation in
the United States over the past few years has not had a significant
impact on our sales or operating results or on the prices of raw
materials. However, in view of our recent expansion of operations in
Taiwan, lsrael, China (through contract manufacturers and our
announced acquisition of Fiberxon) and other countries, which
have experienced and expect to experience greater inflation than
the United States, there can be no assurance that inflation will not
have a material adverse effect on our operating results in the future,
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

The Board of Directors and Stockholders of MRY Communications, Inc.

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of MRV Communications, Inc. {and subsidiaries) as of December 31, 2006 and
2005, and the related consclidated statements of operations, stockholders’ equity, and cash flows for each of the three years in the peried ended
December 31,2006, These financial statements are the responsibility of the Compariy's management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on
these financial statements based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States). Those standards
require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material
misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements, An audit
also inctudes assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall financial
statement presentation. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the consolidated financial position of MRV
Communications, Inc. (and subsidiaries) as of December 31, 2006 and 2005, and the consolidated results of their operations and their cash flows
for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2004, in conformity with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles.

As discussed in Nate 2 to the consolidated financial statements, MRV Communications, Inc. changed its method of accounting for Share-Based
Paymenits in accordance with Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No, 123 (revised 2004) on January |, 2006.

We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States), the effectiveness of
MRY Communications, Inc’s (and subsidiaries}) internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2006, based on criteria established in
Internal Control — Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission and our report
dated February 28, 2007 expressed an unqualified opinion thereon.

fsf  ERNST & YOUNG LLP

Woodland Hills, California
February 28, 2007
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Statements of Operatibns

(In thousands, except per share data)

For the Year Ended December 31: 2006 2005 2004
Revenue $356,489 $283.698 $271,658
Cost of goods sold 244,207 193,979 179,852
Gross profit 112,282 89.719 51,806
Operating costs and expenses:

Product development and engineering 28,187 26051 24949

Selling, general and administrative 87.53% 72,402 74045

Impairment of goodwill and other intangibles 52 - -
Total operating costs and expenses 115778 98,453 98,994
Operating loss (3.496) (8.7349) (7.188)
Interest expense (3.540) (4,207} (3.141)
Cther income (expense), net . 5386 2416 2,685
Loss before income taxes {1,650) (10,525) (7.644)
Provision for income taxes 3,865 5774 3036
Net loss $ (5515) $(16299) $(10.680)

Net loss per share:

Basic and diluted $ (005 $ (0l6) % (010
Weighted average number of shares:
Basic and diluted 120902 104,350 (04,793

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statemenis.
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Balance Shéets

(In thousands, except par values}

At December 31:

2006 . 2005

ASSETS

Current assets:
Cash and cash equivalents
Short-term marketable securities
Time deposits
Accounts receivable, net
Inventories
Deferred income taxes
Other current assets

Total current assets

Property and equipment, net
Goodwill

Deferred income taxes
Other assets

LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY
Currert Liabilities:

Short-term obligations

Accounts payable

Accrued liabitities

Deferred revenue

Other current Hiabilities

Total current liabilities
Convertible notes
Other fong-term liabilities
Minority interest
Commitments and contingencies
Stockholders' equity:
Preferred stock, $0.01 par value:
Authorized — 1,000 shares; no shares issued or outstanding
Common stock, $0.0017 par value:
Authorized —— 160,000 shares
Issued — 126,860 shares in 2006 and 105,849 shares in 2005
Cutstanding — 125,507 shares in 2006 and 104,496 shares in 2005
Additional paid-in capital
Accumulated deficit
Treasury stock — 1,353 shares in 2006 and 2005
Accumulated other comprehensive loss

Total stockholders” equity

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these balance sheets.
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'§ 91722 % 67984

25864 .
821" 1475
95244 92,466
61361 42216
895 873
13,607 7828
189514 212,842
14,472 14,065
36348 32,656
1,460 136
4728 4,478

©$346222 . $ 265.177

$ 26289 % 30378

47.384 45372
29.704 29272
7,624 6,076
5926 2230
116927 113328
23000 23,000
7,295 6694
5248 5,151
213 177
1231941 1,156209
(1036924)  (1,031409)
(1.352) (1.352)
(126) (6621)
193.752 117,004

$ 346222 B 265177
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State;n;ants Bfﬂéiéékﬁélders’ Equity and Comprehensive Income (Loss)

{In thousands)

Balance, Dec. 31, 2003
Exercise of stock options and warrants
Retirement of cornmon stock
Forfeited stock options
Amortization of deferred stock expense
Comprehensive income (loss):

Net loss

Transiation adjustment

Comprehensive loss

Balance, Dec. 31, 2004
Exercise of stock options and warrants
Issuance of common stock
Comprehensive income (loss):

Net foss

Net unrealized investment

gains {losses)

Translation adjustment

Comprehensive loss

Balance, Dec. 31, 2005
Exercise of stock options and warrants
Issuance of common stock
Share-based compensation expense
Comprehensive income (lossy:

Net loss

Net unrealized investment

gains (losses)

Translation adjustment

Comprehensive income

Balance, Dec. 31, 2006

The accomparying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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Additional  Deferred
_Common Stack* pyid-In Stock  Accumulated Treasury Comprehensive
Shares Amount  Capital Expense Ceficit Stock  iIncome (Loss) Total
105441  $179  $1,15486%  $(200)  $(1,004.430) $(1,352) % (3572)  $145494
381 - 614 - - - - 614
1749 (3 3 - - . . .
- - 02) . ; . . (12)
- - - 200 - - - 200
- - - (10.680) - - (40,680}
- - - - - - 7725 7,725
(2.955)
104,073 176 1,155,474 - (1.05010)  (1,352) 4,153 143,341
323 I 573 - - - - 574
100 - 162 - - - - 162
- - - - {16,299) - - (16299)
- - - - @) Q)
- . - - (10767) (10767)
(27073)
104,496 177 1,156,209 (1031409 (1.352) {6.62}) 117.004
1,153 2 2,459 - - - 24561
19,858 34 69.831 - - - 69.865
y . 3442 - - . . 3442
- ; - (5515) - - (5515)
- . - - . - 4 4
- - - - - - 6,491 6491
980
125507  $2i3  $1231941 & - $(1.036924) $(1.352) 5 (126} $193,752
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Statements of Cash Flows

{in thousands)

For the Year Ended December 31: 2006 2005 2004
Cash flows from operating activities:
MNet loss ) $ (5515) $(16299) $(10.680)
Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash used in operating activities:
Depreciation, amortization and other noncash items 5446 7.086 8239
Share-based compensation expense 3442 162 188
Provision for doubtful accounts 1,225 748 1.367
Deferred income taxes (1.3486) 1,276 199
{(Gain) loss on disposition of property and equipment (467) 37 235
Gain on sale of equity method investment G0 - -
Minority interests’ share of income 98 24 27
Impairment of goodwill and other intangibles 52 - -
Changes in operating assets and liabilities, net of effects from acquisitions:
Time deposits 666 60 (148)
Accounts receivable 3743 (21,569) (9.633)
Invertories (15.849) (3626} (6.465)
Other assets (5260} 777 (3,143)
Accounts payable (1.518) 6,437 (3.602)
Accrued liabilities (952) 3483 1,486
Deferred revenue 1,189 1873 802
Cther current liabilities 3374 852 (458)
Net cash used in oberating octivities (1,722y 20307y (21.586)
Cash flows from investing activiies:
Purchases of property and equipment (5.454) (33513 (2.737)
Proceeds from sale of property and equipment 509 94 597
Proceeds from sale of equity method investment 100 - -
Purchases of investmenis (43.750) (r218)  (21.050)
Proceeds from sale or maturity of investments 17,950 6,277 22,903
Purchase of minority interest - (50) (50) -
Net cash provided by (used in) investing activities (30.,695) 1,712 (287
Cash flows from finoncing activities:
Net proceeds from issuance of common stock 72,326 574 614
Borrowings on short-term obligations 107,331 46,118 59042
Payments on short-term obligations (114.162)  (37519)  (54.582)
Borrowings on long-term obligations - 624 -
Payments on long-term obligations {340y {121y (88)
Other long-term liabilities 329 1,257 1,336
Net cash provided by finoncing activities 65,484 10933 6,322
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents 671 {(1,580) 5.175
Net increose (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 23738 (9.242)  (10.376)
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of year 67984 77,226 87.602
Cash and cash equivalents, end of year % 91722 $6798B4 377216

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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Notes to Financial Statements
December 31, 2006

1. DESCRIPTION OF BUSINESS

MRV Communications, In¢, (a Delaware corporation, "MRV” or the
“Company") designs, manufactures, sells, distributes, integrates and
supports communication equipment and services, and optical
components. MRV conducts its business along three principal
segments: the networking group, the optical components group
and the development stage enterprise group, MRV's networking
business provides equipment used by commercial customers,
governments and telecommunications service providers, and
includes switches, routers, physical layer products and out-of-band
management products as well as specialized networking products for
aerospace, defense and other applications including voice and cellular
communication. MRV's optical compaonents business provides optical
communications components for metropolitan, access and
Fiberto-the-Premises  applications, through its wholly-owned
subsidiary Luminent, Inc. MRV's development stage enterprise
group seeks to develop new optical components, subsystems and
netwarks and other products far the infrastructure of the Intermet.
MRV markets and sells its products worldwide through a variety of
channels, including a dedicated direct sales force, manufacturers’
representatives, value-added-resellers, distributors and systems
integrators, MRV also has operations in Europe that provide
netwark system design, integration and distribution services that
include products manufactured by third-party vendors, as well as
internally developed and manufactured products.

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Principles of Consolidation

The accompanying financial statements include the accounts of MRV
and its wholly-owned and rnajority owned subsidiaries, All significant
intercompany transactions and accounts have been eliminated. MRV
consolidates the financial results of related development stage
enterprises when it has effective control, voting conirol or has
provided the entity's working capital. When others invest in these
enterprises reducing its voting control below 50%, MRV discontinues
consolidation and uses the cost or equity method of accounting for
these investments, unless otherwise required.

Foreign Currency

Transactions originally denominated in other currencies are
converted into US. dollars in accordance with Statements of
Financial Accounting Standards ("SFAS™) MNo. 52, “Foreign
Currency Translation.” Increases or decreases in the resulting
assets or liabilities, which are denominated in a foreign currency,
are recorded as foreign currency gains and losses and are included in
other income (expense) in determining net income (loss).
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For foreign operations with the local currency as the functionat
currency, assets and liabllities are translated from the local
currencies into US. dollars at the exchange rate prevailing at the
balance sheet date. Revenues, expenses and cash flows are translated
at weighted average exchange rates for the period to approximate
translation at the exchange rate prevailing at the dates those elements
are recognized in the financial statements. Translation adjustments
resutting from the process of translating the local currency financial
statements into US  dollars are induded in determining
comprehensive income (loss),

Revenue Recognition

MRV generally recognizes product revenue, net of sales discounts,
returns and allowances, when persuasive evidence of an arrangement
exists, delivery has occurred and all significant contractual obligations
have been satisfied, the fee is fixed or determinable and collection is
considered probable, Products are generzlly shipped “FOB shipping
point” with no right of return. Sales of services and system support
are deferred and recognized ratably over the contract period. Sales
with contingencies, such as rights of return, rotation rights, conditional
acceptance provisions and price protection, are rare and insignificant
and are deferred until the contingencies have been satisfied or the
contingent period has lapsed. MRV's major revenue-generating
products consist of: fiber optic components; switches and routers;
conscle management; and physical layer products,

MRV generally warrants its products against defects in materials and
workmanship for one to two year periods. The estimated cost of
warranty obligations and sales retums and other allowances are
recognized at the time of reverue recognition based on contract
terms and prior claims experience.

Cash, Cash Equivalents and Time Deposits

MRV considers all highly liquid investments with an onginal maturity of
90 days or less to be cash equivalents, MRV maintains cash balances
and investments in highly qualified financial institutions. At various
times such amounts are in excess of insured limits. Time deposits of
$821,000 and $t.5 million as of December 31, 2006 and 2005,
respectively, are restricted by short-term obligations.

Marketable Securities

MRV accounts for its marketable securities, which are available for
sale, under the provisions of SFAS No. 115, “Accounting for Certain
Investments in Debt and Equity Securities!” The original cost of MRV's
marketable securities approximated fair market value as of
December 31, 2006 and 2005. Marketable securities mature at
various dates through 2007.




Notes to Financial Statements — (Continued)

Marketable securities consisted of the fellowing (in thousands):

Inventories consisted of the folfowing (in thousands):

At December 31: 2006 2005
US. government issues $ 8134 $-
State and local government issues 1,500 -
Corporate issues 14,751 -
Foreign government issues 1,482 -
Total $25864  %-

Accounts Receivable and Allowance for Doubtful
Accounts

MRV evaluates the collectibility of its accounts receivable based on a
combination of factors. If MRV becomes aware of a customer’s
inability to meet its financial obligations after a sale has occurred, it
records an allowance to reduce the net receivable to the amount it
reasonably believes it will be able to coltect from the customer. For all
other customers, the Company recognizes allowances for doubtful
accounts based on the length of time the receivables are past due, the
curvent business environment and historical experience. If the
financial conditions of MRV's customers were to deteriorate or if
economic conditions worsen, additional allowances may be required
in the {uture,

As of December 31, 2006, 2005 and 2004, the allowance for doubtful
accounts totaled $6.6 million, $6.2 milion, and $%.4 million,
respectively. Additional provisions for the allowance for doubtful
accounts totaled $4.2 million, $748,000, and $1.4 million and for
the years ended December 31, 2006, 2005 and 2004, respectively.
Write-offs against the allowance for doubtful accounts totaled
$835,000, %29 million, and $1.0 milion for the years ended
December 31, 2006, 2005 and 2004, respectively. During the year
ended December 31, 2005 and 2004, $1.| million and %1.6 million,
respectively, of the allowance for doubtful accounts was reduced
based on period-end assessments of required allowances and has
been included in the accompanying Statements of Operations in the
period in which such determination was made.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost or market and consist of
material, labor and overhead, Cost is determined by the first in, first
out method. At each balance sheet date, MRV evaluates the ending
inventories for excess quantities or obsolescence. This evaluation
includes analysis of sales levels and projections of future demand. In
order to state inventory at lower of cost or market, MRV maintains
reserves against its inventory. If future demand or market conditions
are less favorable than MRV's projections, a write-down of inventory
may be required, and would be reflected in Cost of Goods Sold in the
period the revision is made.

At December 31: 2006 2005

Raw materials $10848 $ 8471
Work-in process 17811 9.682
Finished goods 32,702 24,063
Total 361361 342216

Property and Equipment

Property and equipment are stated at cost. Depreciation is computed
using the straight-fine method over the estimated useful lives of
the related assets. ranging from three 1o thirty-three years.
Maintenance and repairs are charged to expense as incurred and
the costs of additions and betterments that increase the useful lives
of the assets are capitalized. When property or equipment are
disposed of, the cost and related accumulated depreciation and
amortization are removed from the accounts and any gain or loss
is included in other income {expense), net in the accompanying
Statements of Operations.

Property and equipment consisted of the following (in thousands):

At December 31: 2006 2005
Property and equipment, at cost Land 3 60 § 54
Building 3,892 3465
Machinery and equipment 41,387 39630
Furniture and fixtures 6,232 5635
Computer hardware and software 18,396 18,321
Leasehold improvements 5047 5747
Construction in progress [.356 590
76370 73442
Less — accumulated depreciation and
amortization (62,198)  (59.377)
Total F14172 % 14065

Goodwill and Other Intangibles

MRV adopted SFAS No. 142, "Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets,”
effective January 1, 2002. In accordance with SFAS No. 142,
goodwill and intangible assets with indefinite lives will no longer
be amortized, but instead will be measured for impairment at least
annually, or when events indicate that impairment exists, Intangible
assets that are determined to have definite lives will continue to
be amortized over their useful lives (See Note 3, Goedwill and Other
Intangible Assets).
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Investments

MRV accounts for its investments in unconsolidated entities (see
Note 2, Principles of Consolidation) under the provisions of Accounting
Principles Board Opinions ("APB™) No. 18, "The Equity Method of
Accounting for Investments in Common Stack” and related
interpretations. Unconsolidated investments, for which MRV does
not have the ability to exercise significant influence over operating and
financial policies, are accounted for under the cost method. Those
investments, for which MRV does have the ability to exercise
significant influence over operating and financial policies, are
accounted for under the equity method. In general, all investments
in which MRV owns greater than 20% of the voting stock are
accounted for under the equity method. Cost and equity method
investments totaled $3.0 million and $3.1 million as of December 31,
2006 and 2005, respectively, and are included in non-current other
assets in the accompanying Balance Sheets.

Under the cost and equity method, a loss in value of an investment,
which is deemed to be other than a temporary detline, is recognized.
Evidence of a loss in value might include, but would not necessarily be
limited o, absence of an ability to recover the carrying amount of the
investment or inability of the investee to sustain an earnings capacity,
which would justify the carrying amount of the investment. During
2004, MRV sold its remaining ownership in an equity method
investment resulting in a gain on the sale totaling $2.0 millien. This
investment had previously been fully impaired.

Impairment of Long-Lived Assets

MRV evaluates its long-term tangible assets, such as property and
equipment and other long-term assets, for impairment whenever
events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying value of
an asset may be impaired (See Goodwill and Other Intongibles above
and Note 3, Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets, for policy regarding
impairment of goodwill and other intangible assets). MRV considers
events or changes such as product discontinuance, plant closures,
product dispositions and history of operating losses ar other changes
in circumstances to indicate that the carrying amount may not be

" recoverable, The carrying value of an asset is considered impaired
when the anticipated undiscounted cash flow from such assets is less
than its carrying value. In that event, a loss is recognized based on the
amount by which the carrying value exceeds the fair market value. Fair
market value is determined using the anticipated cash flows
discounted at a rate based on MRV's weighted average costs of
capital, which represents the blended after-tax costs of debt and
equity. There were no impairment losses on tangible assets recorded
for the years ended December 31, 2006, 2005 and 2004.

Fair Value of Financial Instruments

MRV's financial instruments, including cash and cash equivalents, time
deposits, short-term and long-term marketable securities, accounts
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receivable, accounts payable, accrued ligbilities and short-term debt
obligations are carried at cost, which approximates their fair market
value due to the short-term nature of those instruments. The fair
value of long-term debt obfigations is estimated based on current
interest rates available to MRV for debt instruments with similar
terms, degrees of risk and remaining maturities, The carrying values of
these obligations approximate their fair values.

Liability for Severance Pay

Under the laws of certain foreign jurisdictions, the Company is
obligated to make severance payments to employees in those
foreign jurisdictions on the basis of factors such as, but not limited
to, each employee’s current salary and length of employment. The
liability for severance pay is calculated as the amount that the
Company would be required to pay if every employee were to
separate as of the end of the period, which is recorded as part of
other long-term liabilities.

Cost of Goods Sold

Cost of goéds sold includes material, depreciation on fixed assets
used in the manufacturing prozess, shipping costs, direct labor
ang overhead.

Product Development and Engineering

Product development and enginesring costs are charged to expense
as incurred.

Software Development Costs

In accordance with SFAS No. 86, “Accounting for the Costs of
Computer Software to be Sold, Leased, or Otherwise Marketed,”
developrment costs refated to software products are expensed as
incurred until the technological feasibility of the product has been
established. Technological feasibility in MRV's circumstances occurs
when a working model is completed. After technological feasibility is
established, additional costs weuld be capitalized,

MRV believes its process for developing software is essentially
completed concurrent with the establishment of technological
feasibility, and, accordingly no software develocpment costs have
been capitalized to date.

Sales and Marketing

Sales and marketing costs, which include advertising costs, are
charged to expense as incurred. For the years ended
December 31, 2006, 2005 and 2004, advertising and tradeshow
costs were $2.0 million, $1.8 million and $1.7 million, respectively.
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Income Taxes

Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are computed based on
the temporary. differences between the financial statement and
income tax bases of assets and liabifities using the statutory
marginal income tax rate in effect for the years in which the
differences are expected to reverse. Deferred income tax
expenses or credits are based on the changes in the deferred
income tax assets or liabilities from period to period.

Net Income {Loss) Per Share

Basic net income (loss} per share is computed using the weighted
average number of common shares outstanding during the period.
Dilited net income (loss) per share is computed using the weighted
average number of common shares and dilutive potential common
shares outstanding during the period. Dilutive potential common
shares primarily consist of employee stock options and warrants and
the shares associated with MRV's outstanding 5% Convertible Notes
issued in june 2003 (2003 Notes").

SFAS No. 128, “Earnings per Share,” requires that employee eguity
share options, norvested shares and similar equity instruments
granted by the Company be treated as potential common shares
outstanding in computing diluted net income per share. Diluted
shares outstanding include the dilutive effect of in-the-money
options, which is calculated based on the average share price for
each period using the treasury stock method. Under the treasury
stock method, the amount the employee must pay for exercising
stock options, the amount of compensation cost for future service
that the Company has not yet recognized, and the amount of income
tax benefits that would be realized and recorded in additional paid-in
capital if the deduction for the award would reduce income taxes
payable are assumed to be used to repurchase shares.

For the years ended December 31, 2006, 2005 and 2004 there was
no difference between the basic and diluted weighted average shares
outstanding, Outstanding stock options and warrants to purchase
11.7 miflion, 11.4 million and 11.0 million shares for the years 2006,
2005 and 2004, respectively, were not inctuded in the computation of
diluted loss per share because such stock options and warrants were
considered anti-dilutive. Shares associated with the 2003 Notes were
not included in the computation of diluted net loss per share as they
were anti-dilutive.

Share-Based Compensation

As discussed in Note |3, “Share-Based Compensation,” the fair value
of stock options and warrants are determined using the Black-5choles
valuation model. The assumptions used in calculating the fair value of
share-based payment awards represent MRV's best estimates. Those
estimates may be impacted by certain variables inciuding, but not
limited to, stock price volatility, employee stock option exercise
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behaviors, additional stock option grants, estimates of forfeitures,
and related income tax impacts. See Note 13 for a further discussion
on stock-based compensation and assumptions used.

Recently Issued Accounting Standards -

In November 2005, the FASB issued SFAS No. |51, "Inventory Costs,
an amendment of ARB No. 43, Chapter 4." The amendments rnade
by SFAS No. 151 clarify that abnormal amounts of idle facility
expense, freight, handling costs and wasted materials {spoilage)
should be recognized as current period charges and require the
allocation of fixed production overheads to inventory based on the
normal capacity of the production facilities. The pronouncement is
effective for inventory costs incurred during fiscal years beginning
after June 15, 2005. Earlier application is permitted for inventory costs
incurred during fiscal years after Novemnber 23, 2005. The adoption of
this proncuncement on January |, 2006, did not have a material effect
on MRV's financial condition, its results of operations or liquidity.

In May 2005, the FASB issued SFAS No. {54, "Accounting Changes
and Error Corrections” SFAS No. 154 replaces APB No. 20,
“Accounting Changes," and SFAS No. 3, "Reporting Accounting
Changes in Interim Financial Statements,” and establishes
retrospective application as the required methed for reporting a
change in accounting principle. SFAS No. 154 provides guidance for
determining whether retrospective application of a change in
accounting principle is impracticable and for reporting a change
when retrospective application is impracticable. The reporting of a
correction of an error by restating previously issued financial
statements is also addressed. SFAS No. 154 is effective for
accounting changes and corrections of errors made in fiscal years
beginning after December 15, 2005, The adoption of this
pronouncement on January |, 2006, did nct have a material effect
on MRV's financial conditicn, its results of operations or liquidity.

In December 2004, the FASB issued SFAS No. | 23(R), which requires
the measurement and recognition of compensation expense based
on estimated fair value for all share-based payment awards including
stock options, employee stock purchases under employee stock
purchase plans, non-vested share awards (restricted stock) and
stock appreciation rights. SFAS No, 123(R) supersedes our
previcus accounting under APB No. 25. In March 2005, the SEC
issued Staff Accounting Builetin (“SAB™) No. |07, which provides the
Staff's wviews regarding implementation issues related to
SFAS No. 123(R).

MRV adopted the provisions of SFAS No. 123(R} using the modified
prospective transition method beginning January |, 2006, the first day
of the first quarter of 2006. In accordance with that transition method,
MRV has not restated prior periods for the effect of compensation
expense calculated under SFAS No. 123(R). MRV has selected the
Black-Scholes option-pricing model as an appropriate method for
determining the estimated fair value of all the Company's awards as
required by SFAS No. 123(R). Compensation expense for all share-
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based equity awards are being recognized on a straight-line basis over
the vesting peried of the award. The adoption of SFAS No. [23(R)
also requires additional accounting related to income taxes and
eamings per share as well as additional disclosure related to the
cash flow effects resulting from share-based compensation. The
adoption of SFAS No. 123(R) had a material impact on MRV's
consolidated financial statements for the year ended December 31,
2006, and is expected to continue to materially impact MRV's
financiai statements in the foreseeable future. See Note |3,
“Share-Based Compensation” for more information on the impact
of the new standard.

In November 2005, the FASB issued FASB Staff Position (“FSP'")
FAS No. 123 (R)-3, "Transition Election Related to Accounting for the
Tax Effects of Share-Based Payment Awards” ("FSP FAS 123(R}-3").
FSP FAS 123(R)-3 provides a practicat exception when a company
transitions to the accounting requirements in SFAS No. 123(R).
SFAS No. 123(R) requires a company to calcutate the pool of
excess income tax benefits available to absorb income tax
deficiencies recognized subsequent to adopting SFAS No. 123(R)
{termed the APIC Pool), assuming the company had been following
the recognition provisions prescribed by SFAS No. 123. MRV has
elected to use the guidance in FSP FAS 123({R)-3 to calculate its APIC
Pool. FSP FAS [23{R)-3 is effective immediately. The adoption of the
FSP did not have a material effect on MRV's financial condition, its
results of operations or liquidity.

In July 2006, the FASB issued Interpretation No. 48 (“FIN 48™),
“Accounting for Uncertainty in Income Taxes — An Interpretaticn
of FASB Statement No. 05" FIN 48 clarifies the accounting

. for uncertainty in income taxes recognized in an entity’s financial

statements in accordance with SFAS No. 109, “Accounting for
Income Taxes” and prescribes a recognition threshold and
measurement attribute for financial statement disclosure of income
tax positions taken or expected to be taken on an income tax
return. Additionally, FIN 48 provides guidance on derecognition,
classification, interest and penalties, accounting in interim periods,
disclosure and transition. FIN 48 is effective for fiscal years
I5, 2006, with early adoption
permitted. MRV is currently evaluating whether the adoption of
FIN 48 will have a material effect on its financial condition, its
resutts of operations or liquidity.

beginning after December

In September 2006, the FASB issued SFAS No. 57, "Fair Value
Measurements,” which defines fair value, establishes a framework for
consistently measuring fair value under GAAF and expands
disclosures about fair value measurements. SFAS No. [57 is
effective for the Company beginning January |, 2008, and the
provisions of SFAS No. 157 will be applied prospectively as of that
date. MRV is currently evaluating whether the adoption of this
statement will have a material effect on its financial condition, its
results of operations or liquidity.
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tn Septerber 2006, the FASB issued SFAS No. 158, “Employers’
Accounting for Defined Benefit Pension and Other Postretirement
Plans — an amendment of FASB Statements No. 87, 88, 106, and
132(R)" Among other items, SFAS No. |58 requires companies to
(1) fully recognize, as an asset or liability the overfunded or
underfunded status of defined pension and other postretirement
benefit plans; {2) recognize changes in the funded status through
other-comprehensive income in the year in which the changes occur;
(3) measure the funded status of defined pensicn and other
postretirement benefit plans as of the date of the company’s fiscal
year-end; and (4) provide enhanced disclosures. SFAS No. 158 is
effective for MRV's year ending after December 31, 2006, except for
the requirement to measure the funded status of retirement benefit
Flans as of our fiscal year-end, which is effective for the year ended
December 31, 2008. The adoption of this pronouncement as of
December 31, 2006, did not have a material effect on MRV's financial
condition, its results of operations or liquidity.

in September 2006, the Securities and Exchange Commission (SEC)
issued Staff Accounting Bulletin (*SAB™) No. 108 (SAB 108). Due to
diversity in practice among registrants, SAB 108 expresses SEC staff
views regarding the process by which misstatements in financial
statements are evalvated for purposes of determining whether
financial statement restatement is necessary. SAB 108 is effective
for fiscal years ending after November |5, 2006, and early application
is encouraged. The adoption of this pronouncement as of
December 31, 2006, did not have a material effect on MRV’s
financial condition, its resutts of operations or liquidity.

On February 15, 2007, the FASB issued SFAS No. 159, “The Fair
Value Option for Financial Assets and Financial Liabifities — Including
an Amendment of FASB Statement No. 115" This standard permits
an entity to choose to measure many financial instruments and certain
other items at fair value. Most of the provisions in SFAS No. 159 are
elective; however, the amendment to SFAS No. |15, “Accounting for
Certain Investments in Debt and Equity Securities,” applies to all
entities with available-for-sale and trading securities. The fair value
option established by SFAS No. 159 permits all entities to choose to
measure eligible items at fair value at specified election dates. A
business entity will repert unrealized gains and losses on items for
which the fair value option has been elected in earnings at each
subsequent reporting date. The fair value option: (a) may be applied
instrument by instrument, with a faw exceptions, such as investments
otherwise accounted for by the equity method; (b) is irrevocable
(unless a new election date occurs); and (c) is applied only to entire
instruments and not to portions of instruments. SFAS No. 159 is
effective as of the beginning of ar entity’s first fisca! year that begins
after November 15, 2007, Early adoption is permitied as of the
beginning of the previous fiscal year provided that the entity makes
that choice in the first [20 days of that fiscal year and also elects to
apply the provisions of SFAS No, 157, "Fair Value Measurements'.
MRV is currently evaluating whether the adoption of this statement
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will have a material effect on its financial condition, its results of
operations or lquidity.

Use of Estimates

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with
accounting principles generally accepted in the United States
requires management to make estimates and assumptions that
affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure
of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial
statements and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses
during the reporting period. Actual resuits cculd differ from
those estimates.

Reclassifications

Certain prior year amounts have been reclassified to conform to the
current year presentation.

3. GOODWILL AND OTHER INTANGIBLE
ASSETS

MRV adopted SFAS No. 142, “Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets,”
effective January |, 2002. In accordance with SFAS No. 142, goodwill
and intangible assets with indefinite lives are no longer amortized, but
instead are measured for impairment at least annually, or when events
indicate that impairment exists. Intangible assets that are determined
10 have definite lives continue to be amortized over their useful lives,

The following table summarizes the changes in carrying value of
goodwill during the periods presented (in thousands):

2006 | 2005 2004
Beginning balance(1}) $33656 | $37747  $3533I
Purchase of Minority Interest 39 90 -
Impairment (52) - .
Foreign currency translation 2,705 (4.181) 2416
Total $36,348 | $33656 $37.747

(1) Redassified to conform with 2006 presentation.

The following table surmmarizes MRV's goodwill balances
(in thousands):

At December 31: 2006 2005

Gross carrying amount $108,630 $104223
Accumulated amortization (72,282 (70,567}
Total $ 36348 § 33,656

4. RESTRUCTURING COSTS

During the second quarter of 200f, Luminent's management
approved and implemented a restructuring plan in order to adjust
operations and administration as a resutt of the dramatic slowdown in
the communications equipment industry generally and the optical
components sector in particular. Major actions primarily involved the
reduction of workforce totaling $1.3 million, the abandenment of
certain assets, including closed and abandened facilities, amounting to
$12.8 milion and the cancellation and termination of purchase
commitments totaling $6.2 million. MRV has a remaining obligation
totaling $168,000 for its fulfillment of a lease obligation on an
abandoned facility that it expects to pay through cash on-hand
through August 2007.

5. ACCRUED LIABILITIES

Accrued liabilities consisted of the following {in thousands):

At December 31: 2006 2005

Payroli and related $12010 512,327
Product warranty 2291 2,328
Cther 15,403 14,617
Total $29,704  $29272

6. INCOME TAXES

The provision for income taxes is as follows (in thousands):

For the Year Ended December 31: 2006 2005 2004
Current:
Federal $ - % - % -
State - - t51
Foreign 5211 4,498 3,084
5211 4498 3235
Deferred:
Federal - - -
State : - - -
Foreign (L.346) 1,276 (19%9)

(1346) 1276 (i99)
$3036

Total $ 3865 $5.774
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The income tax provision differs from the amount computed by
applying the federal statutory income tax rate to income before
income taxes as follows:

For the Year Ended December 31: 2006 2005 2004

Income tax provision {benefit, at statutory

federal rate) B4 34H% (349%
State and tocal income taxes, net of federal

income taxes effect ()% (1% (6%
Credits (5% (% (149%
Permanent differences 5% 0% 1%
Foreign taxes at rates different than

domestic rates 42%  (6)% (10¥%
Change in valuation allowance 280% 10t%  103%
Total 234%  51%  40%

The components of deferred income taxes are as follows
(in thousands):

At December 31: 2006 2005
Aliowance for doubtful accounts $ 1548 & 1520
Inventory reserve 6,763 6962
Accrued liabilities 3,002 2828
Other 4,091 3,185
15404 14,495
Valuation afowance {14,509} (13,622)
Net short-term deferred income tax
assets 895 873
Net operating losses 102,380 103,232
Tax credits 9,688 9071
Depreciation and amortization 3108 3776
Investments 174 58
Capitat loss carryforwards 99477 96,755
Other 2011 2,163
206,838 215055
Valuation allowance (215378}  (214319)
Net long-term deferred income tax : :
assets 1,460 136
Total ’ $ 2355 % 1009

MRV records valuation allowances against its deferred income tax
assets, when necessary, in accordance with SFAS No. 109,
“Accounting for Income Taxes!” Realization of deferred income tax
assets (such as net operating loss carryforwards and income tax
credits) is dependent on future taxable earnings and is therefore
uncertain. At least quarterly, MRV assesses the likelihood that its
deferred income tax asset balance will be recovered from future
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taxable income. To the extent management believes that recovery is
unlikely, MRV establishes a valuation allowance against its deferred
income tax asset, which increases its income tax expense in the
period such determination is made. During 2006 and 2005, MRV
recorded an additional valuation allowance totaling $1.3 million and
$34.6 million, respectively against additional deferred income tax
assets, principally domestic net operating losses and unrealized
income tax credits due to a history of domestic net losses, During
2006, MRV reduced the valuation allowance relating 1o $ 1.6 million of
deferred income tax assets of a foreign subsidiary that previously had
a full valuation allowance recorded against those deferred income tax
assets, since the foreign subsidiary’s recent income and expected
future taxable income, had caused management to conclude that the
subsidiary's deferred income tax assets will be realized. Although
realization is not assured, management believes it is more likely than
nct that the net deferred income tax assets, which relate primarily to
profitable foreign subsidiaries, will be realized.

As of December 31, 2006, MRV had federal and state net operating
loss carryforwards available of $171.8 milion and $214.4. million,
respectively. For the year ended December 31, 2006, MRV federal
and state net operating loss carryforwards increased by $10.8 million
and $i7.8 million, respectively, For federal and state income tax
purposes, the net operating losses are available to offset {future
taxable income through 2026 and 2016, respectively As of
December 31, 2006, MRV had federal and state income tax
credits of $54 million and $4.5 million, respectively. If not utilized.
the federal and state income tax credits will begin to expire in 2019
and 2008, respectively. Capital loss carryforwards totaling
$262.0 million as of December 31, 2006, begin to expire in 2007,

In 1995, MRV, through a subsidiary in Israel, qualified for a program
under which it is eligible for an income tax exemption on its income
for a peried of ten years from the beginning of the benefits period.
This benefit expired in 2006. Due 1o operating losses at this subsidiary,
nc income tax benefit was received for any of the years ended
December 31, 2006, 2005 and 2004

MRV has not recorded US. income tax expense for foreign earnings
that it has declared as indefinitely reinvested offshore, thus reducing its
overall income tax expense. At Decernber 31, 2006, MRV had
approximately $239 million of accumulated but undistributed
eamings at certain foreign entities. The amount of earnings
designated as indefinitely reinvested offshore is based upon MRV's
expectations of the future cash needs of its foreign entities. Income
tax considerations are also a factor in determining the amount of
foreign earnings to be repatriated.

In the event actual cash needs of MRV's US. entities exceeds its
curvent expectations or the actual cash needs of its foreign entities are
less than expected, MRV may need to repatriate foreign eamings that
have been designated as indefinitely reinvested offshore. This would
result in additional income tax expense being recorded.
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7. SHORT-TERM AND LONG-TERM
OBLIGATIONS

Short-term obligations consist of secured and unsecured lines of
credit, short-term loans and notes entered into with certain financial
institutions. As of December 31, 2006 and 2005, these short-term
obligations totaled $26.1 milion and $30.0 million, respectively.
Certain assets of MRV's subsidiaries including customer accounts
receivables have been pledged as collateral on these borrowings. The
weighted average interest rate on these obligations was
approximately 4.4% and 4.7% as of December 31, 2006 and 2005,
respectively. These obligations are incurred and settled in the local
currencies of the respective subsidiaries.

Long-term debt consisted of secured notes payable to financial
institutions bearing interest at rates ranging from 3.5% to 6.0%.
Principal and interest is payable in monthly and quarterly
installments through December 2006. As of December.31, 2006
and 2005, long-term debt totaled $287000 and $621,000,
respectively. As of December 31, 2006, $199.000 of long-term
debt is due during 2007 and included in short-term obligations in
the Balance Sheets, with the remaining balance of $88,000 due in
2008. As of December 31, 2005, $337.000 of long-term debt was
due during 2006 and was included in short-term obligations in the
Balance Sheets.

8. DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

The Company, through certain foreign offices, has entered inio
{oreign exchange and interest rate swap contracts. All derivatives
are held for purposes other than trading. The fair values of the
derivatives are recorded in other current or non-current assets or
liabilities in the accompanying Balance Sheets. No hedging relationship
is designated for these derivatives held and they are marked to
market through earnings. The fair value of these derivative
instrurrients is based on quoted market prices. Cash flows from
financial instruments are recognized in the Statements of Cash
Flows in a manner consistent with the underlying transactions.

Foreign Exchange Contracts.  Certain foreign offices of the Company
enier into foreign exchange contracts to economically protect
currency exchange risk related to purchase commitments
denominated in foreign currencies other than their functional
currency, primarily the US. dollar. These contracts cover periods
commensurate with known or expected exposures, generally less
than 12 months, and are principally unsecured foreign exchange
contracts with carefully selected banks. The market risk exposure
is essentially limited to risk refated to currency rate movements, As of
December 31, 2006, there were no outstanding foreign currency
contracts and the realized gains and losses recorded were insignificant.

interest Rate Swaps, A foreign office of the Company manages its
debt portfolio by wtilizing interest rate swaps to achieve an overall
desired position of fixed and floating rates. As of December 31, 2006
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and December 31, 2005 the Company had two interest rate swap
contracts maturing in 2007 and 2008. Unrealized gains {losses) on
these interest rate swaps for the years ended December 31, 2006
and 2005 were $161,000 and $(926,000). respectively, which have
been recorded in interest expense. The fair value and the carrying
value of these interest rate swaps were $804,000 and $882,000 at
December 31, 2006 and 2005, respectively, and were recorded in
other long-term liabilities.

9. CONVERTIBLE DEBT

In June 2003, MRY completed the sale of $23.0 million principat
amount of five-year 5% convertible notes due in 2008, to an
institutional investor, in a private placement. The 2003 Notes bear
interest at 5% per annum and are convertible into shares of MRV's
common stock at a conversion price of $2.32 per share, As a
condition of the 2003 Notes, MRV may not: (i) incur any form of
unsecured indebtedness in excess of $17.0 milion, plus obligations
arising from accounts receivable financing transactions with recourse
in the ordinary course of business and consistent with past practices,
{il) repurchase its commen stock for an aggregate amount in excess of
$5.0 million, or (iii) declare or pay any dividend on any of its capital
stock, other than dividends of common stock with respect to its
common stock. As of December 31, 2006, MRY was in compliance
with the conditions of the 2003 Notes. MRV is using the net proceeds
from the sale of the 2003 Notes for general corporate purposes and
working capital Interest expense related to these 2003 Notes
amounted to $1.2 milion for each of the years ended
December 31, 2006, 2005 and 2004.

10. COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES

Lease Commitments

The Company leases all of its facilities and certain equipment under
non-cancelable operating lease agreements expiring in various years
through 2017. The aggregate minimum annual lease payments under
leases in effect as of December 31, 2006 were as follows (in
thousands):

Year Ending December 31,

2007 % 6,076
2008 4,507
2009 ' 4052
2010 3,258
2001 2,060
Thereafter 6024
Total $25977
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Annual rental expense under non-cancelable operating lease
agreements for the years ended December 31, 2006, 2005 and
2004, was $7.0 million, $7.1 million and $6.3 million, respectively.

Royalty Commitment

Through subsidiaries in Israel, MRV is obligated to the Office of the
Chief Scientist of the Government of lsrae! {Chief Scientist) with
respect 1o the governments participation in research and
development expenses for certain preducts. Amounts received by
MRV from the participation of the Chief Scientist were offset against
the related research and development expenses incurred.
Accordingly, MRV's royalty to the Chief Scientist is calculated at a
rate of 2% 1o 5% of sales of such products developed with the
participation up to the dollar amount of such participation, which is
recorded in cost of goods seld. MRV did not receive any participation
from the Chief Scientist for the years ended December 31, 2006 and
2005. MRV received participation from the Chief Scientist that
amounted to $31,000 year ended December 31, 2004. The
remaining future obligation as of December 31, 2006 is
approximately $1.0 million which is contingent on generating
sufficient sales of this selected product line.

Litigation

MRV has received notices from third parties alleging possible
infringement of patents with respect to product features or
manufacturing processes. Managerment believes such notices are
common in the communications industry because of the large
number of patents that have been filed on these subjects. MRV's
policy is to discuss these notices with the senders in an effort to

demanstrate that MRV's products andfor processes do not violate

any patents. From time 1o time, MRV has been involved in such
discussions with [BM, Lucent, Ortel, Nortel, Rockwell, the Lemelson
Foundation, Finisar and Apcon. MRV does not believe that any of its
products or processes viclates any of the patents asserted by these
parties and MRY further believes that it has meritorious defenses if
any legal action is taken by any of these parties. However, if one or
more of these parties was to assert a claim and gain a conclusion
unfavorable to MRV such claims could materially and adversely affect
the business, operating resulis and financial condition of MRV.

MRV has been named as a defendant in lawsuits involving matters
that MRY considers routine to the nature of its business.
Management is of the opinion that the ultimate resolution of all
such matters will not have a material adverse effect on the
accompanying financial statements.

11. PRODUCT WARRANTY AND
INDEMNIFICATION

FASB Interpretation No. 45 (“FIN 45"), “Guarantor's Accounting and

Disclosure  Requirements  for Guarantees, Including Indirect
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Guarantees of Indebtedness of Others” requires that upcn
issuance of a guarantee, the guarantor must disclose and recognize
a liability for the fair value of the obligation it assumes under
that guarantee,

The requirements of FIN 45 are applicable to MRV's product
warranty liability As of December 31, 2006 and 2005, MRV's
product warranty liability recorded in accrued liabilities was
$2.3 million. The following table summarizes the activity related
to the product warranty liability during the periods presented
(in thousands):

For the Years Ended December 31 2006 2005

Beginning balance $2328 32537
Cost of warranty claims (1,491 (1,222)
Accruals for product warranties 1454 1,013
Total $2291  $2328

MRV accrues for warranty costs as part of its cost of goods sold based
on associated material product costs, technical support fabor costs
and associated overhead. The products sold are generally covered by
a warranty for periods of one o two years.

In the normal course of business o facilitate sales of its products, MRV
indemnifies other parties, including customers, lessors and parties to
other transactions with MRV, with respect to certain matters. MRV
has agreed to hold the other party harmless against tosses arising from
a breach of representation or covenants, or out of intellectual
property infringement or other claims made against certain
parties. These agreements may limit the time within which an
indemnification claim can be made and the amount of the claim. In
addition, MRV has entered into indemnification agreements with its
officers and directors, and MRV's bylaws contain similar
indemnification abligations to MRV's agents.

MRY cannot estimate the amount of potential future payments, if any,
that it might be required to make as a result of these agreements.
Over at least the last decade, MRV has not incurred any significant
expense as a resuft of agreements of this type. Accordingly, MRV has
not accrued any amounts for such indemnification obligations.
However, there can be no assurances that MRV will not incur
expense under these indemnification provisions in the future,

12, STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY

Authorized Shares

On May |0, 2000, the Board of Directors and stockholders of MRY
approved an increase in the authorized number of shares of its
$00017 par value common stock from B00 milion to
160.0 milion shares relating to the two-forone stock split
distributed on May 26, 2000. MRV is authorized to issue up to
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1.0 million shares of its $0.01 par value preferred stock, of which none
is issued or outstanding as of December 31, 2006 and 2005.

In March 2006, MRV completed a private placement of approximately
9.9 million shares of its common stock at $3.75 per share for gross
proceeds of approximately $74.5 million with a group of institutional
investors. The net proceeds to MRV were approximately
$69.9 million. MRY is using, has used and currently intends to use
the net proceeds for working capital, general corporate purposes and
in its efforts to support its recent growth in revenues. MRV may atso
use a portion of the net proceeds, currently intended for general
corporate purposes, to acquire or invest in technologies, products or
services that complement its business.

Stock Repurchase Program

On June 13, 2002, MRV announced that its Board of Directors had
approved a program to repurchase up to 7.0 million shares of its
common stock Through December 31, 2006, MRY had repurchased
atotal of .3 million shares of its common stock at a cost of $ 1.3 million
under this program. MRV did not repurchase any of its common stock
during the years ended December 31, 2006, 2005 and 2004. MRV can
repurchase up to 5.7 million additional shares of its common stock
under this program in the future.

Stock Options

MRV has stock optien and warrant plans that provide for granting
options and warrants to purchase shares of MRV's common stock to
employees, directors and non-employees performing consufting or
advisory services for MRV, The plans provide for the granting of
options, which meet the Internal Revenue Code requirements for
qualification as incentive stock options, as well as nonstatutory options
and are at the discretion of the board of directors. Under these plans,
stock options and warrant exercise prices generally equal the fair
market value of MRV's common stock at the date of grant. The
options and warrants generally vest over three to five years with
expiration dates ranging from six and ten years from the date of grant
depending on the plan. As of December 31, 2006, the plans provide
for the issuance of 1.9 million shares of common stock over the
rermaining life of the plans (See Note |3, Share-Based Compensation).

13. SHARE-BASED COMPENSATION

Effective January !, 2006, MRV adopied the provisions of
SFAS No. 123 ({Revised 2004), “Share-Based Payment”
("SFAS No. 123(R)"), which requires the measurement and
recognition of compensation expense for all share-based payment
awards made to MRV's employees and directors including employee
stock option awards based on estimated fair values. MRV previously
applied the pravisions of Accounting Principles Board Opinion
{"APB™) No. 25, "Accounting for Stock Issued to Employees” and
related Interpretations and provided the required pro forma
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disclosures under SFAS No. 123, "Accounting for Stock-Based
Compensation.”

Pro forma Information for Periods Prior to the
Adoption of SFAS No. 123(R)

Prior to the adoption of SFAS No. 123(R), MRV provided the
disclosures required under SFAS MNo. 123, as amended by
SFAS No. 148, “Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation —
Transition and Disclosures”” For the year ended December 31,
2005, MRV recorded $162.000 of share-based compensation
expense, under SFAS No. 123, for the issuance of 100,000 shares
to employees. For the year ended December 31, 2004, MRV
recorded $188,000 of share-based compensation expense for the
amortization of deferred stock compensation, net of forfeitures. No
additional share-based compensation expense was reflected in MRV's
results of operations for the years ended December 31, 2005 and
2004 as all options were granted with an exercise price equal to or
greater than the market value of the underlying common siock on the
date of grant. Forfeitures of awards were recognized as they occurred.
Previously reported amounts have not been restated.

The pro forma infarmation for the years ended December 31, 2005
and 2004 was as follows (in thousands, except per share data):

2005 2004
Net loss, as reported $(16,299)  $(10.680)
Add: SFAS No. 123 based compensation
expense included in reported net loss 162 188
Deduct: Total SFAS No. 123 based
compensation expense determined
under fair value method for all awards 6172 (17.593)
Net loss, pro forma $(22,309)  $(28,085)
Earnings per share:
Basic and diluted net loss per share —
as reported $ 018 3 (0I0)
Basic and diluted net loss per share -——
pro forma $ 02 % (©27)

Impact of the Adoption of SFAS No. 123(R)

MRV adopted SFAS No. 123(R) using the modified prospective
transition method beginning January |1, 2006. Accordingly, during
the year ended December 31, 2006, MRV recorded share-based
compensation expense for awards granted prior to but not vet
vested as of |anuary |, 2006 as if the fair value method required
for pro forma disclosure under SFAS No. 123 were in effect for
expense recognition purposes adjusted for estimated forfeitures. For
these awards, MRV has continued to recognize compensation
expense using the straight-line amortization method. For share-
based awards granted on and after January |, 2006, MRV has
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recognized compensation expense based on the estimated grant date
fair value method required under SFAS No. 1 23(R}. For these awards,
MRV has also recognized compensation expense using a straight-line
amortization method. As SFAS No. | 23(R) requires that share-based
compensation expense be based on awards that are ultimately
expected to vest, estimated share-based compensation for the
year ended December 31, 2006 has been reduced for estimated
forfeitures. The impact on MRV's results of operations of recording
share-based compensation under SFAS No. 123(R), rather than had it
continued to account for share-based compensation under APB
No. 25, for the year ended December 31, 2006 was as follows (in
thousands, except per share data):

the years ended December 31, 2006, 2005 and 2004 was $3.3 million,
$64 milion and $13.I mifion, respectively For the year ended
December 31, 2006, the windfall income tax benefit realized from
exercised stock options and similar awards was immaterial. As of
December 31, 2006, the total unrecorded deferred share-based
compensation balance for unvested shares, net of expected
forfeitures, was $6.1 milion which is expected to be amortized over a
weighted-average period of 2.5 years.

Valuation Assumptions

As of December 31, 2006, 2005 and 2004, the fair value of share-
based awards for employee stock option awards was estimated using
the Black-Scholes option pricing model. The following weighted
average assumptions were used for determining the fair value of
options granted:

o 2006

Cost of goods sold $ 31
Product development and engineering 775
Selling, general and adminisirative 2356
Total share-based compensation expense $ 3442
Impact on:

Income (loss) before income taxes $(3.442)

MNet income (loss) (3,442}

Basic and diluted net income {loss) per share % (003)

The amount of share-based compensation expense capitalized as part of
inventory was insignificant for all periods presented. The weighted
average grant date fair values of awards granted during the years
ended December 31, 2006, 2005 and 2004 were $1.65, $1.32 and
$1.77 per share, respectively. The total fair values of shares vested during

Share-Based Payment Award Activity

2006 2005 2004
Risk-free interest rate 48% 4.1% 3.4%
Dividend yield 0.0% 0.0% 0.0%
Volatility 808% &7.1%  757%
Expected life 33ys  40yrs  40yrs

The Black-Scholes model requires the use of highly subjective and
complex agsumptions, including the opticn’s expected life and the
price volatility of the underlying stock MRV has used historical
volatility to derive the expected volatility assumption, since
sufficient implied volatility data was not available and future
volatility is expected to approximate historical volatility.

The following table summarizes equity share-based payment award activity for the year ended December 31, 2006:

Outstanding, beginning of period
Granted
Exercised
Cancelled and {orfeited

CQutstanding, end of period
Vested & Expected to Vest, end of period
Exercisable, end of period

The aggregate intrinsic value in the table above represents the total
pretax intrinsic value, based on the company's closing stock price of
$3.54 at December 31, 2006, which would have been received by
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Wid, Avg,
Wid, Avg. Remaining Aggregate
Exercise Contractual Intrinsic
Shares Price Term Value
(In 000's) (In years) {In 000_'5)
11433 $3.18
2,653 $3.03
(1,153)  $214
(1.217) $4.67
11716 $3.09 70 $12377
11,212 3.1 69 $i1,930
6,401 $3.35 556 ‘ $ 8142

award holders had all award holders exercised their awards that were
in-the-money as of that date.
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The following table summarizes certain stock option exercise activity
during the periods presented {in thousands):

2006 2005 2004
Total intrinsic value of stock options
exercised $1,90% %401 $790
Cash received from stock options
exercised 2461 574 614

14. SEGMENT REPORTING AND
GEOGRAPHICAL INFORMATION

MRV divides and operates its business based on three segments; the
retworking group, the optical components group and development
stage enterprise group. The networking group designs, manufactures
and distributes optical networking solutions and Internet
infrastructure products. The optical components group designs,
manufactures and distributes optical components and optical
subsystems. The development stage enterprise group develops
optical components, subsystems and netwerks and products for
the infrastructure of the Internet. Segment information is therefore
being provided on this basis.

The accounting policies of the segments are the same as those
described in the summary of significant accounting polices
previously described. MRV evaluates segment performance based

Network equipment revenue primarily consists of MRV's internally
developed products, such as Metro Ethernet equipment, optical
transport equipment, out-of-band network equipment, defense
and aerospace network applications, the related service revenue
and fiber optic components sold as part of the system solution.
Network integration revenue primarily consists of value-added
integration and support service revenue, related third-party
product sales (including third-party product sales through
distnibution) and fiber optic components sold as part of the
system solution, Fiber optic components revenue primarily consists
fiber optic components, such as components for FTTP applications,
fiber optic transceivers, discrete lasers and LEDs, that are not sold as
part of MRV's network equipment or network integration sclutions.

For the year ended December 31, 2006, MRV had one customer,
Verizon Communications Inc. through its original equipment
manufacturers, of the optical components group that accounted
for 13% of revenues. For the years ended December 31, 2005
and 2004, MRV had no single customer that accounted for 10%
or more of revenues. As of December 31, 2006 and 2005, MRV had
ne single customer that accounted for 10% or more of accounts
receivable. MRV does not track customer revenue by region for each
individual reporting segment,

A summary of external revenue by geographical region is as follows
(in thousands):

on revenues and operating expenses of each segment. As such, there Fer the Year Ended Oecember 31 2006 2005 2004

are no separately identifiable segment assets nor are there any .

separately identifizble Statements of Operations data below /E’-\rnencas $£::??g $|;:?§; $f:§£?
T urope . : .

operating income. )

8 Asia Pacific 20571 11,669 13,472
Business segment revenues are as follows (in thousands): Other regions 243 577 2729
For the Year Ended December 31: 2006 2005 2004 Total $356489  $283698 3271658
Networki 268,074 : 192 ‘ -

Oet' OI e groupts ¥ 53 2 8l $2§g :22 $2§Z43| A summary of long-lived assets, consisting of property and
plical components group ' ' ' equipment, by geographical region is as follows (in thousands):
Development stage enterprise
growp } - ~ At December 31: 2006 2005
361,455 287228 273623 Ameri $ 3595 $ 2003
Intersegment adjustment (4966)  (3530) (965) . mencas S
urope ' :
Total $356,489 $283,698 $271658 Asia Pacific 3,300 5413
Other regions - -
Revenues by groups of similar products are as follows (in thousands): Toral $14.172 . $14065

For the Year Ended December 31: 2006 2005 2004

Network equipment $100,673 % 86091 $ 84.645
Network integration 167,394 150,687  14254|
Fiber optic components 88422 46,920 44,472
Total $356489 $2B83,698 $271,658
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Business segment operating income {lass) is as follows (in thousands):

For the Year Ended Cecember 31: 2006 2005 2004
Networking group $(1.116) $2300 $ 4746
Optical components group (705) (9.313) (9.840)
Development stage enterprise
group (1.558) (1.721) (2.094)
(3379) (8734) (7.188)
Intersegment adjustment {117 - -
Total $(3,496) $(8,734) $(7.188)

Income (loss) before provision for income taxes is as follows (in
thousands):

For the Year Ended December 31: 2006 2005 2004

Domestic $(17.190) $(17.654) (5,344
Foreign 15,540 7,129 1,700
Total $ (1.650) $(10.525) $(7.644)

15. OTHER INCOME (EXPENSE), NET

Other income (expense), net consisted of the following (in
thousands):

For the Year Ended December 31: 2006 2005 2004

Interest income $4972 $2024 $1.084

(Gain on sale of investment - - 2000
Gain {loss) on disposition of assets 467 37 {235)
Cther, net (53) 355 (164)
Total $5386 %2416 $2685

16. SUPPLEMENTAL STATEMENTS OF
CASH FLOW INFORMATION

Supplemental Statements of Cash Flow information for the years
ended December 31, 2006, 2005 and 2004 is as follows (in
thousands):

For the Year Ended Decernber 31: 2006 2005 2004

Supplemental disclosure of cash
flow information:

Cash paid during year for interest  $3,936  $3221  $2736

Cash paid during year for income
taxes $3.153  $4209 $3.380
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Contributions made 1o the company-sponsored 401 (k) retirement
plan for MRV's employees totaled $687,000, $590,000 and $575,000
for the years ended December 31, 2006, 2005 and 2004, respectively.

17. SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

On January 26, 2007, MRV and its newly-formed, wholly-owned
subsidiaries, Lighthouse Transition Corporation and Lighthouse
Acquisition Corporation ("LAC™), entered into an Agreement and
Plan of Merger (the "Merger Agreement”) with Fiberson. Inc. a
privately-held Delaware corporation ("'Fiberxon™), under which MRV
agreed to acquire Fiberxon for approximately $131 million,
comprised of (i) approximately $17 milion in cash,
(i) approximately 21 million shares of registrant's common stock,
including shares of MRV's common stock underlying the assumption
of Fiberxon outstanding stock options, which will be on a basis that
will preserve the intrinsic value of such options and otherwise be on
the same terms as the Fiberxon options being assumed, and (iii) an
obligation to pay an additional amount of approximately $31.5 million
in cash or shares of registrant’s commeon stock, or a combination
thereof, if Luminent, Inc., a Delaware corperation (“Luminent’),
another of MRV's whally-owned subsidiaries, does not complete
an initial public offering (an "IPO™) of its common stock within

- 18 months of the closing of the Fiberxon acquisition, or socner

upon the occurrence of certain acceleration events. The latter
component of the purchase consideration may amount to more
or less than $31.5 millien if Luminent successfully completes an
IPO within 18 months of the closing of the Fiberxon acquisition in
that, in such event and in lieu of $31.5 miltion, MRV has agreed to pay
an amount equal to 9.0% of the product obtained by multiplying
(%) the price per share to the public in the Luminent IPO, less the
discount provided to the underwriters, by (y) the total number of
shares of Luminent Common Stock outstanding immediately prior to
the effectiveness of the agreement between Luminent and the
underwriters of the Luminent IPO. The closing of the Fiberxon
acquisition is subject to the satisfaction of various conditions
precedent, including completion of an audit of Finerxen's financial
statements for fiscal year 2006, and obtaining necessary governmental
and third-party approvals and consents in the US. and China as
well as other customary closing conditions. Assuming the transaction
closes as expected, through mergers of Fiberxon with MRV's whally-
owned subsidiaries (the “Mergers"), LAC will succeed to Fiberxon's
name, business, properties and assets and will assume its obligations
and will remain a wholly-owned subsidiary of MRV. MRV has
announced its intention to contribute the capital stock of Fiberxon
to Luminent or otherwise combing Fiberxon's business following the
closing of the acquisition.
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18. QUARTERLY FINANCIAL DATA (UNAUDITED)

) Mar. 31, June 30, Sept 30, Dec. 31,
For the Three Manths Ended: 2006 2006 2006 2006
Revenue $ 77262 % 86965 % 89616 3102646
Cost of goods sold(I) 51,517 60,256 61,092 71,342
Gross profit 25745 26,709 28524 31,304
Operating costs and expenses:

Product development and engineering(2) 6,980 6,672 7331 7204

Selling, general and administrative(3) 20,674 21,823 20861 24,181

Impairment of goodwill and cther intangibles - 52 - -
Total operating costs and expenses 27,654 28,547 28,192, 31,385
Operating incorme (foss) (1.909) (1,838} 332 8N
Interest expense (1,056} (733} 819) (932)
Other income, net 616 1,050 | 646 2074
Income (loss) before income taxes (2.349) (1,521) 1,159 1,061
Provision for income taxes 1332 1,122 943 468
Net income (foss}(4) : $ (3681) % (2643) & 216 $ 593
Net incorrie (loss} per share:
Basic $ (003 $ (02) $ 000 % 000
Diluted $ (003 % (002) $ 000 % 000
Weighted average number of shares:
Basic 107,714 125,073 125,202 125,376
Diluted 107,714 125073 126,365 128,55!

’ Mar. 31, June 30, Sept. 30, Dec. 31,

For the Three Months Ended: ’ 2005 2005 2005 2005
Revenue $ 62007 % 64647 3 65875 3 9169
Cost of goods sold(1) 40,592 42,321 46,300 64,366
Gross profit 21015 22,326 19,575 26,803
Operating costs and expenses:

Product development and engineering(2) 6,531 6,287 6,133 7,100

Selling, general and administrative(3) ) 18,251 18273 15619 20.259

Total operating costs and expenses 24,782 24,560 21,752 27.35%
Operating loss (3.767) (2.234) (2.177) (556)
Interest expense (786) (1L715) (767) (239}
Other income, net 485 231 117 583
Loss before income taxes {4.068) (3718) (1.827) 312)
Provision for income taxes 2,369 425 1,317 1,663
Net loss(4) . $ (6437) % (4143) S (3144) 3 (2579)
Net loss per share;

Basic and diluted 3 (006) § (004 % (003) % (0O
Weighted average number of shares:
Basic and diluted 104,144 104,350 104,437 104,464

(1) Cost of goods sold included share-based compensation expense under SFAS No. 23(R) of $72,000, $76,000, $83,000 and $80,000 for the three months ended
March 31, june 30, September 3G, and December 31, 2006, respectively. There was no share-based compensation expense related to employee stock options under
SFAS No. 123 in 2005 because the Company did not adopt the recognition provisions of SFAS No. 123.
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{2) Product development and engineering expense induded share-based compensation expense under SFAS No. 123(R) of $205,000, $184,000, $190.000 and
$196,000 for the three months ended March 31, June 30, September 30, and December 31, 2008, respectively There was no share-basec compensation expense
related to employee stock options under SFAS No. 123 in 2005 because the Company did not adopt the recognition provisions of SFAS No. 123,

(3) Selling, general and administrative expense included share-based compensation expense under SFAS 1 23(R) of $462,000, $615,000, $589,000 and $630.000 for
the three months ended March 31, June 30, September 30, and December 31, 2006, respectively. Selling, general and administrative expense included share-based
compensation expense under SFAS Mo, 123 of $162,000 for the three months ended June 30, 2005 for the issuance of 100,000 shares to certain employees. There
was no other share-based compensation expense related to employee stock options under SFAS No. 123 in 2005 because the Company did not adopt the
recognition provisions of SFAS No, 123. '

(4} Net incame (loss) included share-based compensation expense, net of income tax, under SFAS 123(R) of $739.000, $£75.000, $862.000 and $766.00G for the
three months ended March 31, June 30, September 30, and December 31, 2006, respectively. Net loss included share-based compensation expense, net of income
tax, under SFAS No. 123 of $1 62,000 for the three months ended june 30, 2005 for the issuance of 100,000 shares to certain employees. There was no other share-
based compensation expense related to employee stock options under SFAS No. |23 in 2005 because the Company did not adopt the recognition provisions of
SFAS No. 123.
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WITH ACCOUNTANTS ON ACCOUNTING
AND FINANCIAL DISCLOSURE

Mot applicable.

ITEM 9A. CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES

Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures

We maintain disclosure controls and procedures that are designed to
ensure that information required to be disclesed in our Exchange Act
reports is recorded, processed, summarized and reported within the
timelines specified in the Securities and Exchange Commission's rules
and forms, and that such information s accumulated and
communicated to our management, including our Chief Executive
Officer and Chief Financial Officer. as appropriate, to allow timely
decisions regarding required disclosure. In designing and evaluating
the disclosure controls and procedures, management recognized that
any controls and procedures. no matier how well designed and
operated, can only provide reasonable assurance of achieving the
desired control objectives, and in reaching a reasonable level of
assurance, management necessarily was required to apply its
judgmeni in evaluating the cost-benefit relationship of possible
controls and procedures.

As required by SEC Rule [3a-15(b), the Company carried out an
evaluation, under the supervision and with the participation of the
Company's management, including the Company’s Chief Executive
Officer and the Company's Chief Financial Officer, of the effectiveness
of the design and operation of the Company’s disclosure controls and
procedures as of the end of the year covered by this Report. Based on
the foregoing, our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer
concluded that our disclosure controls and procedures were effective
at the reasonable assurance level.

Management’s Report on Internal Control Over
Financial Reporting

Internal control over financial reporting refers to the process designed
by, or under the supervision of, our Chief Executive Officer and Chief
Financial Officer, and eflected by our Board of Directors, management
and other personnel, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the
reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial
statements for external purposes in accordance with accounting
principles generally accepted in the United States, and includes
those policies and procedures that:

+ Pertain to the maintenance of records that in reasonable detail
accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of our
assets:

* Provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as
necessary 1o permit preparation of financial statements in
accardance with accounting principles generally accepted in the

made only in accordance with authorization of our management
and directors; and

* Provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely
detection of unauthorized acquisition, use or disposition of our
assets that could have a material effect on the financial statements,

Internal control over financial reporting cannot provide absolute
assurance of achieving financial reporting objectives because of its
inherent limitations. Internal control over financial reporiing is a
process that involves human diligence and compliance and is
subject to lapses in judgment and breakdowns resulting from
hurnan failures, Internal control over financial reporting also can be
drcumvented by collusion or improper management override.
Because of such limitations, there is a risk that material
misstaterments may not be prevented or detected on a timely
basis by internal ¢ontrol over financial reporting. However, these
inherent limitations are known features of the financial reporting
process. Therefore, it is possible to design into the process safeguards
to reduce, though not eliminate. this risk. Management is responsible
for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over
financial reporting for the Company.

Management has used the framework set forth in the report entitled
internal Controf — Integrated Framework published by the Committee

* of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission, known as

COSO, to evaluate the effectiveness of the Company's internal
control over financial reporting. Management has conduded that
our internal control over financial reporting was effective as of
Decemnber 31, 2006, Ernst & Young LLE our independent
registered public accounting firm. has issued an attestation report
on management’s assessment of our internal control over financial
reporting, which is included belaw.

Changes in Internal Control Over Financial
Reporting

We are in the process of upgrading and replacing information systems
used by two of our subsidiaries to accumulate, track and store
fimancial and other data used in the preparation of their financial
statements that are consolidated with our financial statements and the
financial statements of our other subsidiaries. During the year ended
December 31, 2006, one of these subsidiaries began to upgrade the
software information system that it utilizes in all aspects of its
operations in Taiwan. During the same penod, the other subsidiary
began to use the new system w'rthlrespect 1o certain aspects of its US
operations that relate to fulfillment of orders from its US customers
with products manufactured by the other subsidiary in Taiwan or by
third-party contract manufacturers in China, all of which ship directly
to our subsidiary’s customers, a process called drop-shipping. While
this new system was placed on line in the latter half of the quarter
ended September 30, 2006, it was operated in parallel with our
subsidiaries’ legacy systems which continued to provide the financial
and other data that our subsidiaries used in preparing their financial
statements for the nine months ended September 30, 2006. Our
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in the fourth guarter of 2006 and we expect that our US subsidiary
will begin using the new system in connection with its business
activities in addition to those involving drop-shipping from Asian
manufacturers in early 2007,

Except as described in the paragraph above, there have been no
changes in our internal control over financial reporting identified in

MRV Communications, In.c Annual Repert 2007

58

Rule 13a-15 or 15d-15 under the Exchange Act that occurred
during the last fiscal quarter that has materially affected, or is
reasonably likely to materially affect, our internal control over
financial reporting.




The Board of Directors and Stockholders of MRV Communications, Inc.

We have audited management's assessment, included in the accompanying Management's Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting,
that MRV Communications, Inc. maintained effective internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2006 based on criteria established
in Internal Conirol — Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (the COSO
critena). MRV Communications, Inc.'s management is responsible for maintaining effective intemal control over financial reporting and for its
assessment of the effectiveness of jnternal control over financial reporting. Cur responsibility is to express an opinion on management’s assessment
and an opinion on the effectiveness of the company’s internal control over financial reporting based on our audit.

We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States). Those standards
require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether effective internal control over financial reporting was
maintained in all material respects. Qur audit included obtaining an understanding of internal control over financiat reporting, evaluating
management’s assessment, testing and evaluating the design and operating effectiveness of internal control, and performing such other procedures
as we considered necessary in the circumstances. We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion.

A company's internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial
reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles. A
company’s internal control over financial reporting includes those policies and procedures that (1} pertain to the maintenance of records that, in
reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of the assets of the company; (2} provide reascnable assurance that
transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles,
and that receipts and expenditures of the company are being made only in accordance with authonizations of management and directors of the
company: and (3) provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use, or disposition of the
company’s assets that could have a material effect on the financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. Also, projections of any
evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that
the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.

In our opinion, management's assessment that MRY Communications, Inc. maintained effective internal contral over financial reporting as of
December 31, 2006, is fairly stated, in ali material respects, based on the COSO criteria. Also, in our opinion, MRV Communications, Inc.
maintained, in all material respects, effective internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2006, based on the COSO criteria.

We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States), the consolidated
balance sheets of MRY Communications, Inc. (and subsidiaries) as of December 31, 2006 and 2005, and the related consolidated statements of
operations, stockholders’ equity, and cash fiows for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2006 of MRV Communications, inc.
and our report dated February 2B, 2007 expressed an unqualified opinion thereon.

fsf ERNST & YOUNG LLP

Woodland Hills, California
February 28, 2007
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Mot applicable.

PART Ill

ITEM 10. DIRECTORS AND EXECUTIVE
OFFICERS OF THE REGISTRANT
The informaticn required by this kem is hereby incarperated by

reference from our definitive proxy statement, to be filed pursuant to
Regulation 14A within 120 days after the end of our last fiscal year.

Code of Business Conduct and Corporate
Governance

We have adopted a Code of Business Conduct and Corporate
Governance that applies to all of our directors, officers and
employees. In compliance with the applicable rules of the SEC,
special ethics obligations of our Chief Executive Officer Chief
Financial Officer, Controller and other employees who perform
financial or accounting functions are set forth in the section of our
Code of Business Conduct and Corporate Governance, entitled
Special Ethics Obligations of Employees with Financial Reporting
Responsibilities. The Code is available through our web site at
www.mrv.com. Printed copies are available free of charge and may
be requested by contacting our Investor Relations Department either
by mail at our corporate headquarters, by telephone at
(818) 886-6782 or by e-mail at if@mrv.com.

We intend to satisfy the disclosure requirements under the Securities
Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, regarding an amendment to, or a
waiver from, our Code of Business Conduct and Corporate
Governance by posting such information on our web site at
WWW.MN.Com.
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ITEM 11. EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION

The information required by this Item is hereby incorporated by
reference from our definitive proxy statement, to be filed pursuant to
Regulation 14A within 120 days after the end of our last fiscal year

ITEM 12. SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF
CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS AND
MANAGEMENT

The information required by this tem is hereby incorporated by
reference from our definitive proxy statement. to be filed pursuant to
Regulation |4A within 120 days after the end of our last fiscal year.

ITEM 13. CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND
RELATED TRANSACTIONS

Not applicable,

ITEM 14. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTANT FEES
AND SERVICES

The infarmation required by this ltem is hereby incorporated by
reference from our definitive proxy statementt, to be filed pursuant to
Regulation 14A within 120 days after the end of our last fiscal year.




ITEM 15. EXHIBITS AND FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULES

(@} {1) The financial statements i;ind the Report of Ernst & Young LLP are included in Part il of this Form 10-K on the pages indicated:

Form 10-K

Page No.
Consolidated Financial Statements:I
Report of Ernst & Young LLP, Ind'ependent Registered Public Accounting Firm 37
Statements of Operations for the years ended December 31, 2006, 2005 anc 2004 38
Balance Sheets as of December 31, 2006 and 2005 3%
Statements of Stockholders' Equ:‘lcy and Comprehensive Income (Loss) for the years ended December 31, 2006, 2005 and 2004 40
Statements of Cash Flows for thé years ended December 31, 2006, 2005 and 2004 4]
Notes to Financial Statements . 42
Report of independent Registered Public Accounting Firm on Internal Control QOver Financial Reporting . 59

I
(2) All schedules are omitted because they are not applicable or the required information is shown in the financial statements or notes thereto.

(3) Exhibits i
)
Exhibit '
Ne, | Description
!

21 Agreement and Plan of Merger by and between MRV Technologies. Inc. (a California corporation) and MRV Technologies, Inc. (a
Delaware corporation), as amended (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 2a filed as part of Registrant's Registration Statement on
Form -1 (File No. 33-48003)).

22 Certificate of Merger by and between MRV Technologies, Inc. {(a California corporation) and MRV Technologles, inc. (a Delaware
corporation) (mcor’pcr‘a{ed by reference to Exhibit 2b filed as part of Registrant’s Registration Statement on Form 5-1 (File
No. 33-48003)).

23 Certificate of Merger Mergmg LuminentOIC, Inc. inte MRV Sub Corp. (inccrporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 of MRV's 8-K filed with the
SEC on January 8, 2007);

3.1 Certificate of Incorporation, as amended (incorporated by referenced to Exhibit 3a filed as part of Registrant's Registration Statement on
Form S-1 (File No. 33-48003)).

32 Certificate of Amendmentt of Certificate of Incorporation filed with the Delaware Secretary of State on March 20, 1996 (incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 3.2 <:)f MRV's Form 10-Q for the quarter ended June 30, 1998 filed August 14, 1998}

33 Certificate of Amendment of Certificate of Incorperation filed with the Delaware Secretary of State on July 29, 1996 (incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 3.3 ('Jf MRV's Form 10-Q for the quarter ended June 30, 1998 filed August 14, 1998).

34 Certificate of Amendment of Certificate of Incorporation filed with the Delaware Secretary of State on November 19, 1998
{incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.4 of MRV's Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 1998 filed March 31, 1999),

35 Certificate of Amendment of Certificate of Incorporation filed with the Delaware Secretary of State on May | {, 2000 (incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 3.5 0f MRV's Form 10K for the year ended December 31, 2000 filed April 17, 2001). ‘

36 Bylaws (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3b filed as part of Registrant’s Registration Staterment on Form S-1 (File No. 33-48003}).

4. Specimen certificate of common stock (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.5 filed as part of Registrant's Registration Statement on
Form S-3 {File No. 333- 640|7)

0.1 Key Employee Agreement between MRV and Noam Lotan dated March 23, 1993 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit {0b(1) filed as
part of Registrant's Registration Statement on Form 5-1 {File No. 33-48003)}.

102 Letter amending Key Employee Agreement between MRY and Noam Lotan {incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10b( 1)1 filed as part of
Registrant’s Registration ?tatement on Form 5-1 {File No. 33-48003)).

103 Letter amending Key Employee Agreement between MRV and Noam Lotan (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10b(1)2 filed as part of
Registrant’s Registration Statement on Form 5-1 {File Nc. 33-865186)).

04  Key Employee Agreement between MRV and Shlomo Margalit (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10b(3) filed as part of Registrant's

_Registration Statement on Form S-1 {File No. 33-48003)).

05 Letter amending Key Employee Agreement between MRV and Shlomo Margalit {incorporated by reference to Exhibit 106(3}1 filed as
part of Registrant's Registration Statement on Form S-1 (File No. 33-48003)).

106 Form of Letter amending?Key Employee Agreement between MRV and Shlomo Margalit {incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10b(3)2

filed as part of Registrant's Registration Statement on Form S-1 (File No. 33-86516)).
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Exhibit
No.

Description

107

107.1

10.8

10.9

10.10

1011

10.12

1043

10.14

0.5

10.16

10.17

21.1
231
24.
311
312
321

Standard Industrial/Commercial Single-Tenant Lease dated October 8, 1996 between MRV and Nordhoff Development relating to the
premises located at 20415 Nordhoff Strest, Chatsworth, California (incorporated by reference to Exhibit No. 10.23 of Registrant's Annual
Report on Form [0-K for the year ended December 31, 1996 filed April 15, 1997},

Amendment to Lease between Nordhoff Industriat and the Registrant dated December |4, 2001 relating to premises located at 20415
Nordhoff Street (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.65 of MRV's Form 10-K filed with the SEC on March 21, 2002).

1997 Incentive and Nonstatutory Stock Option Plan, as amended {incorporated by reference to Appendix A to the Registrant’s Definitive
Proxy Statement filed with the SEC on November 14, 2001).

Form of Stock Option Agreement under the 1997 Incentive and Nonstatutory Stock Option Plan (incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 4.2 to the Registrant's Registration Statement on Form 5-8 filed with the SEC on Septernber 24, 1999 (file no. 333-87735)).

Securities Purchase Agreement dated as of June |, 2003 between MRY Communications, Inc. and Deutsche Bank AG, London Branch,
with form of Convertible Note attached as Exhibit A thereto (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 of registrant's Current Report on
Form 8-K filed June 3, 2003},

Amendment # | to Convertible Note dated as of June {3, 2003 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.3 of the Registration Statement on
Form 5-3 filed with the SEC on June 16, 2003 (file no. 333-10616%)).

Registration Rights Agreement dated as of june |, 2003 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.2 of registrant’s Current Report on
Form 8-K filed June 3, 2003).

Non-Director and Non-Executive Officer Consolidated Long-Term Stock Incentive Plan (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 of the
Registration Statemnent on Form 5-8 filed with the SEC on july 17, 2003 (file no. 333-10710%9)).

Form of Stock Option Agreement for the Non-Director and Non-Executive Officer Consolidated Long-Term Stock Incentive Plan Stock
Option Agreement {incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.2 of the Registration Statement on Form 5-8 filed with the SEC an July |7,
2003 (file no. 333-107109}).

Settlement Agreement and Waiver of Rights dated january 9, 2006 between MRV Communications, Inc. and Mr. Shay Ganen
(incorporated by reference 1o Exhibit 10.15 of MRV's Form |0-K for the year ended December 31, 2005 filed on March 6, 2006)

Framework Agreement by and among Huagong Tech Company Limited, registrant. Wuhan Huagong Genuine Optics Technology Co.,
Ltd. and Luminert, Inc. dated as of May 23, 2006 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 of MRV's Form |0-Q for the quarter ended
June 30, 2006 filed on August 2, 2006).

Letter Agreement dated July 18, 2006 by and among Huagong Tech Company Limited, registrant, Wuhan Huagong Genuine Optics
Technology Co., Ltd. (“HG Genuine)" and Luminent, Inc. mutually terminating Framework Agreernent (incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 10.2 of MRV's Form 10-Q for the quarter endec june 30, 2006 filed on August 2, 2006},

Extension Addendum between Bud H. Harris successor Lessor to Nordhoff Development, a Gereral Partnership and the Registrant
dated September 26, 2006 relating to premises located at 20415 Nordhoff Street.

Subsidiaries of Registrant.

Consent of Ernst & Young LLP Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm.

Power of Attorney (included following signature page).

Certification of the Chief Executive Officer required by Rule |13a-14(a} of the Exchange Act.
Cartification of the Chief Financial Officer required by Rule 13a-14(a) of the Exchange Act.
Certification pursuant to Rule 13a-14(b} ang 18 US.C. Section 1350.
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Pursuant to the requirerents of the Section 13 or | 5(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the Registrant has duly caused this Report to be
signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized on March 5, 2007.

MRY COMMUNICATIONS, INC

By: /s/  Noam Lotan

Noam Lotan
President and Chief Executive Officer

By: /s/  Kevin Rubin
Kevin Rubin
Chief Financial Officer and Corporate Compliance Officer

POWER OF ATTORNEY

KNOW ALL PERSONS BY THESE PRESENTS, that each person whose signature appears below constitutes and appoints Noam Lotan, his true
and lawful attorney-in-fact and agent with full power of power substitution and resubstitution, for him and in his name, place, and stead, in any and
all capacities, to sign this Annual Report on Form |0- and to file any and all amendments e this Annual Report on Form | 0-K, and to file the same,
with all exhibits thereto, and ali documents in connection therewith, with Securities and Exchange Commission, granting unto said attorney-in-fact
and agents, full power and authority to do and perform each and every act and thing requisite and necessary to be done in and about the premises,
as fully to all intents and purpaoses as he might or could do in person, hereby ratifying and confirming all that said attorney-in-fact and agent thereof.

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this Annual Report on Farm {0-K has been signed below by the following
persons on behalf of the Registrant in the capacity and on the dates indicated.

Signature Title Date
/s/ Noam Lotan . President and Chief Executive Officer March 2, 2007
(Noam Lotan) {Principal Executive Officer)
/s Shlomo Margalit Chairman of the Board, Chief Technology Officer; March 2, 2007
(Shlormo Margalit) and Secretary
/s! Kevin Rubin Chief Financial Officer and Corporate Compliance Officer {Principal  "March 2, 2007
(Kevin Rubin) Finance and Accounting Officer)
/s/_lgal Shidlovsky Director March 2, 2007
(Igal Shidlovsky)
/s!  Guenter jaensch Director March 2, 2007
(Guenter Jaensch)
fsi Daniel Tsui Director March 5. 2007
(Daniel Tsui)
/st Baruch Fischer Director March 5, 2007
(Baruch Fischer)
/s/  Harold W. Furchtgott-Roth Director March 2, 2007

(Harold W. Furchtgott-Roth)
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Corporate Headquarters

MRV Communications, Inc.

20415 Nordhoff Street
Chatsworth, California 91311
(818) 886-MRVC (6782)

wWww. mrv.com
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